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WTK’s commitment to 
sustainable forestry 
& forest management

Being one of the leading company in the Malaysian timber industry, the WTK Group is committed to  

adopt and implement sound forest management practices to ensure forestry is economically,  

environmentally and socially sustainable.

With strict adherence to the prescriptions of forest management plan in every concession area, the  

Group abides by the rules and regulations pertaining to cutting cycles, yield, annual allowable coupes,  

cutting rules, logging blocks, inoperable forest, obligatory species, merchantable tree sizes, enumeration  

and log measurement.

As a standard practice to ensure sound and sustainable forest management, the Group adheres to proper 

engineering specifications for the planning and construction of roads for its forest operations, strict  

compliance of a monthly production limit and in areas where required, carries out Environmental Impact 

Assessment (EIA) studies to ensure its timber operations are conducted with minimal environmental impact.

WTK Group is proud to be the pioneer in using helicopter-harvesting in Sarawak since 1993. Helicopter 

harvesting is recognized as the most environmental-friendly method of timber harvesting where  

freshly-cut logs are lifted vertically from the forest to a landing zone, thereby eliminating the need for  

skid trails that would further damage the forest floor.

The Group is committed to continually find new ways to improve its forest management practices and to  

carry out its role to ensure the sustainability of the production of forest resources.
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PEMANCA DATUK WONG KIE YIK

Pemanca Datuk Wong Kie Yik, Malaysian, male, age 76, was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of  
W T K Holdings Berhad (“WTK”) on 3 February 1998. He is the Chairman of the Board of Directors of WTK and  
a member of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company.

Pemanca Datuk Wong Kie Yik, a Certified Accountant from the United Kingdom and a member of the Malaysian 
Institute of Accountants. He is actively involved in the development of the Malaysian Timber Industry, serving  
as the Chairman of Sarawak Timber Association. He was a Senator of Malaysia from 1986 to 1992. He was 
conferred the title “Datuk” by the Tuan Yang Terutama Yang DiPertua Negeri Sarawak on 11 September 1999.  
He was appointed as “Pemanca” by the State Government of Sarawak in January 2010. 

His shareholdings in the shares of WTK as at 22 March 2017 are as follows:

DIRECT  %  INDIRECT %

W T K Holdings Berhad 11,025,160 2.31 146,860,406 30.76

By virtue of his interest (direct or otherwise) in the shares of WTK, he is deemed to be interested in the shares  
of all the subsidiaries of the Company to the extent the Company has an interest.

Pemanca Datuk Wong Kie Yik is the father of Dato’ Sri Patrick Wong Haw Yeong, the Managing Director of  
the Company. He is also a brother of late Datuk Wong Kie Nai, a substantial shareholder of the Company and  
Mr. Wong Kie Chie, a Non-Executive Director and a substantial shareholder of the Company.

He does not have any conflict of interest with WTK save and except for the transaction(s) disclosed in Note 35  
to the financial statements.

He has had no conviction for any offences within the past five (5) years. There were no public sanctions or  
penalties imposed on him by any relevant regulatory bodies during the financial year.

Pemanca Datuk Wong Kie Yik has attended six (6) out of seven (7) Board of Directors meetings and all the  
five (5) Audit Committee meetings held during the financial year. He extended his apology for the meeting of  
which he did not attend. 

DIRECTORS’ 

PROFILE
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LT. GENERAL DATUK SERI PANGLIMA ABDUL MANAP IBRAHIM (rtd) 
 
Lt. General Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul Manap Ibrahim (rtd), Malaysian, male, age 78, was appointed as 
an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company on 22 May 1996. He is the Deputy Chairman of the  
Board of Directors, Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company.  
He is also a member of the Audit Committee and the Senior Independent Director to whom concerns may  
be conveyed.

He is a graduate of the Royal Military College, Malaysia, the US Army Command and General Staff College in  
Fort Leavenworth, Kansas, the Naval Post Graduate School in Monterey, California and the US Army War  
College, Carlisle Barracks, Pennsylvania, USA. He retired in 1994 as a Deputy Chief of Army from the  
Malaysian Armed Forces after serving thirty-four (34) years in the military. He presently also sits on the Board  
of ACB Resources Berhad as an Independent Non-Executive Director.

Lt. General Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul Manap Ibrahim (rtd) does not have any interest in the securities of WTK  
or its subsidiaries. He does not have any family relationship with any Director and/or substantial shareholder  
of the Company and there is no business arrangement with the Company in which he has a personal interest.

He has had no conviction for any offences throughout his life including within the past five (5) years. There  
were no public sanctions or penalties imposed on him by any relevant regulatory bodies during the financial year.

Lt. General Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul Manap Ibrahim (rtd) has attended all the seven (7) Board of  
Directors meetings and all the five (5) Audit Committee meetings held during the financial year.

DIRECTORS’ 

PROFILE (cont’d)
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DATO’ SRI PATRICK WONG HAW YEONG
 
Dato’ Sri Patrick Wong Haw Yeong, Malaysian, male, age 47, was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of the 
Company on 10 January 2005. On 1 March 2013, he was appointed as the Managing Director of the Company. 

Dato’ Sri Patrick Wong Haw Yeong, a Bachelor of Business Administration from the United Kingdom.  
Upon graduation in 1993, Dato’ Sri Patrick Wong Haw Yeong joined WTK family-owned group of companies in 
Sarawak and has been involved in the timber sector, namely the marketing of logs and plywood. Prior to his 
appointment as Managing Director, he oversees and is fully in-charge of the marketing of plywood sector of  
WTK Group.

His shareholdings in the shares of WTK as at 22 March 2017 are as follows:

DIRECT  %  INDIRECT %

W T K Holdings Berhad 1,000,000 0.21 Nil Nil

Dato’ Sri Patrick Wong Haw Yeong is the son of Pemanca Datuk Wong Kie Yik, the Chairman of the Board of 
Directors and a substantial shareholder of the Company. He is also the nephew of late Datuk Wong Kie Nai, 
a substantial shareholder of the Company and Mr. Wong Kie Chie, a Non-Executive Director and a substantial 
shareholder of the Company.

He does not have any conflict of interest with WTK save and except for the transaction(s) disclosed in Note 35  
to the financial statements.

He has had no conviction for any offences within the past five (5) years. There were no public sanctions or  
penalties imposed on him by any relevant regulatory bodies during the financial year.

Dato’ Sri Patrick Wong Haw Yeong has attended six (6) out of seven (7) Board of Directors meetings held during  
the financial year. He extended his apology for the meeting of which he did not attend.

DIRECTORS’ 

PROFILE (cont’d)
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WONG KIE CHIE
 
Mr. Wong Kie Chie, Malaysian, male, age 69, was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of the Company  
on 3 February 1998.

Mr. Wong Kie Chie holds a Bachelor Degree in Chemistry from the University of New South Wales, Australia.

His shareholdings in the shares of WTK as at 22 March 2017 are as follows:

DIRECT  %  INDIRECT %

W T K Holdings Berhad 13,117,524 2.75 146,860,406 30.76

By virtue of his interest (direct or otherwise) in the shares of WTK, he is deemed to be interested in the shares  
of all the subsidiaries of the Company to the extent the Company has an interest.

Mr. Wong Kie Chie is a brother of Pemanca Datuk Wong Kie Yik, the Chairman of the Board of Directors and  
a substantial shareholder of the Company. He is also the brother of late Datuk Wong Kie Nai, a substantial  
shareholder of the Company and an uncle of Dato’ Sri Patrick Wong Haw Yeong, the Managing Director of the 
Company.

He does not have any conflict of interest with WTK save and except for the transaction(s) disclosed in Note 35  
to the financial statements.

He has had no conviction for any offences within the past five (5) years. There were no public sanctions or  
penalties imposed on him by any relevant regulatory bodies during the financial year.

Mr. Wong Kie Chie has attended five (5) out of seven (7) Board of Directors meetings held during the financial  
year.  He extended his apologies for the meetings of which he did not attend.

DIRECTORS’ 

PROFILE (cont’d)
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THAM SAU KIEN 
 
Ms. Tham Sau Kien, Malaysian, female, age 56, was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of the Company  
on 28 February 2001. On 15 April 2008, she was redesignated as an Independent Non-Executive Director of  
the Company. She is the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee, 
Nomination Committee and Risk Management Committee of the Company.

Ms. Tham Sau Kien holds a Bachelor of Science (Hons) Degree in Management and Political Science from  
Universiti Sains Malaysia and an MBA from Indiana University, USA. Ms. Tham is presently a Director of Comet 
Alliance Sdn Bhd, a corporate advisory firm; and Investment Partner of Crescent Equity Management Sdn Bhd,  
a boutique private equity fund management company, where she is the principal in-charge of managing 
the operational and financial affairs of both companies. Ms. Tham also serves as Director and Chairperson of  
Select TV Sdn Bhd, a leading provider of on-demand TV services to the hospitality sector in Southeast Asia, 
the Middle-East and North America. Prior to her present appointments, she last held the position of Principal 
in a global private equity fund management company where she gained many years of experience in mergers  
and acquisitions, corporate restructurings and initial public offerings of investee companies.

Ms. Tham Sau Kien does not have any interest in the securities of WTK and its subsidiaries. She does not  
have any family relationship with any Director and/or substantial shareholder of the Company and there is no 
business arrangement with the Company in which she has a personal interest.

She has had no conviction for any offences within the past five (5) years. There were no public sanctions  
or penalties imposed on her by any relevant regulatory bodies during the financial year.

Ms. Tham Sau Kien has attended six (6) out of seven (7) Board of Directors meetings and all the five (5)  
Audit Committee meetings held during the financial year.  She extended her apology for the meeting of which  
she did not attend.  

DIRECTORS’ 

PROFILE (cont’d)
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TING SOON ENG
 
Ms. Ting Soon Eng, Malaysian, female, age 63, was appointed as a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director  
of the Company on 1 March 2013. She is the Chairman of the Risk Management Committee and a member  
of the Nomination Committee of the Company.

She is a Chartered Accountant of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and a member  
of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants.

Ms. Ting Soon Eng has accumulated more than thirty-nine (39) years of working experience in auditing,  
accounting and finance industries. Prior to joining WTK, she was trained and had nine (9) years working  
experience in Chartered Accounting firms in the United Kingdom. She joined WTK family-owned group of 
companies in Sarawak in 1982 and in 1998, she was then appointed as the Chief Financial Officer of the  
Company. On 28 February 2013, she retired from her position as Chief Financial Officer/Acting Chief  
Executive Officer of the Company.

Currently, she is attached to W T K Management Services Sdn Bhd as Chief Financial Officer.

Ms. Ting Soon Eng does not have any interest in the securities of WTK and its subsidiaries. She does not  
have any family relationship with any Director and/or substantial shareholder of the Company and there is no 
business arrangement with the Company in which she has a personal interest.

She has had no conviction for any offences within the past five (5) years. There were no public sanctions or 
penalties imposed on her by any relevant regulatory bodies during the financial year.

Ms. Ting Soon Eng has attended all the seven (7) Board of Directors meetings held during the financial year.

DIRECTORS’ 

PROFILE (cont’d)
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DR. LOH LEONG HUA 
 
Dr. Loh Leong Hua, Malaysian, male, age 60, was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of  
the Company on 1 September 2014. He is a member of the Risk Management Committee of the Company.

Dr. Loh holds a PhD in Management Studies from Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia (UKM) [National University 
of Malaysia]. Dr. Loh is also an Advanced Management Program (AMP) graduate from The Wharton School  
of University of Pennsylvania, USA.

Dr. Loh has accumulated more than 35 years of financial services experience in various senior managerial  
capacities involving commercial, corporate, merchant and investment banking. Among others, he had served  
Eon Bank Berhad as Regional Head for Sarawak & Sabah and subsequently as Head of Commercial  
Banking, Affin Merchant Bank Berhad as Senior Vice President, and; he had also served as a Senior Director  
of investment banking at Kenanga Investment Bank Berhad. 

He also serves on the boards of Asian Finance Bank Berhad and YKGI Holdings Berhad.

Dr. Loh does not have any interest in the securities of WTK and its subsidiaries. He does not have any  
family relationship with any Director and/or substantial shareholder of the Company and there is no business 
arrangement with the Company in which he has a personal interest.

He has had no conviction for any offences within the past five (5) years. There were no public sanctions or  
penalties imposed on him by any relevant regulatory bodies during the financial year.

Dr. Loh has attended all the seven (7) Board of Directors meetings held during the financial year.

DIRECTORS’ 

PROFILE (cont’d)
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DIRECTORS’ 

PROFILE (cont’d)

ALFIAN BIN MOHAMED BASIR
 
En. Alfian Bin Mohamed Basir, Malaysian, male, age 43, was appointed as a Non-Independent  
Non-Executive Director of the Company on 27 February 2015.

He is a Chartered Accountant and a Member of Malaysian Institute of Accountants. He graduated from the  
University of Malaya with a Bachelor of Accounting (Hons) Degree.

En. Alfian Bin Mohamed Basir began his career in 1998 at Ernst & Young, Kuala Lumpur, a global accounting  
firm. Specialising in the financial institutions sector, he gained a wealth of experience managing financial  
audits and special due diligence assignments at various local financial institutions, as well as at overseas  
financial institutions. He left Ernst & Young in 2001 to pursue his interest in the field of ICT. He focused on providing 
ICT consultancy services, as well being involved in the telecommunications industry.

En. Alfian Bin Mohamed Basir began to venture into the Oil and Gas industry in 2010. Upon seeing the  
growth potential of the offshore marine business in Oil and Gas industry, he continued to fully focus his efforts  
on this segment.

He is also the Non-Executive Chairman and an Independent Non-Executive Director of Willowglen MSC Berhad.

His shareholdings in the shares of WTK as at 22 March 2017 are as follows:

DIRECT  %  INDIRECT %

W T K Holdings Berhad 6,235,313 1.31 Nil Nil

En. Alfian Bin Mohamed Basir does not have any interest in the securities of the subsidiaries of WTK. He does 
not have any family relationship with any Director and/or substantial shareholder of the Company and there is  
no business arrangement with the Company in which he has a personal interest.

He has had no conviction for any offences within the past five (5) years. There were no public sanctions or  
penalties imposed on him by any relevant regulatory bodies during the financial year.

En. Alfian Bin Mohamed Basir has attended six (6) out of seven (7) Board of Directors meetings held during  
the financial year.  He extended his apology for the meeting of which he did not attend. 
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PROFILE OF

KEY SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DATO’ SRI PATRICK WONG HAW YEONG 
Managing Director 

The profile of Dato’ Sri Patrick Wong Haw Yeong is 
presented under Directors’ profile on page 5 of this 
annual report.

DAVID TING KAH SOON
Chief Financial Officer 

Mr. David Ting Kah Soon, Malaysian, male, age 47,  
was appointed as Chief Financial Officer of the  
Company on 1 February 2017. 

He holds a Bachelor of Accountancy from The  
University of South Australia. He is a member of  
the CPA Australia and the Malaysian Institute of 
Accountants. 

Mr. David Ting Kah Soon has more than 21 years 
of experience in finance, accounting and auditing  
covering a variety of industries including oil and  
gas, manufacturing, trading, engineering and 
construction. Prior to joining WTK, he was the Chief 
Financial Officer of a public company which is listed  
on the stock exchange of Singapore, and prior to that,  
he had held several senior positions in Malaysian 
companies including public companies listed on Bursa 
Malaysia.

Mr. David Ting Kah Soon does not have any interest  
in the securities of WTK and its subsidiaries. He does 
not have any family relationship with any Director  
and/or substantial shareholder of the Company and  
there is no business arrangement with the Company  
in which he has a personal interest.

He has had no conviction for any offences within the  
past five (5) years. There were no public sanctions or 
penalties imposed on him by any relevant regulatory 
bodies during the financial year. 
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JOSEPH LING WANG CHIOK
General Manager (Finance & Accounts)

Mr. Joseph Ling Wang Chiok, Malaysian, male, age  
53, joined the Company as Chief Financial Officer on  
9 July 2015 and subsequently re-designated to General 
Manager (Finance & Accounts) on 1 February 2017.  

He holds a Bachelor of Commerce in Accounting  
from University of Canberra in Australia. He is a  
member of CPA Australia and the Malaysian Institute  
of Accountants. 

He has accumulated more than 20 years of  
working experience in finance, accounting and  
internal auditing. He had held various senior  
positions mainly in oil palm plantation / oil mills,  
timber and property development companies in 
Sarawak (listed/non-listed companies).

Mr. Joseph Ling Wang Chiok does not have any  
interest in the securities of WTK and its subsidiaries.  
He does not have any family relationship with any  
Director and/or substantial shareholder of the 
Company and there is no business arrangement  
with the Company in which he has a personal interest.

He has had no conviction for any offences within  
the past five (5) years. There were no public sanctions 
or penalties imposed on him by any relevant  
regulatory bodies during the financial year.

ALAN NEE CHOONG SING 
Chief Operating Officer 

Mr. Alan Nee Choong Sing, Malaysian, male, age 60,  
was appointed as Chief Operating Officer on 1 August 
2014. 

He is a Fellow Member of The Association of  
Chartered Certified Accountants (FCCA) and a  
Chartered Accountant of the Malaysian Institute of 
Accountants (CA). He is also a member of Chartered 
Tax Institute of Malaysia (ACTIM) and a member of 
British Institute of Management (MBIM). 

He has extensive working experience in auditing, 
accounting and financial industries. He joined WTK  
family-owned group of companies in Sarawak in  
2013 as Senior General Manager in the Oil Palm  
Plantation sector. Prior to that, he had held several 
senior positions in Malaysian companies including 
public companies listed on Bursa Malaysia.

Mr. Alan Nee Choong Sing does not have any  
interest in the securities of WTK and its subsidiaries.  
He does not have any family relationship with any 
Director and/or substantial shareholder of the 
Company and there is no business arrangement with 
the Company in which he has a personal interest.

He has had no conviction for any offences within  
the past five (5) years. There were no public  
sanctions or penalties imposed on him by any  
relevant regulatory bodies during the financial year.

PROFILE OF

KEY SENIOR MANAGEMENT (cont’d)
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CORPORATE 

STRUCTURE

W T K HOLDINGS BERHAD
(10141-M)

•	 Biofresh	Produce	Sdn	Bhd
	 •	 Biofresh	Produce	Plantations	Sdn	Bhd
•	 Biogrow	City	Sdn	Bhd
	 •	 Biogrow	City	Plantations	Sdn	Bhd
•	 Borneo	Agro-Industries	Sdn	Bhd
•	 Immense	Fleet	Sdn	Bhd
•	 Towering	Yield	Sdn	Bhd
	 •	 Positive	Deal	Sdn	Bhd

•		 Alanya	Marine	Ventures	Sdn	Bhd

•	 Central	Mercantile	Corporation	(S)	Ltd
•	 Loytape	Industries	Sdn	Bhd

•	 General	Aluminium	Works	(M)	Sdn	Bhd
	 					(Disposed	on	5	September	2016)

•	Dusun	Nyiur	Sdn	Bhd

•	 Cairnfield	Sdn	Bhd
•	 First	Count	Sdn	Bhd
•	 Kuching	Plywood	Berhad
•	 Limpah	Mewah	Sdn	Bhd
•	 Linshanhao	Plywood	 
							(Sarawak)	Sdn	Bhd
•	 Ninjas	Development	Sdn	Bhd
•	 Piramid	Intan	Sdn	Bhd
	 •	 Interglobal	Empire	Sdn	Bhd
•	 Sanitama	Sendirian	Berhad
•	 Sarawak	Moulding	Industries	Berhad
•	 Song	Logging	Company	 
								Sendirian	Berhad
•	 Sut	Sawmill	(3064)	Sdn	Bhd
•	 WTK	Heli-Logging	Sdn	Bhd

OIL PALM/FOREST 
PLANTATIONS 

DIVISION

OIL & GAS  
DIVISION

TAPES
DIVISION

FOIL 
DIVISION

PROPERTY
DIVISION

TIMBER 
DIVISION
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Overview 

W T K Holdings Berhad (“WTK”) Group (“the Group”) is a diversified group with operations in the timber, plantation, 
oil & gas and tape industry. The core activity of the Group since late 1990s is in the harvesting of timber and 
manufacturing of plywood products. Prior to late 1990s, the Group was in the manufacturing of adhesive tapes 
and flexible packaging products. In mid-2000, the Group embarked into planted forest and oil palm plantations. 
The forest plantation venture is to complement the supply of timber from its natural forest timber concessions, 
hence ensuring a more sustainable timber supply to its plywood mills. The oil palm plantation business, being 
resource-based which is similar to the Group’s core activity, is part of the Group’s strategy and effort to moderate 
the cyclical nature of the timber business and the profit for the Group. Subsequently in late 2014, the Group 
decided to diversify its business into the oil & gas industry, in particular the provision of Accommodation  
Workboats (AWBs) to support offshores oil & gas activities. This segment in the oil & gas industry is to provide  
the Group with an additional steady income stream long-term.

The Group will focus its efforts to improve its timber division’s profits by enhancing its dominance in both 
its upstream and downstream markets through strengthening customer relationships and continuous  
improvement in cost efficiency in the production of its products. With the targeted completion of the  
construction of its first palm oil mill during the second half of 2017, resources will be devoted on growing its oil 
palm landbank in Sarawak and strengthening its market position as the key supplier of AWBs to the oil & gas 
industry.

MANAGEMENT 
DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS 

A. BUSINESS AND OPERATION REVIEW 

Timber Plantation

Tape Oil & gas
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION 

AND ANALYSIS (cont’d)

A. BUSINESS AND OPERATION REVIEW (cont’d)

Overview (cont’d)

5 years financial information

 
2012

RM’000
2013

RM’000
2014

RM’000
2015

RM’000
2016

RM’000

Financial
Revenue 768,675 714,528 676,652 683,413 689,669

Profit before tax 54,468 55,979 49,611 72,881 14,390

Profit after tax 44,779 50,072 39,498 58,550 (1,562)

Shareholders’ equity 1,208,875 1,250,241 1,324,164 1,378,422 1,367,212

Total assets 1,681,231 1,722,826 1,789,694 1,872,628 1,849,348

Borrowings 278,826 288,995 282,204 310,682 269,575

Key Financial Ratios

Net gearing (%) 9 8 7 3 2

Earnings per share (sen) 10.28 11.47 9.13 12.47 -

Net assets per share (sen) 2.78 2.88 2.77 2.89 2.86

Net dividend per share (sen) 2.10 2.52 1.83 2.49 2.00

Timber Division

The division comprises both upstream and downstream operations, all located in Sarawak. The upstream 
operation, which is involved in timber harvesting contributes approximately 30% of the division’s revenue 
while the downstream operations which is mainly in the plywood manufacturing contributed 70%.

The Group’s timber concessions are located mainly along Rejang River and Balleh River, a tributary of  
Rejang, in the central region of Sarawak. Its logs production approximately 594,000 cubic meters (m3) in  
2016, of which the Group is allowed to export up to 30% of its production with India being its major export  
market. The Group is constantly reviewing its best practices as part of its ongoing efforts and  
commitments towards good forest management practices; such as adherence to prescriptions of forest 
management plan and compliance of rules and regulations relating to cutting cycles, annual coupes,  
logging blocks, diameter cutting limits and conservation area for high conservation value forest (HCVF)  
etc. This is to ensure that our forest is economically, environmentally and socially sustainable. The Group 
also undertook to work on the Malaysian Timber Certification Scheme (MTCS), a national standard  
which is in compliance with Program for the Endorsement of Forest Certification’s (PEFC’s) Sustainability 
Benchmark, for its operations located along Balleh River. 

For our plywood manufacturing activity, the Group’s three plywood mills are located in Sarawak with yearly 
production capacity of up to 324,000 m3. The key export market for its plywood is Japan, which accounted 
for 80% of its total export volume. 

The Group’s plywood mills are capable of producing general plywood, concrete panel & structural plywood 
and floor base plywood. However, the Group’s emphasis is on producing floor base plywood which is a 
higher value-added plywood product. This is reflected in its product mix with floor base plywood currently 
making up 35% to 40% of total plywood sold.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION 

AND ANALYSIS (cont’d)

A. BUSINESS AND OPERATION REVIEW (cont’d)

 Timber Division (cont’d)

The Group emphasizes on using verifiable source of legal timber. Recently the Group participated in the  
pilot test for the Sarawak Timber Legality Verification System (STLVS), which seeks to ensure greater 
traceability and legality of timber logs at source. This will make us the preferred supplier and open up new  
commercial opportunity, especially to markets which have embraced legality and sustainable procurement 
policy for timber products as a standard.

Plantation Division

The division comprised of forest plantation and oil palm plantation, all located in Sarawak. 

The Group was granted two Licences for Planted Forests (LPF) for a sixty-year tenor each, which are  
located in Oya-Kanowit-Katibas Area in Sibu Division and Bukit Raya Area in Kapit Division. The 
estimated net plantable areas are 42,000 hectares, of which 3,200 hectares are designated for oil palm 
plantations. The long-term objective is to ensure sustainable supply of timber logs from planted forests  
to supplement the use of timber from its natural forest timber concessions, in tandem with sustainable  
forest management practices. To-date, approximately 8,600 hectares, have been planted with prime 
tree species of Batai, Kelampayan, Acacia Mangium and Hybrid. The expected first harvest of our forest 
plantation is year 2020. 

The Group’s oil palm estates are located in the State of Sarawak in Limbang Division, Oya in Sibu Division, 
Kuala Baram & Lapok in Miri Division which is inclusive of the designated areas for the LPF. Approximately  
1,500 hectares of oil palm plantations were added to its maturing palms hectarage during the year and  
this raised the Group’s total mature area to 6,100 hectares as at 31 December 2016 (2015: 4,600 hectares). 
Accordingly, the Division’s fresh fruit bunches (FFB) production of 55,500 metric tonnes (MT) for 2016  
was higher than 40,300 MT recorded in 2015. The maturing palms hectarage and the FFB production are  
expected to increase by 1,500 hectares and 20,000 MT, respectively, in 2017. 

As part of the objectives to grow this Division, the Group commenced the construction of a palm oil mill 
with a production capacity of 30 MT of crude palm oil (CPO) per hour in 2016, which is to be completed  
in 2H2017 at a cost of approximately RM40 million. As part of the Group’s strategic growth plans, the  
Group will look into expanding its landbank in Sarawak to increase its contribution to the Group’s  
performance.

Tape Division (Manufacturing and Trading)

The Group’s tape division comprised of a manufacturing concern located in Penang and a trading house in 
Singapore. 

This division manufactures various adhesive tapes, the better known by its own house brand Loytape® 
Cellulose Tape and the Star®. In addition to cellulose tape, its other major product is masking tape. The 
division serves a wide market base including homes, offices and industrial users. Sixty percent of its products 
are exported with its key markets being Singapore, Indonesia and Australia.

To maintain its market share and leadership position in the business, the Group emphasizes on products 
innovation and differentiation. In late 2015, the Group introduced a new water repellent masking tape  
product to stay ahead of the competition.

Apart from the Tape business, the Group also owned a flexible packaging products manufacturing  
business. During the year, as part of the Group’s strategic growth plans, the Group disposed its  
investment in this subsidiary to consolidate its business focus.
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A. BUSINESS AND OPERATION REVIEW (cont’d)

Oil & Gas Division

The division is involved in the provision of Offshore Support Vessels (OSVs), and specifically AWBs, to 
support the commissioning and/or maintenance works of offshore structures of the national oil company 
and/or oil majors in Malaysia as well as in the region. As of 2016, the division is currently operating three 
Malaysian-flagged AWBs making it a leader in this segment of the industry.

The division will focus on achieving sustainable growth by establishing a strong and focused position in  
the oil & gas industry locally and regionally. The Group’s focus and core expertise on AWBs will allow the 
Group to build good track record on project deliveries as it continue to grow its existing partnership with  
oil majors as the key provider of AWBs. 

B. FINANCIAL REVIEW 

2016 2015 Variance
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 %

Revenue
Timber 549,395 573,671 (24,276) -4%

Plantation 24,077 11,015 13,062 119%

Manufacturing and trading 67,524 69,375 (1,851) -3%

Oil & gas 46,362 25,545 20,817 81%

Others 2,311 3,807 (1,496) -39%

689,669 683,413 6,256 1%

2016 2015 Variance
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 %

Profit after tax
Timber 34,693 50,736 (16,043) -32%

Plantation (14,752) (14,180) (572) 4%

Manufacturing and trading 5,632 8,077 (2,445) -30%

Oil & gas (20,631) 7,028 (27,659) -394%

Others 4,111 4,416 (305) -7%

9,053 56,077 (47,024) -84%

(Loss)/Profit from discontinued operation (10,615) 2,473 (13,088) -529%

(1,562) 58,550 (60,112) -103%

The Group registered a revenue of RM690 million, an increase of RM7 million from RM683 million  
recorded in 2015. Despite the slight increase in revenue, the Group registered a loss after tax of RM2 
million (2015: profit after tax of RM59 million), which was mainly attributed to weaker contribution from the  
timber division, negative contribution from the oil & gas associate company and a one-off loss on  
disposal of a manufacturing subsidiary. 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION 

AND ANALYSIS (cont’d)
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B. FINANCIAL REVIEW (cont’d)

Timber Division

The division experienced mixed performance in 2016 with round logs sales increased RM18 million whilst  
plywood sales decreased RM34 million. Consequently, the division’s revenue decreased RM24 million as  
compared to 2015.  

For round logs sales, the higher revenue was achieved on the back of increased volume of logs harvested  
and sold in anticipation of an improving global economy. However, sales to its major market, India was  
hampered when the Indian government imposed the demonetization policy. Deliveries were halted and  
were subsequently sold domestically albeit a lower selling price. 

In 2016, despite slightly higher stock level of plywood in Japan, demand for our floor base plywood  
remained stable. However, the sector’s performance was negatively affected as other products sales were  
slower than expected as buyers pare down their stock holding in 2016. Buyers interest, however, started  
to return in late 2016 for the new housing start season and moderate recovery of imported plywood  
prices from 2016 level is expected in 2017 due to the weak Yen. 

Plantation Division

The higher revenue of RM24 million (2015: RM11 million) was mainly contributed by the gradual increase  
of maturing palms going into FFB production and more matured palms moving toward prime age  
production cycle. The division, however, recorded a net loss of RM15 million mainly attributed to the 
expenditure from the newly declared mature palms which were previously capitalized is now expensed off. 

Tape Division (Manufacturing and Trading) 

The performance of the Group’s adhesive tapes division was marginally lower as compared to 2015, which 
was mainly attributed to decrease in export sales for masking tapes and higher production cost resulted  
from weaken Ringgit Malaysia against US Dollars.   

During the financial year, the Group disposed a manufacturing subsidiary which resulted in a one-off loss 
on disposal of RM9.5 million and was presented separately under loss from discontinued operation in the  
statement of profit or loss. The subsidiary was principally involved in the conversion of aluminium foils into  
various foil products. 

Oil & Gas Division

2016 was a challenging year for the oil & gas industry as prolonged low oil prices caused PETRONAS to  
further reduce its capital expenditure spending to RM50.4 billion, from RM64.7 billion in 2015. Accordingly, 
its performance was negatively impacted as vessels utilization reduced due to the deferment of planned 
projects and maintenance works. In addition, the depreciation of the Ringgit Malaysia against the US Dollar 
resulted an increase in vessels’ charter costs. 

Others 

Others segment recorded lower revenue in the absence of rental income subsequent to the disposal of  
its investment properties in office lots in December 2015. Profit after tax stood at RM4.1 million mainly due to  
net gain on disposal of car park investment properties after deducting one-off impairment loss on goodwill.  

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION 

AND ANALYSIS (cont’d)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION 

AND ANALYSIS (cont’d)

C. FINANCIAL POSITIONS 

Property, plant and equipment (PPE)

The decrease in net PPE of RM41 million as compared to 2015 was mainly due to depreciation charged 
for the year of RM43 million, transfer of land and building of RM17 million to investment properties,  
de-consolidated of PPE of RM7 million resulted from disposal of a subsidiary, but partially offset by  
increase in PPE of RM28 million mainly in relation to the construction of the palm oil mill.

Trade and other receivables

The increase in trade and other receivables of RM23 million as compared to 2015 was mainly due to an 
increase in trade receivables from third party and vessels’ charter fee owed by an associate company  
of RM8 million and RM38 million, respectively. The settlement of the outstanding charter fee is expected 
upon payment collection from end customer by the associate company. 

However, this is partially offset by decrease in sundry receivables as the stakeholder sum of RM28 million  
for the disposal of investment properties in December 2015 was fully received during the financial year.  

Trade and other payables

The trade and other payables increased by RM42 million as compared to 2015 was mainly due to an  
increase in outstanding vessels’ charter rental of RM38 million. The outstanding vessel’s charter rental shall 
be settled upon payment collection from end customer.   

Working capital and liquidity 

The closing cash and cash equivalents amounted to RM345 million, an increase of RM21 million from  
year 2015. The higher net cash inflows were mainly due to collection of sales proceeds from the disposal  
of investment properties and a manufacturing subsidiary of RM47 million and RM12 million, respectively. 
This was partially offset by net repayment of bank borrowings of RM36 million during the financial year. 

Gearing ratio

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had total short term deposits, cash and bank balances of  
RM368 million (2015: RM353 million), whilst bank borrowings and payables amounted to RM399 million 
(2015: RM398 million). As a result, the Group’s net gearing ratio improved from 3% to 2%. 

Material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries

During the financial year, the Group disposed a manufacturing subsidiary with a net proceed of  
RM12 million and incurred one-off loss on disposal of RM9 million. 
 
Capital commitment 

The approved and contracted capital expenditure of RM21 million is in relation to the balance of the 
construction costs of the Group’s first palm oil mill in Limbang Division. 



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION 

AND ANALYSIS (cont’d)
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D. KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 

The Group is exposed to risks that could impact our operational and financial performance. As such, we 
have put in place a risk management initiatives to mitigate these risks factors as below:

Division Risk Impact Mitigation strategies

Timber Revocation of timber 
license for failure to comply 
with forestry regulations. 

Operation activities 
may be halted due to 
suspension or cancelation 
of license.

Resources Planning & 
Operations Department 
of the Group is tasked 
to monitor and enforce 
compliance with relevant 
regulations, with close 
cooperation from timber 
camps’ manager.

Plantation State lands with Native 
Customary Right (NCR) 
claim 

Claims by NCR are costly 
and the claim may cause 
disruption in operation 
(e.g. the natives prohibit 
felling of logs and 
plantation activities on the 
claimed land).

The experienced Conflict 
Resolution Committee will be 
tasked to handle and resolve 
any NCR issue. 

Tape Strengthening foreign 
currencies impacting the 
costs of imported raw 
materials.

Reduce profitability 
and competitiveness 
due to higher costs of 
production. 

Continuous efforts to expand 
our export markets in order 
to match our export sales 
proceeds with costs of 
imported raw materials, 
which are predominantly 
transacted in US Dollars. 
This will mitigate the impact 
volatility of US Dollars has on 
our costs of production.

Oil & gas Slow recovery of oil & gas 
industry downturn

Global downturn of the oil 
& gas industry as a result 
of low oil price may result 
in cost reduction by oil 
majors through delayed 
projects and maintenance 
activities.

Constant communications 
and planning with oil majors 
to understand the market 
condition and assess the 
demand for AWBs. With 
joint planning and cost 
optimization, prospect to 
secure consistent and long-
term utilization of vessels by 
oil majors is improved.



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION 

AND ANALYSIS (cont’d)

E. PROSPECTS 

For the Group’s timber division, the demand for its plywood has stabilized towards the later part of 2016,  
and expected to recover from the low in 2016 on expectation that the Japanese economy will grow  
moderately in 2017 with the implementation of structural reform and fiscal stimulus measures. The division 
will also see improvements in its timber logs sales as the effects of the demonetization policy of the Indian 
Government are waning, and consumer spending and economic activity began to normalize. 

For oil palm plantation, the Group expects FFB production to increase with the increasing hectarage of 
matured palm. With CPO prices expected to be in the range of RM2,500 to RM3,000 per MT for 2017, the 
higher revenue from increased FFB production will improve the division’s performance in 2017.  

The Group’s manufacturing and trading division will continue to focus on its core competency on product 
quality and branding, in the face of market volatility and challenging economic conditions. At the same  
time, it will continue to expand efforts to broaden its market reach and penetrate new markets especially 
overseas markets.  With all these efforts in place, the Group is cautiously optimistic of a modest growth in 
2017.

For the Group’s oil and gas division, 2017 is largely seen as the recovery year for the sector, being  
reflected by the gradual increase of oil prices during 2H2016. The recovery is boosted by the compliance of 
pledged reduced production by OPEC and non-OPEC members. With the improved outlook, PETRONAS  
is expected to resume critical maintenance projects delayed in the past two years. The Group’s  
deployment of DP2 AWBs remains choice vessels for use by PETRONAS and shall benefit from this 
resumption of projects. Nevertheless, the Group is also actively participating in ongoing tender bids for 
projects in Malaysia and regionally, in countries such as Brunei and Thailand.

The Group remains positive of its prospect for the new financial year, taking into consideration 
the macroeconomic factors, prudency in financial management as well as leveraging on the costs  
optimization and various business strategies put in place. 
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION 

AND ANALYSIS (cont’d)

F. DIVIDEND 

The Group does not have a formal dividend policy, but it has historically paid out 20% - 30% of its net  
profit as dividend. However, in a loss-making year the Board will evaluate the Group’s financial position, 
long term plans and cash flows position before recommending any dividend payment to shareholders for 
approval. 

During the year, the Company has paid a final single-tier dividend of 2.49 sen net per share for the  
financial year ended 31 December 2015 on 5 July 2016 amounting to RM11,889,000.

At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, a final single-tier dividend in respect of the financial year  
ended 31 December 2016, of 2.00 sen net per share on 481,344,552 ordinary shares, less shares bought 
back and held as treasury shares, amounting to a dividend payable of approximately RM9,549,000 will  
be proposed for shareholders’ approval. 
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FINANCIAL 
HIGHLIGHTS 
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CORPORATE SOCIAL

RESPONSIBILITY

The Group recognizes the importance of a corporate culture that emphasizes good  

corporate social responsibility (CSR) and corporate citizenship, which extends beyond 

regulatory requirements, and aspires to operate and expand its business responsibly.  

In delivering long-term sustainable growth, enhancing stakeholders’ value through the  

core business, the Group also contributes and provides for the betterment of the  

employee welfare, undertakes social activities that enrich the lives of the local  

community as part of our philanthropy commitments and social practices. 

OUR COMMUNITY 

The Group actively collaborates with Sarawak Timber Association (STA) in its community programs, and proactively 
participates and supports various other social and cultural welfares for local communities where the Group 
has operations. Its ongoing initiatives include improvement and upgrading of rural schools and facilities, and 
building of access roads to improve accessibility of the local communities to their long houses or villages as 
well as enabling them to transport their harvested crops and produces to the nearby marketplace for trade. The  
Group’s presence also creates employment opportunities for these rural folks, providing them stable income, job 
security, better healthcare etc. The economic, social and educational improvements have benefitted the local 
communities immensely and uplifting their quality of living.  

During the year, WTK Recreational Club (the Club) had participated in many charitable events including the  
annual charity sales held by the Centre for the Blind, Sibu. Another meaningful event on the Club’s yearly  
calendar is the blood donation drive, with the aim to support hospitals in maintaining blood bank stock in order  
to save the lives of many in need of blood for surgery and other illnesses.

OUR EMPLOYEE 

The Group believes that human capital development is crucial to ensure employees are equipped with the  
right and relevant skill set and knowledge to perform their tasks. As such, continuous learning and training  
courses are conducted for our employees throughout the year. 

Various amenities such as social infrastructure (e.g. housing, health, religious facilities) and recreational facilities 
(e.g. sports fields) are provided for the well-being of the workers’ community at operation sites.  For children 
of local estate workers living in our plantations, transportations are provided for their school-going children to  
attend classes at nearby schools.

In fostering greater teamwork amongst employees, the Club organized various activities such as bowling,  
badminton, basketball tournaments etc., and to build closer rapport with our business associates, the Club 
successfully attracted over 500 participants to its annual “WTK Fun Run” event. 



W T K HOLDINGS BERHAD (10141-M)  ANNUAL REPORT 2016 25

The Board of Directors (“Board”) of W T K Holdings Berhad (“WTK” or “Company”) is pleased to report that for  
the financial year under review, WTK has continued to apply good governance practices in managing and  
directing the business affairs of the Group, by adopting the substance and spirit of the principles advocated  
by the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 2012 (“Code”) wherever possible.

In this Statement, the Board has considered the manner in which the principles of the Code have been applied  
and the extent of compliance with the recommendations of good governance as set out in the Code and the  
alternatives for departure from such recommendations.

THE ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is primarily responsible for the Group’s overall strategic plans for business performance, overseeing  
the proper conduct of business, risk management, internal control, management information systems,  
succession planning and communication with shareholders and stakeholders. The Board, apart from the  
Executive Directors, is not involved in the day-to-day management of the business.

The Board is supported by the Management Committee who has the responsibilities in planning and  
formulating business strategies, finance, operating policies and in monitoring the achievement of the  
business strategies of the Group. The Management Committee reports thereon to the Board on these matters.

The Management Committee is also entrusted with the responsibility and authority to examine particular issues  
and reports back to the Board with its recommendations. The Board will then independently assess the merits  
of the Management Committee’s proposals and satisfy itself that the Management Committee had  
considered the appropriate elements of a strategic plan and monitors the Management Committee’s success  
in implementing its strategy. The final decision on all significant matters proposed by the Management  
Committee lies with the Board as a whole. Significant matters which are reserved for Board’s consideration 
amongst others, are financial results, declaration of dividends, material capital investment matters, acquisitions 
and disposals of businesses and adoption of any significant change or departure in accounting policies  
and practices of the Company and its subsidiaries.

BOARD CHARTER

The Board had formally adopted a Board Charter, which provides guidance to the Board in fulfillment of its roles,  
duties and responsibilities which are in line with the principles of good corporate governance. The Board  
Charter outlines amongst others, the structure, responsibilities, rights and procedures of the Board and the  
Board Committees. The Board Charter is available at the Company’s website at www.wtkholdings.com.

The Board will periodically review the Charter to ensure it reflects changes to the Company’s policies,  
procedures and processes as well as the latest relevant legislations and regulations.

BOARD BALANCE AND INDEPENDENCE

The Board is made up of a good balance of one (1) Executive and seven (7) Non-Executive Directors of which  
three (3) are Independent Non-Executive Directors, representing one third (1/3) of the total composition of its  
members.

The Board has a good mix of members with expertise and experience in economics, investments, accounting  
and finance, marketing, consulting, technical, corporate management disciplines and business administration  
thereby ensuring a broader perspective and depth in the Board’s decision making process.

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT 

ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT 

ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (cont’d)  

There is a clear segregation of roles and responsibilities between the Chairman and the Managing Director  
(“MD”) to ensure a proper balance of power and authority. The Board approves and develops position  
descriptions of the MD and that of the Senior Management which identify their responsibilities. There is a direct 
link between the MD and the Senior Management team and an appropriate management structure is in place to 
ensure adequate succession support for continuity of business operations in the absence of key executives.

The Chairman is responsible for ensuring the integrity and effectiveness of the governance process of the  
Board and also, for ensuring Board effectiveness and proper conduct.

The MD has the overall responsibility for the day-to-day management of the Group to ensure  
the Group’s businesses are properly and efficiently managed and to implement Board’s policies, decisions  
and strategies.

The Non-Executive Directors are independent of the Management. They bring external perspective, serve to  
inspire and challenge the Management in an objective and constructive manner, and contribute to decision  
making through their expertise and experience, thereby helping to ensure that no individual or group  
dominates the Board’s decision making process.

The composition of the Board is further balanced by the presence of Independent Non-Executive Directors.  
The Independent Non-Executive Directors play a vital role in providing independent views on various issues  
and ensures a balanced and fair deliberation process to safeguard the interests of the minority shareholders.

Recommendation 3.5 of the Code states that the Board must comprise a majority of Independent Directors where 
the Chairman of the Board is not an Independent Director. Pemanca Datuk Wong Kie Yik, the Chairman of the  
Board, is a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director. Given the current composition of the Board which reflects 
sufficient independent element, the Board holds the view that there is balance of power and authority on the  
Board between Non-Independent and Independent Directors.

Recommendation 3.2 of the Code recommends that tenure of an independent director should not exceed a  
cumulative term of nine (9) years and upon completion of nine (9) years, the independent director may continue  
to serve on the Board subject to the director’s re-designation as a non-independent director. 

However, at the annual assessment carried out, the Nomination Committee and the Board have determined that  
Lt. General Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul Manap Ibrahim (rtd) and Ms. Tham Sau Kien, who have served on the  
Board for twenty-one (21) years and nine (9) years respectively, remain independent and objective in deliberations  
and decision making of the Board and Board Committees. Further, their positions on the Board have not been  
compromised by their familiarity and long relationships with other Board members. Both Lt. General Datuk  
Seri Panglima Abdul Manap Ibrahim (rtd) and Ms. Tham Sau Kien have exercised due care in the interest of the  
Company and the shareholders, and they have devoted sufficient time and attention to their responsibilities  
as Independent  Non-Executive Directors. The Board proposes to retain the status of Lt. General Datuk Seri  
Panglima Abdul Manap Ibrahim (rtd) and Ms. Tham Sau Kien as Independent Directors and the Board’s  
proposals will be tabled for shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.  
Both Lt. General Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul Manap Ibrahim (rtd) and Ms. Tham Sau Kien have abstained from  
any deliberations or voting pertaining to their own independence at the Nomination Committee and at the Board.
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT 

ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (cont’d)  

The Board does not fix a maximum tenure limit for Independent Directors as the Board is not of the view that a  
term of more than nine (9) years can impair independence. The Board believes that length of time is not the  
sole determinant of credibility and effectiveness of Independent Directors as it does not in any way affect or  
interferes with their exercise of independent judgement and ability to act in the best interest of the Company.  
The ability of a Director to serve effectively as an Independent Director is very much a function of his calibre,  
qualification, experience and personal qualities, particularly of his integrity and objectivity in discharging his  
duties in good faith and in the best interest of the Company, and his duty to vigilantly safeguard the interests of the  
minority shareholders of the Company.  Also, the Group benefits from long serving directors, such as Lt. General  
Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul Manap Ibrahim (rtd) and Ms. Tham Sau Kien, who have proven commitment,  
experience and competence to effectively discharge their duties as Independent Non-Executive Directors.  

The Board has identified the Chairman of the Nomination Committee, Lt. General Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul  
Manap Ibrahim (rtd) as the Senior Independent Non-Executive Director to whom any concerns may be  
conveyed. Any concerns may be conveyed via electronic mail to the email address available at the Company’s  
website at www.wtkholdings.com.

DIRECTORS’ CODE OF ETHICS

The Directors observe the Code of Ethics for Company Directors established by the Companies Commission  
of Malaysia (“Code of Ethics for Directors”) and the Code of Ethics for Directors is embedded in the Board  
Charter.

TIME COMMITMENT AND BOARD MEETINGS

The Board is satisfied with the level of time commitment given by the Directors towards fulfilling their roles and 
responsibilities as Directors of the Company. Six (6) of the Directors do not hold any directorship in other listed  
issuers and each of the remaining two (2) Directors hold only one directorship in other listed issuer (ie, the  
Directors have observed the restriction of holding not more than five directorships in listed issuers as set out in  
the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad).

The Board meets on a quarterly basis with additional meetings convened as and when necessary with due  
notice given for all scheduled meetings. During the financial year ended 31 December 2016, the Board met a total  
of seven (7) times. Details of Directors’ attendance are as follows :

DIRECTORS  
NUMBER OF 

MEETINGS ATTENDED

Pemanca Datuk Wong Kie Yik 6/7

Lt. General Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul Manap Ibrahim (rtd) 7/7

Dato’ Sri Patrick Wong Haw Yeong 6/7

Mr. Wong Kie Chie 5/7

Ms. Tham Sau Kien 6/7

Ms. Ting Soon Eng 7/7

Dr. Loh Leong Hua 7/7

En. Alfian Bin Mohamed Basir 6/7



W T K HOLDINGS BERHAD (10141-M)  ANNUAL REPORT 201628

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT 

ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (cont’d)  

SUPPLY OF INFORMATION

The Directors have full access to all information pertaining to the Group’s business and affairs, whether as a full  
Board or in their individual capacity, to enable them to discharge their duties.  

Formal agenda and papers for scheduled Board meetings are circulated to all Directors in advance to enable them  
to have sufficient time to review and seek clarifications, if required. As a general rule, Board papers are  
circulated for Directors’ review at least five (5) days prior to any scheduled Board meeting. Confidential or urgent  
papers may be presented and tabled at Board meetings under supplemental agenda.

All Directors have full access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary who ensure that Board  
procedures are adhered to at all times during meetings and advise the Board on matters relating to Directors’ 
responsibilities in complying with relevant legislation and regulations.

The Directors may obtain independent advice at the Company’s expense, if necessary, in the course of their 
duties.

APPOINTMENTS TO THE BOARD AND ANNUAL ASSESSMENT

The Board is assisted by the Nomination Committee on appointment, re-appointment, re-election and annual  
assessment of the Board, Board Committees and members of the Board.

The Nomination Committee established by the Board comprises exclusively of Non-Executive Directors, the  
majority are Independent Directors. The current Chairman of the Nomination Committee is the Senior  
Independent Non-Executive Director.

The primary responsibility of the Nomination Committee is to assist the Board on the following functions:

•	 assess	and	recommend	new	nominees	for	appointment	to	the	Board	and	Board	committees.

•	 review	 on	 annual	 basis,	 the	 required	 mix	 of	 skills	 and	 experience	 and	 other	 qualities,	 including	 core	 
competencies which the Non-Executive Directors should bring to the Board.

•	 assess	 on	 annual	 basis,	 the	 effectiveness	 of	 the	Board	 as	 a	whole,	 the	 committees	 of	 the	Board	 and	 
the contribution of each individual Director.

In making recommendation on new appointments to the Board, the Nomination Committee will assess, amongst 
other criteria, whether the potential candidate has the necessary skills, knowledge, expertise and experience,  
time commitment, competence, professionalism and integrity. The Nomination Committee also takes into  
consideration on whether the potential candidate will be a strategic and effective fit for the Board and  
contribute to the overall desired composition and required mix of expertise and experience on the Board. The 
potential candidate, upon the review and assessment of the Nomination Committee, will be recommended to  
the Board for appointment.

Every year, the Nomination Committee reviews and recommends to the Board the structure, size, balance and 
composition of the Board and Board Committees. The annual review is based on specific criteria, covering  
areas such as Board composition and structures, roles and responsibilities of the Board, independence of  
the independent directors and qualities and contribution of individual directors. Following the review and the  
recommendations by the Nomination Committee, the Board will conclude whether the Board as a whole and 
its committees have perform well, effective and whether the Board has the necessary skills, experience and  
qualities to lead the Company.
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Presently, the Board does not intend to implement any formal diversity policy in term of gender, ethnicity and  
age. The Nomination Committee and the Board are of the view that Board membership is dependent on each  
candidate’s skills, experience, core competencies and other qualities, regardless of gender, ethnicity and age.  
In particular, the presence of Ms. Tham Sau Kien and Ms. Ting Soon Eng reflects that the Board does not  
consider gender to be vetoed from Board membership and that the Board recognises the value of female members.

The Board has also undertaken an annual assessment of the independence of its Independent Directors,  
which is led by the Nomination Committee. The criteria for assessing the independence of Independent  
Directors includes the relationship between the Independent Director and the Company and his/her involvement  
in any significant transaction with the Company. The Nomination Committee and the Board have determined  
that its Independent Directors are able to carry out their duties independently and contribute effectively to the  
Board. The Independent Directors have also fulfilled the criteria as set out in the Main Market Listing  
Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad on Independent Directors and provided written confirmations  
on their independence to the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee meets as and when required, and at least once a year. During the financial year ended  
31 December 2016, the Nomination Committee met one time. Details of the members’ attendance are as follows:-

MEMBERS OF NOMINATION COMMITTEE
NUMBER OF 

MEETINGS ATTENDED

Lt. General Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul Manap Ibrahim (rtd) - Chairman 1/1
Ms. Tham Sau Kien 1/1
Ms. Ting Soon Eng 1/1

The Nomination Committee undertook the following key activities for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 :-

•	 reviewed	 and	 assessed	 on	 annual	 basis,	 the	 existing	 Board	 structure,	 size,	 balance	 and	 composition,	 
and the effectiveness and performance of the Board and Board Committees, members of the Board  
and the independence of the Independent Directors.

•	 assessed	and	recommended	 Independent	Directors	whose	term	of	office	have	exceeded	9	years	 to	be	
retained as Independent Directors pursuant to the Code.

•	 assessed	 and	 recommended	 the	 proposed	 re-election	 of	 retiring	 Directors	 and	 re-appointment	 of	 
Directors at the Annual General Meeting of the Company.

•	 reviewed	 the	 term	 of	 office	 and	 performance	 of	 the	 Audit	 Committee	 and	 each	 of	 its	 members,	 and	 
assessed whether the Audit Committee and its members have carried out their duties in accordance  
with their terms of reference. 

RE-APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Article 95(f) of the Company’s Articles of Association, Directors who are of or over the age of seventy 
(70) years shall retire at every annual general meeting and may offer themselves for re-appointment to hold  
office until the next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”).

All Directors who are appointed by the Board are subject to re-election by the shareholders at the first  
opportunity after their appointment, in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association.

The Articles of Association of the Company further provides that at least one third (1/3) of the remaining  
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at the AGM of the Company at least once every three (3) years.



W T K HOLDINGS BERHAD (10141-M)  ANNUAL REPORT 201630

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT 

ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (cont’d)  

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The objective of the Company’s policy on Directors’ remuneration is to attract and retain Directors of the calibre 
needed to run the Group successfully. For Executive Directors, the component parts of the remuneration are 
structured so as to link rewards to corporate and individual performance. For Non-Executive Directors, the  
level of remuneration reflects the experience and level of responsibilities undertaken by the particular  
Non-Executive Director concerned.

The Remuneration Committee established by the Board is composed of Non-Executive Directors, namely:

Chairman : Lt. General Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul Manap Ibrahim (rtd)
   (Independent Non-Executive Director)

Members : Pemanca Datuk Wong Kie Yik  
   (Non-Independent Non-Executive Director/Chairman)

   Ms. Tham Sau Kien
   (Independent Non-Executive Director)

The primary responsibility of the Remuneration Committee is to review and make recommendation to the  
Board on the remuneration packages of Executive Directors and key senior management officers of the  
Company. It is nevertheless, the ultimate responsibility of the entire Board to approve the remuneration of  
Executive Directors.

In respect of the Non-Executive Directors, the yearly proposal of directors’ fees and increments, if any, are 
approved by the shareholders of the Company at the AGM. The Company reimburses reasonable expenses 
incurred by the Directors in the course of their duties as Directors.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration payable by the Company for each Director during the financial year  
ended 31 December 2016 are as follows:

RM

 SALARIES FEES BONUSES
OTHER

REMUNERATION TOTAL

Executive Director
Dato’ Sri Patrick Wong Haw Yeong 459,000 - 120,000 77,153 656,153

Non-Executive Directors
Pemanca Datuk Wong Kie Yik - 84,000 - 40,880 124,880

Mr. Wong Kie Chie - 72,000 - 5,000 77,000

Lt. General Datuk Seri Panglima  
Abdul Manap Ibrahim (rtd)

- 84,000 - 8,000 92,000

Ms. Tham Sau Kien - 84,000 - 11,000 95,000

Ms. Ting Soon Eng - 72,000 - 11,000 83,000

Dr. Loh Leong Hua - 72,000 - 12,000 84,000

En. Alfian Bin Mohamed Basir - 72,000 - 7,000 79,000

TOTAL 459,000 540,000 120,000 172,033 1,291,033
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

All the Directors have attended the Mandatory Accreditation Programme as prescribed under the Main  
Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

The Board is mindful that the Directors should continue to update their skills and knowledge and to keep 
abreast with the regulatory requirements and business development. All Directors are encouraged to  
evaluate their own training needs on a continuous basis and to attend relevant programmes, workshops or 
conferences which may assist the Directors in discharging their duties and responsibilities.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2016, the Directors have undergone training on areas relevant  
to their duties and responsibilities by attending external seminars/programmes, internally facilitated seminar 
and through reading materials. The external auditors also briefed the Directors on any changes to the  
Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards that would affect the Group’s financial statements during the  
financial year under review.

The Directors have in year 2016 attended seminars/programmes, briefings and conferences on various  
topics which include the following:-

•	 Future	of	Auditor	Reporting	-	The	Game	Changer	for	Boardroom		
•	 Cyber	Security	Risk	Management	for	the	Boardroom	and	C-Suite	
•	 ACI	Breakfast	Roundtable	2016	-	Sustainability	Reporting
•	 The	Role	of	Corporate	ASEAN	in	driving	the	Sustainable	Developments	Goals	
•	 The	Strategy,	the	Leadership,	the	Stakeholders	and	the	Board	
•	 Latest	Updates	on	Directors’	Remuneration	Seminar	2016
•	 Regulatory	Updates	on	Audit	Committees	Seminar	2016
•	 How	to	Leverage	on	AGM’s	for	Better	Engagement	with	Shareholders
•	 Anti-Corruption	&	Integrity	-	Foundation	of	Corporate	Sustainability
•	 Preparing	for	the	structural	shift	in	Company	Law
•	 Transfer	Pricing	Conference	2016	
•	 GST	Audits	and	Investigations	
•	 2017	Budget	&	Tax	Conference
•	 National	Tax	Seminar	2016	:	2017	Budget	Proposals
•	 MIA	International	Accountants	Conference	2016
•	 Company	Law	2016	:	Total	Revamp	with	Huge	Tax	Planning	Opportunities	
•	 Ring	the	Bell	for	Gender	Equality	
•	 Enterprise	Risk	Management		
•	 The	Nominating	Committee	:	What	does	it	really	do?
•	 The	draft	Malaysian	Code	on	Corporate	Governance	2016	and	Sustainability	Reporting	
•	 Key	Audit	Matters	and	Malaysian	Financial	Reporting	Standards

TIMELY DISCLOSURE AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company places strong emphasis on the importance of timely and equitable dissemination of  
information to the shareholders. The Company has a number of formal channels for effective dissemination 
of information to the shareholders and stakeholders particularly through the annual report, announcements to 
Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, quarterly reports, Company’s website and investor relations.

The Annual Report and quarterly reports served to communicate the Group’s activities and financial  
performance to its shareholders and the public.

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT 

ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (cont’d)  
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The Company also maintains a website at www.wtkholdings.com through which shareholders and members  
of the public in general can gain access to information about the Group and announcements made by the 
Company.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM is the principal forum for dialogue with shareholders. The Board provides opportunities for 
shareholders to raise questions pertaining to issues in the Annual Report, Audited Financial Statements, 
Corporate Developments in the Group, the resolutions being proposed and on business of the Group in  
general at every AGM and Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company. Senior Officers and appropriate 
advisers are also available to respond to shareholders’ questions during the meeting.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

In presenting the annual audited financial statements and quarterly announcements, the Directors aim to  
present a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s position and prospects to its  
shareholders and other stakeholders.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in this matter by reviewing and recommending information for  
disclosure.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Directors are mindful of their responsibilities in relation to the maintenance of a sound system of risk 
management and internal controls which provides reasonable assessment and review of the Company’s 
effectiveness to safeguard shareholders’ investment and Group’s assets. The Board is continuously  
reviewing the adequacy and integrity of its system of risk management and internal controls.

A Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control is set out in the Annual Report.

RELATIONSHIP WITH THE AUDITORS

The relationship with the External Auditors is formally maintained through the Audit Committee as set out  
in the terms of reference of the Audit Committee, which is available at the Company’s website at  
www.wtkholdings.com.

ADDITIONAL COMPLIANCE INFORMATION

There were no material contracts entered into by the Company and its subsidiaries involving directors’ and 
major shareholders’ interest which were still subsisting at the end of the financial year ended 31 December  
2016 or which entered into since the end of the previous financial year.

This Statement on Corporate Governance is made in accordance with the resolution of the Board of  
Directors dated 28 February 2017.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE 

REPORT 

The Board of Directors (“Board”) is pleased to present the report of the Audit Committee for the financial year  
ended 31 December 2016. The Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee is available at the Company’s website  
at www.wtkholdings.com.

COMPOSITION AND DESIGNATION OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

Ms. Tham Sau Kien - Chairman 
(Independent Non-Executive Director)  

Lt. General Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul Manap Ibrahim (rtd) - Member
(Independent Non-Executive Director)                                       

Pemanca Datuk Wong Kie Yik - Member 
(Non-Independent Non-Executive Director)                                       

A. SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED  
31 DECEMBER 2016

The Audit Committee met five (5) times during the financial year ended 31 December 2016. Details of  
attendance of the Audit Committee are set out as follows:

AUDIT COMMITTEE MEMBERS  
NUMBER OF 

MEETINGS ATTENDED

Ms. Tham Sau Kien 5/5

Lt. General Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul Manap Ibrahim (rtd) 5/5

Pemanca Datuk Wong Kie Yik 5/5

During the year under review, the Audit Committee carried out its duties and responsibilities in accordance  
with its Terms of Reference as follows:

i. Financial Reporting 

(a) Reviewed the Group’s quarterly unaudited financial results and announcement before 
recommending them for the Board’s approval;

(b) Discussed with the External Auditors the audit report and the evaluation of the system of 
internal controls; and

(c) Reviewed the Group’s year-end audited financial statements and audit report on the  
financial statements of the Company as presented by the External Auditors prior to the  
approval by the Board of Directors, focusing particularly on:

•	 any	changes	in	accounting	policies	and	practices;	and
•	 significant	adjustments	arising	from	the	audit.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE 

REPORT (cont’d)   

ii. External Auditors

(a) Reviewed and approved the External Auditors’ Audit Plan, audit procedures, approach and 
scope of the review;

(b) Held independent meetings (without the presence of executive Board members and the 
Management) with the External Auditors; 

(c) Discussed new accounting standards and sought clarification from the external auditors on  
the impact of the adoption to the Company’s and Group’s financial statements; and

(d) Annual assessment and re-appointment of external auditors

•	 Assessed	 the	 performance	 of	 the	 external	 auditors	 prior	 to	 their	 re-appointment	 via	
questionnaires on the Suitability and Independence of External Auditors;

•	 Considered	the	adequacy	of	the	experience	and	resources	of	the	audit	firm,	the	team/
persons assigned to the audit, the size and complexity of the Group being audited, 
independence and objectivity of the external auditors, quality of performance, audit 
scope and planning and audit fees in the assessment;

•	 The	External	Auditors	had	made	the	declaration	in	their	annual	audit	plan	presented	to	
the Audit Committee that they were independent throughout the conduct of the audit 
engagement in accordance with the terms of the relevant professional and regulatory 
requirements; and

•	 The	 amount	 of	 non-audit	 fees	 incurred	 for	 services	 rendered	 to	 the	 Group	 for	 the	
financial year ended 31 December 2016 by the auditors, or firm or companies affiliated 
to the auditors as follows:

FEES PAID/PAYABLE TO DELOITTE 
GROUP
RM’000

COMPANY
RM’000

Non-audit fees 391 33

Audit fees 850 150

% of non-audit fees 46%   22%

 The non-audit services rendered include review of Statement on Risk Management  
and Internal Control, tax services and transfer pricing.

 The Audit Committee has considered the provision of non-audit services by the  
External Auditors during the financial year end and concluded that the provision of  
these services did not compromise the External Auditors’ independence and  
objectivity.

 The Audit Committee is satisfied with the External Auditors’ performance, 
technical competency and independence and recommended the appointment of  
Deloitte PLT as the Company’s External Auditors for the financial year ending  
31 December 2017.
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iii. Internal Auditors

(a) Reviewed the findings of internal audit reports presented by the Head of Internal Audit on  
the Company and its subsidiaries;

(b) Reviewed the enterprise risk management activities of the Group as reported by the Head  
of Internal Audit; and 

(c) Reviewed and approved the annual Audit Plan as proposed by the Head of Internal Audit.

iv. Recurrent Related Party Transactions 

 Discussed and reviewed fairness and transparency of recurrent related party transactions entered  
into by the Group and appropriate disclosure in accordance with the Main Market Listing  
Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

B.  SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES OF THE INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

The Internal Audit (“IA”) function is considered an integral part of the assurance framework within the  
Group. The Group’s Internal Audit Department (“IAD”) primary function is to assist the Audit Committee 
in discharging its duties and responsibilities with regard to the regular review and / or appraisal of the 
effectiveness of the internal control system, risk management and corporate governance processes  
within the Group. The IAD provides independent assessments and objective assurance on the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control framework in all key business activities  
within the Group.

The IA function was performed by the in-house Group Internal Audit Department.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2016, the IAD has performed regular audit assignments namely 
financial, operational as well as compliance audits on subsidiary companies covering all major operating 
areas. These were carried out in accordance with the annual audit plan or special ad-hoc audit at the  
request of the Management Committee.

At every quarterly meeting of the Audit Committee during the financial year, Internal Audit Reports of the 
Group’s subsidiary companies were tabled and deliberated. In its undertaking of each audit, the Internal 
Auditors reviewed the internal control system and performed relevant compliance and substantive risk 
based audit procedures of the auditee company.

During the year under review, the IAD has also assisted the Audit Committee in conducting reviews on 
the risk management process implemented by the Management Committee for identifying, evaluating  
and monitoring significant risk exposures through the application of “risk audit checklist” methodology  
on a regular basis.

The review will provide the Audit Committee with an efficient and effective level of audit coverage.

The cost incurred for maintaining the Group’s in-house internal audit function for the financial year ended  
31 December 2016 was approximately RM773,000 which included expenses.
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STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT 

AND INTERNAL CONTROL   

THE BOARD’S RESPONSIBILITY

The Board of Directors (“the Board”) of W T K Holdings Berhad (“the Group”) acknowledges its overall  
responsibility for the Group’s system of internal control and risk management practices to safeguard the 
shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets. The Board ensures effectiveness and efficiency of operations, 
reliability of financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations through regular reviews.

The review covers financial, operational and compliance controls of the Group. In view of the inherent limitations  
in any system of internal controls, the system is designed to manage and mitigate the effects rather than  
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve its corporate objectives.

It should be noted that such system is designed to manage the Group’s risk within acceptable risk profile, 
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives. As such, a system of internal controls can  
provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance against material errors, misstatement of management and 
financial information or irregularities.

This Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control has been prepared in line with the Main Market  
Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and guided by the Statement on Risk Management  
and Internal Control: Guidelines for Directors of Listed Issuers. 

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

Risk management is regarded by the Board as an important aspect of the Group’s diverse and growing  
operations with the objective of maintaining a sound internal control system. To this end, the Group has  
established the appropriate risk management infrastructure to ensure that the Group’s assets are  
well-protected and shareholders’ value is enhanced. 

The Board, through its Risk Management Committee (RMC), is entrusted with the responsibility of monitoring  
and reviewing the appropriate risk management framework, among others, the Group has:

•	 adopted	a	structured	and	systematic	risk	assessment,	monitoring	and	reporting	framework;
•	 heightened	risk	awareness	culture	in	the	business	processes	through	risk	owners’	accountability;
•	 fostered	a	culture	of	continuous	improvement	in	risk	management	through	risk	review	meetings;	and
•	 provided	a	 system	 to	manage	 the	central	 accumulation	of	 risk	profiles	data	with	 risk	 significance	 rating	 

for the profiles as a tool for prioritizing risk action plans.

The Group has in place an on-going process that lays the foundation for effective control framework for  
identifying, evaluating and managing the principal risks of the Group in a proactive manner for the year under  
review up to date of this Statement, as described below:

Risk identification
The Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) process begins with the business strategies and objectives; and 
review prior to the commencement of every financial year. Subsequently, risks arising from the business 
strategies and objectives to be pursued are identified. The risks identified are the internal and external  
risks that pose threat.

Risks identified are assessed to determine their impact on the relevant business strategies or objectives  
and their likelihood of occurrence.
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AND INTERNAL CONTROL (cont’d)   

Risk assessment
A consistent approach in determining the risk likelihood and risk impact is adopted across the Group to  
reflect the risk appetite. The process in risk assessment is establishing the context, identify the risks,  
analyse the risks, evaluate and prioritise the risks.
 
Risk reporting and review
The risk profiles of the subsidiaries are tabled to the Risk Committee which is focused on risk mitigation  
strategies based on risk ratings are reviewed on a quarterly basis. 

Monitoring on risks and mitigating measures for risks are included as part of the quarterly risk reporting.

The RMC is set up to assist the Board in its responsibility to achieve the Group’s business objective and to  
ensure that the Group is always vigilant to any situation that might affect its assets, income and profits. 

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Internal Audit Function established by the Board, provides independent assurance on the effectiveness of  
the Group’s system of internal controls and the function is centralized at the Group level. The Internal Audit  
Function reports to the Audit Committee of the Group on a quarterly basis. However, the Internal Audit Function 
may report to the Audit Committee on more frequent basis if circumstances arise.  

It undertakes regular and systematic reviews on system of internal control and governance processes to  
ensure reasonable assurance that such system operates satisfactorily and effectively within the respective 
subsidiaries across the Group.

KEY ELEMENTS OF INTERNAL CONTROL

Internal control is embedded in the Group’s operations as follows:

•	 Clear	organizational	structure	with	defined	reporting	lines;
•	 Clearly	 documented	 standard	 operating	 procedure	manuals	which	 include	 the	 system	 flows	 and	 clearly	

defined job description for the purpose of succession planning;
•	 Defined	 level	 of	 authorities	 and	 lines	 of	 responsibilities	 from	 operating	 units	 up	 to	 the	 Board	 level	 to	 

ensure accountabilities for risk management and internal control activities;
•	 Each	 operating	 unit	 is	 responsible	 for	 the	 conduct	 and	 performance	 of	 business	 units,	 including	 the	

identification and evaluation of significant risks and implementing appropriate internal control measures  
to their respective business areas;

•	 Internal	audit	function	provides	assurance	of	the	effectiveness	of	the	system	of	internal	control	within	the	
Group. Regular internal audit visits are undertaken to review the effectiveness of the control procedures;

•	 Review	of	internal	audit	reports	and	follow-up	on	findings	by	the	Audit	Committee;
•	 Regular	Board	and	Audit	Committee	meetings	 to	assess	 the	Group’s	 internal	controls,	performance	and	

risks;
•	 Management	Committee	monitors	 the	operations	of	 the	operating	units;	 the	Management	Committee	 is	

chaired by the Managing Director, assisted by the Chief Financial Officer, Senior Finance Manager and  
other senior management officers;
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•	 Submission	 and	 presentation	 of	 annual	 budgets	 by	 the	 operating	 unit	 heads	 to	 the	 Management	 
Committee for review and endorsement;

•	 Review	of	monthly	management	accounts	with	focus	on	performance	and	achievement	of	budgets	set	by	
the Management Committee;

•	 Management	 Committee	 meets	 quarterly	 with	 the	 respective	 operating	 unit	 heads	 to	 deliberate	 on	 
quarterly results and business strategies in response to changing business environment; and

•	 Regular	 visits	 to	 the	 subsidiary	 companies	 by	 the	members	 of	Management	Committee	 are	 carried	 out	 
and reports any areas of concern thereof to the Board on a quarterly basis.

MONITORING AND REVIEW OF THE ADEQUACY AND INTEGRITY OF THE SYSTEM OF RISK  
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The processes adopted to monitor and review the adequacy and integrity of the system of risk management  
and internal control include:

•	 Periodic	confirmation	by	the	reporting	unit	heads	on	the	effectiveness	of	the	system	of	risk	management	 
and internal control, highlighting any weaknesses and changes in risk profile.

•	 Periodic	 examination	 of	 business	 processes	 and	 the	 state	 of	 internal	 control	 by	 internal	 audit	 function.	
Reports on the reviews carried out by the internal audit function are submitted on a regular basis to the  
Audit Committee.

The monitoring, review and reporting arrangements in place provide reasonable assurance that the structure 
of controls and its operations are appropriate to the Group’s operations and that risks are at an acceptable 
level throughout the Group’s businesses. Such arrangements, however, do not eliminate fully that possibility 
of human error, deliberate circumvention of control procedures by employees and others, or the occurrence of  
unforeseeable circumstances. The Board is of the view that the system of risk management and internal control in  
place for the year under review is sound and sufficient to safeguard shareholders’ investments, stakeholders’ 
interests and the Group’s assets.

WEAKNESSES IN RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM THAT RESULT IN MATERIAL 
LOSSES

There were no material losses incurred during the financial year under review as a result of weaknesses in the 
system of risk management and internal control. Management continues to take measures to strengthen the  
control environment. 

REVIEW OF THE STATEMENT BY EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The external auditors have reviewed the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control in accordance with 
Recommended Practice Guide 5 (Revised) (RPG 5) issued by Malaysian Institute of Accountants for inclusion 
in the annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 and reported to the Board that nothing  
has come to their attention that causes them to believe that this Statement is inconsistent with their  
understanding of the process adopted by the Board in the review of the adequacy and integrity of the risk 
management and internal control system of the Group.
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STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT 

AND INTERNAL CONTROL (cont’d)   

ASSURANCE

The Board has received reasonable assurance from the Managing Director and the Chief Financial Officer that 
the Group’s risk management and internal control system is operating adequately and effectively, in all material 
aspects, based on the risk management and internal control system of the Group. 

CONCLUSION

The Board and Management are committed to operating a sound system of internal control and will continue to  
be reviewed, updated and improved in line with changes in the operating environment. The Board also notes that 
no system of internal control can provide absolute assurance against the occurrence of losses, material errors,  
poor judgement in decision-making, fraud, human error or other irregularities.

The Board believes that, in the absence of any evidence to the contrary, the system of internal controls, including 
financial, operational; and compliance controls and risk management systems, maintained by the Group’s 
management and that was in place throughout the financial year and up to and as of the date of this report,  
is adequate to meet the needs of the Group in its current business environment.

This statement does not include the state of risk management and internal controls in jointly controlled entity  
and associate company which has not been dealt with as part of the Group.

This Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control is made in accordance with the resolution of the  
Board of Directors dated 28 February 2017.
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The Directors are required by the Companies Act, 2016 to prepare financial statements for each financial year  
in accordance with the applicable Approved Accounting Standards in Malaysia and give a true and fair view of  
the state of affairs of the Group and Company at the end of the financial year and of the results and cash flows  
of the Group and Company for the financial year.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors have:

•	 selected	suitable	accounting	policies	and	applied	them	consistently;
•	 made	judgements	and	estimates	that	are	reasonable	and	prudent;
•	 ensured	that	all	applicable	Approved	Accounting	Standards	in	Malaysia	have	been	followed;	and
•	 prepared	financial	statements	on	a	going	concern	basis	as	the	Directors	have	a	reasonable	expectation,	

having made enquiries, that the Group and Company have adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Company keeps accounting records, which discloses with 
reasonable accuracy the financial position of the Group and Company and which enable them to ensure that  
the financial statements comply with the Companies Act, 2016.

The Directors have overall responsibilities for taking the necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group  
to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

STATEMENT OF 
DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
in preparing the financial statements  



W T K HOLDINGS BERHAD (10141-M)  ANNUAL REPORT 2016 41

STATISTIC OF

SHAREHOLDINGS
as at 22 March 2017

42 Directors’ Report 

46 Statement by Directors 

46 Statutory Declaration 

47 Independent Auditors’ Report 

52 Statements of Profit or Loss and  
              Other Comprehensive Income 

54 Statements of Financial Position 

56 Statements of Changes in Equity 

59 Statements of Cash Flows 

62 Notes to the Financial Statements 

160 Supplementary Information 

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS



W T K HOLDINGS BERHAD (10141-M)  ANNUAL REPORT 201642

DIRECTORS’

REPORT

The directors hereby present their report together with the audited financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2016. 

Principal activities           
 
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.

The information on the name, place of incorporation, principal activities and percentage of issued capital held by 
the holding company in each subsidiary is as disclosed in Note 17 to the financial statements.

During the financial year, one of the subsidiaries’ name was changed from Biofield Plantations Sdn. Bhd. to WTK 
Corporate Management Sdn. Bhd. and thereafter changed its principal activities from investment holding and 
property rental to provision of management services and investment holding. The subsidiary commenced its 
business operation as management service provider on 1 October 2016.

There have been no significant changes in the nature of these principal activities during the financial year other than 
the changes as mentioned above.

Results of operations 

Group 
RM’000 

Company 
RM’000 

Profit from continuing operations 9,053 49,038
Loss from discontinued operation (10,615)  - 

(1,562) 49,038
Attributable to:
Owners of the Company 21 49,038
Non-controlling interests (1,583)  - 

(1,562) 49,038

In the opinion of the directors, the results of operations of the Group and of the Company during the financial year 
have not been substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature.

Dividends        
        
The amount of dividend paid by the Company since 31 December 2015 was as follows:

In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2015 as reported in the directors’ report of that year:
     

RM’000 
Final single-tier dividend of 4.98% on 481,344,552 ordinary shares of RM0.50  

each, declared on 3 June 2016 and paid on 5 July 2016 11,889

At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, a final single-tier dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 
December 2016, of 2.00 sen net per share on 481,344,552 ordinary shares, less shares bought back and held as 
treasury shares amounting to a dividend payable of approximately RM9,549,000 will be proposed for shareholders’ 
approval. The financial statements for the current financial year do not reflect this proposed dividend. Such 
dividend, if approved by the shareholders, will be accounted for in shareholders’ equity as an appropriation of 
retained earnings in the financial year ending 31 December 2017.
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DIRECTORS’

REPORT (cont’d)

Reserves and provisions

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year other than as disclosed 
in the financial statements.

Issue of shares and debentures

The Company has not issued any new shares or debentures during the financial year.

Directors

The directors of the Company in office during the financial year and during the period from the end of the financial 
year to the date of this report are:

Datuk Wong Kie Yik
Lt. General Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul Manap bin Ibrahim (rtd)
Dato’ Sri Patrick Wong Haw Yeong
Wong Kie Chie
Tham Sau Kien
Ting Soon Eng
Dr. Loh Leong Hua
Alfian Bin Mohamed Basir

In accordance with Article 96 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Dato’ Sri Patrick Wong Haw Yeong and Dr 
Loh Leong Hua retire by rotation from the Board at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and, being eligible, 
offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with the Article 95(f) of the Company’s Articles of Association, Lt. General Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul 
Manap bin Ibrahim (rtd) and Datuk Wong Kie Yik retire from the Board at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting 
and offer themselves for re-appointment.

Directors’ benefits

Neither at the end of the financial year, nor at any time during that year, did there subsist any arrangement to which 
the Company was a party, whereby the directors might acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in or 
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit (other 
than benefits included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by the directors 
or the fixed salary of a full-time employee of the Company as shown in Note 10 to the financial statements) by 
reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with any director or with a firm of which he is 
a member, or with a company in which he has a substantial financial interest, except as disclosed in Note 35 to the 
financial statements.

Indemnity and insurance for directors and officers

The Company maintains directors’ liability insurance for purposes of Section 289 of the Companies Act, 2016, 
throughout the year, which provides appropriate insurance cover for the directors of the Company. The amount of 
insurance premium paid during the year amounted to RM27,825.
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DIRECTORS’

REPORT (cont’d)

Directors’ interests

According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, the interests of directors in office at the end of the financial 
year in the shares of the Company and its related corporations during the financial year were as follows:
      

Number of ordinary shares in the Company
 Name of director As at 1.1.2016  Bought  Sold As at 31.12.2016

Direct Interest:
Datuk Wong Kie Yik 11,075,160 - (50,000) 11,025,160
Wong Kie Chie 13,117,524  -  - 13,117,524
Dato’ Sri Patrick Wong Haw Yeong 1,000,000  -  - 1,000,000
Alfian Bin Mohamed Basir 6,235,313  -  - 6,235,313

Indirect Interest:
Datuk Wong Kie Yik * 146,860,406 -  - 146,860,406
Wong Kie Chie * 146,860,406 -  - 146,860,406

* Deemed interested through W T K Realty Sdn. Bhd., Harbour-View Realty Sdn. Bhd. and Ocarina Development 
Sdn. Bhd. by virtue of Section 8(4)(c) of the Companies Act, 2016. 

By virtue of their interests in the shares of the Company, Datuk Wong Kie Yik and Wong Kie Chie are also deemed 
to have interest in the shares of all the subsidiaries of the Company to the extent the Company has an interest.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the other directors in office at the end of the financial year had any interest 
in the shares of the Company or its related corporations during the financial year.

Treasury shares

At the Annual General Meeting held on 3 June 2016, the Company obtained a renewal of shareholders’ mandate to 
purchase its own shares on Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

During the financial year, the Company repurchased a total of 20,000 of its issued ordinary shares of RM0.50 each 
from the open market at an average price of RM1.21 per share. The total consideration paid for the repurchase 
including transaction costs was RM24,000. The shares repurchased are being held as treasury shares in accordance 
with Section 127 of the Companies Act, 2016.

As at 31 December 2016, the Company held as treasury shares a total of 3,871,000 of its 481,344,552 issued 
ordinary shares. Such treasury shares are held at a carrying amount of RM8,156,195 and further details are 
disclosed in Note 32(c) to the financial statements.
        
Other statutory information

(a) Before the financial statements of the Group and of the Company were prepared, the directors took 
reasonable steps: 

(i) to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the 
making of provision for doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been 
written off and that adequate provision had been made for doubtful debts; and 

(ii) to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to be realised in the ordinary course of business 
including the value of current assets as shown in the accounting records of the Group and of the 
Company had been written down to an amount which the current assets might be expected so to 
realise.
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REPORT (cont’d)

Other statutory information (cont’d)

(b) At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render: 

(i) the amount written off for bad debts or the amount of the provision for doubtful debts in the financial 
statements of the Group and of the Company inadequate to any substantial extent; and 

(ii) the values attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the  
Company misleading. 

(c) At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which 
would render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and of the  
Company misleading or inappropriate. 

(d) At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this 
report or financial statements of the Group and of the Company which would render any amount stated  
in the financial statements misleading. 

(e) As at the date of this report, there does not exist: 
 

(i) any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the 
financial year which secures the liabilities of any other person; or 

(ii) any contingent liability of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the  
financial year. 

(f) In the opinion of the directors: 

(i) no contingent or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the 
period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which will or may affect the ability of the 
Group or of the Company to meet their obligations when they fall due; and 

(ii) no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval between the 
end of the financial year and the date of this report which is likely to affect substantially the results of 
the operations of the Group or of the Company for the financial year in which this report is made. 

Significant events

The significant events during the financial year are disclosed in Note 12, 16, 17, 18, 19 and 28 to the financial 
statements.

Auditors

The auditors, Deloitte PLT, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

Auditors’ remuneration

The amount receivable as remuneration by the auditors for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 is as 
disclosed in Note 8 to the financial statements.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the directors dated 29 March 2017.

Dato’ Sri Patrick Wong Haw Yeong      Lt. General Datuk Seri Panglima
          Abdul Manap bin Ibrahim (rtd)
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STATEMENT BY 

DIRECTORS
Pursuant to Section 251(2) of the Companies Act, 2016

We, Dato’ Sri Patrick Wong Haw Yeong and Lt. General Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul Manap bin Ibrahim (rtd), 
being two of the directors of W T K Holdings Berhad, do hereby state that, in the opinion of the directors, the 
accompanying financial statements set out on pages 52 to 159 are drawn up in accordance with Financial  
Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair 
view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2016 and of their financial 
performance and cash flows for the year then ended.

The supplementary information set out in Note 46, which is not part of the financial statements, is prepared in 
all material respects, in accordance with the Guidance on Special Matter No.1, Determination of Realised and 
Unrealised Profit or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing 
Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants ("MIA Guidance") and the directive of  
Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the directors dated 29 March 2017.

Dato’ Sri Patrick Wong Haw Yeong    Lt. General Datuk Seri Panglima 
                      Abdul Manap bin Ibrahim (rtd)

I, Ling Wang Chiok, being the officer primarily responsible for the financial management of W T K Holdings  
Berhad, do solemnly and sincerely declare that the accompanying financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company are in my opinion correct, and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be 
true and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the 
abovenamed Ling Wang Chiok at Kuala Lumpur, 
Wilayah Persekutuan on 29 March 2017    Ling Wang Chiok

Before me,

JAMILAH ISMAIL
Commissioner for Oath
Kuala Lumpur

STATUTORY 

DECLARATION
Pursuant to Section 251(1)(b) of the Companies Act, 2016
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INDEPENDENT 

AUDITORS’ REPORT
to the members of W T K Holdings Berhad (Incorporated in Malaysia)

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of W T K Holdings Berhad, which comprise the statements of financial 
position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2016, and the statements of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group and of 
the Company for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies, as set out on pages 52 to 159.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements of the Group and of the Company give a true and fair view of 
the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2016, and of their financial performance 
and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of 
the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards 
on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence and Other Ethical Responsibilities

We are independent of the Group and of the Company in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics, 
Conduct and Practice) of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“By Laws”) and the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”) and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the By-Laws and the IESBA Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters presented below are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance 
in our audit of the financial statements for the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matters Our audit performed and responses thereon

Useful lives of plant, machinery and equipment

The cost of plant, machinery and equipment for the 
timber division of the Group is depreciated on a  
straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated useful 
lives. The appropriate useful lives requires significant 
management estimate. The carrying amount of  
these assets as at 31 December 2016 is RM221 
million  which is set out in Note 14 to the financial  
statements. The estimation of the useful lives is 
further disclosed as part of the Group’s significant 
accounting judgments and estimates as set out in 
Note 3.2(a) to the financial statements. 

We have evaluated the management’s estimate of 
the Group timber division’s plant, machinery and  
equipment useful lives by considering the Group’s 
historical experience with the life span of the said  
assets and common life expectancies of those assets 
in the local timber industry.  
      
We have considered the adequacy of management’s 
disclosure in respect of reasonable possible changes 
to the estimation of the useful lives as set out in  
Note 3.2(a) to the financial statements. 
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INDEPENDENT 

AUDITORS’ REPORT (cont’d)
to the members of W T K Holdings Berhad (Incorporated in Malaysia)

Key Audit Matters (cont’d)

Key Audit Matters Our audit performed and responses thereon

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at 
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation 
of recoverable amount as represented by the value-
in-use of the cash generating units ("CGU") to which 
goodwill is allocated. Estimating a value-in-use 
amount requires management to make an estimate of 
the expected future cash flows from the CGU and also 
to select a suitable discount rate in order to calculate 
the present value of those cash flows.  
  
The carrying amount of goodwill as at 31 December 
2016 is RM24.2 million and an impairment loss of 
RM1.7 million is recognised in 2016 as set out in Note 
21 to the financial statements.

The estimation of the value-in-use of the cash-
generating units to which goodwill is allocated is 
further disclosed as part of the Group's significant 
accounting judegements and estimates as set out in 
Note 3.2(b) to the financial statements.

We have evaluated the arithmetic accuracy and the 
underlying data in management’s valuation models 
used to determine the recoverable amount of each 
CGU. 
    
We have challenged the assumptions underpinning 
the valuation models, including the discount rates 
used, long-term growth rate and cash flow forecasts. 
This was achieved through consultation with 
valuation specialists to critically assess the discount 
rate and long-term growth rates applied; assessment 
of the reasonableness of future cash flows forecast 
by comparison to historical performance and future 
outlook; and discussion with management.

We have considered the adequacy of management’s 
disclosures in respect of reasonable possible changes 
to assumptions used in the valuation models as set 
out in Note 3.2(b) to the financial statements.

Maturity of plantations

The Group determines that their oil palm plantations 
mature approximately three years from completion 
of field planting. During the immature phase, certain 
costs are eligible for capitalisation and are not subject 
to amortisation in accordance with the accounting 
standards and industry practice.

The estimation of maturity of oil palm plantations is 
further disclosed as part of the Group’s significant 
accounting judgements and estimates as set out in 
Note 3.2(g) to the financial statements.

We have evaluated management’s assessment of  
the period required for the Group’s oil palm plantations 
to reach maturity upon which it will commence 
commercial harvesting. This includes a comparison 
to other local oil palm plantations and industry peers.

We have evaluated management’s classification of  
the mature and maturing phases of the Group’s 
oil palm plantations by physically sighting the 
plantations, assessing the nature of expenditures 
incurred and enquiring with the appropriate finance 
and oil palm plantation estate personnel. We have 
also made comparison with past historical information 
on the date of completed field planting and the 
corresponding hectarage to ensure consistency with 
management’s assessment.
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AUDITORS’ REPORT (cont’d)
to the members of W T K Holdings Berhad (Incorporated in Malaysia)

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon
             
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 
management discussion and analysis, financial highlights, directors’ statement on corporate governance, audit 
committee report, statement on risk management and internal control, statement of directors’ responsibility 
in preparing the financial statements, directors’ report and statistic of shareholdings, but does not include the  
financial statements of the Group and of the Company and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company does not cover the other information  
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, our responsibility is to 
read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements of the Group and of the Company or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company that give a true and fair view in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of 
the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as the directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the Company that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, the directors are responsible for assessing 
the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the 
Group and the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternatives but to do so.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards 
on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
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AUDITORS’ REPORT (cont’d)
to the members of W T K Holdings Berhad (Incorporated in Malaysia)

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on 
Auditing, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify	and	assess	the	risks	of	material	misstatement	of	the	financial	statements	of	the	Group	and	of	the	
Company, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

•	 Obtain	an	understanding	of	internal	control	relevant	to	the	audit	in	order	to	design	audit	procedures	that	are	
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Group and of the Company’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate	the	appropriateness	of	accounting	policies	used	and	the	reasonableness	of	accounting	estimates	
and related disclosures made by the directors. 

•	 Conclude	on	the	appropriateness	of	the	directors’	use	of	the	going	concern	basis	of	accounting	and,	based	
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the 
related disclosures in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date 
of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group and the Company to 
cease to continue as a going concern. 

•	 Evaluate	 the	overall	 presentation,	 structure	and	content	of	 the	financial	 statements	of	 the	Group	and	of	
the Company, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

•	 Obtain	sufficient	appropriate	audit	evidence	regarding	the	financial	information	of	the	entities	or	business	
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial statements of the Group. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought 
to bear our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in 
the audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company of the current year and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law and regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter on when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.



W T K HOLDINGS BERHAD (10141-M)  ANNUAL REPORT 2016 51

INDEPENDENT 

AUDITORS’ REPORT (cont’d)
to the members of W T K Holdings Berhad (Incorporated in Malaysia)

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements        
     
In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, we also report the following:

(a) in our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act, to be kept by the 
Company and its subsidiaries of which we have acted as auditors, have been properly kept in accordance 
with the provisions of the Act;  

(b) we have considered the accounts and auditors’ reports of the subsidiaries, of which we have not acted as 
auditors, which are indicated in Note 17 to the financial statements, being financial statements that have 
been included in the consolidated financial statements; 

(c) we are satisfied that the accounts of the subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the financial  
statements of the Company are in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the 
preparation of the financial statements of the Group, and we have received satisfactory information and 
explanations as required by us for these purposes; and 

(d) the auditor’s reports on the accounts of the subsidiary companies did not contain any qualification or any 
adverse comment made under Section 174(3) of the Act. 

Other Reporting Responsibilities          
 
The supplementary information set out in Note 46 on page 160 is disclosed to meet the requirement of Bursa  
Malaysia Securities Berhad and is not part of the financial statements. The directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the supplementary information in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, “Determination 
of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad Listing Requirements”, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“MIA Guidance”) and the 
directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. In our opinion, the supplementary information is prepared, in all 
material respects, in accordance with the MIA Guidance and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

Other Matter

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 266 of  
the Companies Act, 2016 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other 
person for the contents of this report.

DELOITTE PLT (LLP0010145-LCA)
Chartered Accountants (AF0080)

WONG KING YU
Partner - 3194/06/17 (J)
Chartered Accountant

Kuching     
29 March 2017     
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STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

Group Company

Note
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
(Restated)

 2016
RM’000 

2015
RM’000

Continuing Operations
Revenue 4 689,669 683,413 60,805 15,895
Cost of sales 5 (583,284) (530,918)  -  - 

Gross profit 106,385 152,495 60,805 15,895
Other income 6 34,029 27,173 5,073 931
Other items of (expense)/income
Selling and distribution expenses (53,742) (53,672)  -  - 
Administrative and other expenses (39,827) (43,242) (15,287) (8,692)
Finance costs 7 (11,390) (10,970) (217) (549)
Share of results of associates (21,065) 1,097  -  - 

Profit before tax 8 14,390 72,881 50,374 7,585
Income tax expense 11 (5,337) (16,804) (1,336) (383)

Profit from continuing operations,  
net of tax 9,053 56,077 49,038 7,202

Discontinued Operation
(Loss)/Profit from discontinued operation,  

net of tax 12 (10,615) 2,473 - -

(Loss)/Profit for the year, net of tax (1,562) 58,550 49,038 7,202

Other comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income that  

may be reclassified to profit or loss  
in subsequent periods:

Net gain on available-for-sale financial assets
- Gain on fair value changes 88 4 61 44
- Transfer to profit or loss upon disposal (2) - (1) -

Foreign currency translation 538  3,451 - -

624 3,455 60 44
Other comprehensive income that will not be 

reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent 
periods:

Remeasurement gain on retirement benefit 
obligations 27 - - -

Other comprehensive income for the year, 
net of tax 651 3,455 60 44

Total comprehensive (loss)/income  
for the year (911) 62,005 49,098 7,246



W T K HOLDINGS BERHAD (10141-M)  ANNUAL REPORT 2016 53

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

Group Company

Note
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
(Restated)

 2016
RM’000 

2015
RM’000

(Loss)/Profit attributable to:
Owners of the Company 21 59,562 49,038 7,202
Non-controlling interests (1,583) (1,012)  -  - 

(1,562) 58,550 49,038 7,202

Total comprehensive (loss)/income  
attributable to:

Owners of the Company 672 63,017 49,098 7,246
Non-controlling interests (1,583) (1,012)  -  - 

(911) 62,005 49,098 7,246

Earnings per share attributable to    
owners of the Company (sen per share)
Basic 13 - 12.47

Earnings per share from continuing 
operations attributable to owners of  
the Company (sen per share)
Basic 13(a) 2.22 11.95

(Loss)/Earnings per share from    
discontinued operations attributable to 
owners of the Company (sen per share)

Basic 13(b) (2.22) 0.52

Net dividends (sen per share) 43 2.49 1.83

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF 

FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 31 December 2016

Group Company

Note
2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

ASSETS 

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 14 616,336 657,452 105 322
Prepaid land lease payments 15 33,000 34,000 - -
Investment properties 16 16,759 - 18,262 -
Investments in subsidiaries 17 - - 509,397 533,312
Investment in associates 18 50,517 71,214 - -
Investment in a joint venture 19 - 1,582 - -
Other investments 20 15,369 14,102 1,161 1,102
Intangible assets 21 56,214 64,093 - -
Biological assets 22 390,908 371,977 - -
Deferred tax assets 23 - 43  -  - 

1,179,103 1,214,463 528,925 534,736

Current assets
Prepaid land lease payments 15 1,000 1,000 - -
Inventories 24 147,994 156,669 - -
Trade and other receivables 25 142,061 119,225 36,560 41,879
Other current assets 26 11,143 14,162 72 162
Cash and bank balances 27 368,047 352,626 54,935 24,338

670,245 643,682 91,567 66,379
Assets classified as held for sale 28 - 14,483 -  - 

670,245 658,165 91,567 66,379

TOTAL ASSETS 1,849,348 1,872,628 620,492 601,115

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Retirement benefit obligations 29 181 257 - -
Loans and borrowings 30 146,952 167,851 32 66
Trade and other payables 31 129,495 87,668 5,321 23,604
Income tax payable 1,658 2,360 - -

278,286 258,136 5,353 23,670

Net current assets 391,959 400,029 86,214 42,709
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STATEMENTS OF 

FINANCIAL POSITION (cont’d)
as at 31 December 2016 

Group Company

Note
2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 23 69,912 76,251 558 17
Retirement benefit obligations 29 2,210 2,348 - -

Loans and borrowings 30 122,623 142,831 - 32

194,745 221,430 558 49

TOTAL LIABILITIES 473,031 479,566 5,911 23,719

Net assets 1,376,317 1,393,062 614,581 577,396

Equity attributable to owners  
of the Company

Share capital 32 240,672 240,672 240,672 240,672
Share premium 32 68,674 68,674 68,674 68,674
Treasury shares 32 (8,156) (8,132) (8,156) (8,132)
Other reserves 33 6,466 5,842 316 256

Retained earnings 34 1,059,556 1,071,366 313,075 275,926

1,367,212 1,378,422 614,581 577,396

Non-controlling interests 9,105 14,640 - -

TOTAL EQUITY 1,376,317 1,393,062 614,581 577,396

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1,849,348 1,872,628 620,492 601,115

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF 

CASH FLOWS
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

Group Company

Note
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

Operating activities
Profit before tax from continuing operations 14,390 72,881 50,374 7,585
(Loss)/Profit before tax from discontinued 

operations (9,836) 2,991 - -

4,554 75,872 50,374 7,585
Adjustments for:

Accretion of interest on Redeemable  
Convertible Preference Shares 6 (1,182) (1,339) - -

Allowance for impairment of financial 
assets:
- trade receivables 8 7 4,288  -  - 
- other receivables 8 - 5,672  -  - 

Amortisation:
- timber rights 8  6,154  6,154  -  - 
- prepaid land lease payments 8  1,000  1,000  -  - 

Bad debts written off 8  2 - 2 -
Depreciation:  

-  property, plant and equipment 8 40,141 39,505 116 126
- investment properties 8 126 194 123 8

Dividend income from: 
- investment in Redeemable  

Convertible Preference Shares 4 - (5,315) - -
- investment securities 4,6 (34) (146) (24) (24)
- subsidiaries 4 - - (59,485) (15,046)

Impairment losses on:
- investments in subsidiaries 8 - - 8,832 4,100
- intangible asset 8 1,725 2,308 - -

Interest expense 7 11,433 11,102 217 549
Interest income 4,6 (10,160) (5,843) (1,296) (825)
Inventories written down to  

net realisable value 8 4,626 17 - -
Inventories written off 8 20 470 - -
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of:

- available-for-sale financial assets 6 (1) - (1) -
- investment properties 6 (6,550) (9,902) - (594)
- property, plant and equipment 6,8 517 177 - -
- a subsidiary 6,12 9,473 - (362) -

Property, plant and equipment  
written off 8 144 212 12  - 

Retirement benefit obligations 9 175 213 -  - 
Bad debts recovered 6 (303) (10) -  - 
Reversal of impairment losses on: 

- receivables 6 (1,764) (264) - (172)
- inventories 6 (25) (31)  - -

Reversal of deferred contingent 
consideration 6 (4,590) - (4,590)  - 

Share of results of associates 21,065 (1,097) -  - 
Net unrealised gain on foreign exchange 6,8 (407) (2,191) -  - 

Total adjustments 71,592 45,174 (56,456) (11,878)
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STATEMENTS OF 

CASH FLOWS (cont’d)
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

Group Company

Note
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

Operating activities (cont’d) 

Operating profit/(loss) before   
   working capital changes 76,146 121,046 (6,082) (4,293)

Changes in working capital:
Inventories (11,389) 23,176 - -
Receivables (23,826) (25,684) 5,417 1,530
Payables 52,369 1,505 (13,907) 388
Land premium payable - (424) - -

Other current assets 90 677 3 (3)

Cash flows from/(used in) operations 93,390 120,296 (14,569) (2,378)
Income taxes paid (10,111) (16,528) (708) (523)
Interest paid (16,821) (19,482) (3) (8)
Interest received 10,160 5,843 1,296 825

Payment of retirement benefit 29 (362) (147)  - -

Net cash from/(used in)  
operating activities 76,256 89,982 (13,984) (2,084)

Investing activities
Additional investments in subsidiaries (144) - (144) (7,487)
Addition of biological assets (10,727) (20,409) - -
(Increase)/Decrease in fixed deposits 

pledged to licensed financial institutions (2) 322  -  - 
Purchase of:

- investment properties A (25) - - -
- property, plant and equipment 14(b) (27,672) (12,433) (11) (8)

Proceeds from disposal of:
- available-for-sale financial assets 5 - 2 -
- investment properties B 19,561 2,098 - 242
- property, plant and equipment C 1,888 623 - -

Net dividend received from:
- subsidiaries - - 41,100 15,046
- investment securities 34 146 24 24

Net cash inflow/proceeds from disposal  
of a subsidiary 12 12,307 - 15,589 -

Subscription of shares in an associate (368) - - -

Net cash (used in)/from  
investing activities (5,143) (29,653) 56,560 7,817
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STATEMENTS OF 

CASH FLOWS (cont’d)
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

Group Company

Note
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

Financing activities
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (2,130) (57) - -
Dividends paid to owners of the Company 43 (11,889) (8,738) (11,889) (8,738)
Drawdown of term loans 9,895 16,251 - -
Drawdown of trade financing facilities 164,172 302,025 - -
Purchase of treasury shares 32(c) (24) (21) (24) (21)
Repayment of finance leases (2,918) (4,274) (66) (102)
Repayment of term loans (27,536) (15,933) - -
Repayment of trade financing facilities (179,389) (274,534) - -
Net cash (used in)/from  

financing activities (49,819) 14,719 (11,979) (8,861)

Net increase/(decrease) in  
cash and cash equivalents 21,294 75,048 30,597 (3,128)

Effects of exchange rate changes (176) 2,924 - -

Net cash and cash equivalents  
at beginning of year 323,452 245,480 24,338 27,466

Net cash and cash equivalents  
at end of year 27 344,570 323,452 54,935 24,338

Notes to Statements of Cash Flows

Group Company
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

A. Purchase of investment properties
Investment properties were acquired  

by the following means:
Total purchase consideration 25 - 18,385 -
Less: Set-off with dividend income from  

a subsidiary (Note 16(b)) - - (18,385) -
25 - -  - 

B. Proceeds from disposal of investment 
  properties

Investment properties were disposed by the 
following means:

Total proceeds (Note 16(a)) 21,033 29,967 - 3,454
Less: Increase in receivables - (27,869) - (3,212)
Less: Deposit paid (Note 31(b)) (1,472) - - -

19,561 2,098 - 242
C. Proceeds from disposal of property, 
  plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment were disposed  
by the following means:

Total proceeds 1,888 623 100 -
Less: Increase in receivables - - (100) -

1,888 623 - -

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

1. Corporate information           
 

 The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia, and is listed on 
the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The registered office of the Company is located at Lot 
No. 25(AB), 25th Floor, UBN Tower, No. 10, Jalan P. Ramlee, 50250 Kuala Lumpur. 

 The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. 

 The information on the name, place of incorporation, principal activities and percentage of issued capital 
held by the holding company in each subsidiary is as disclosed in Note 17 to the financial statements. 

 During the financial year, one of the subsidiaries’ name was changed from Biofield Plantations Sdn. Bhd. 
to WTK Corporate Management Sdn. Bhd. and thereafter changed its principal activities from investment 
holding and property rental to provision of management services and investment holding. The subsidiary 
commenced its business operation as management service provider on 1 October 2016. 

 There have been no significant changes in the nature of these principal activities during the financial year 
other than the changes as mentioned above. 

 The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution 
of the directors on 29 March 2017. 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies        
    
2.1 Basis of preparation 
         
 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance with 

Financial Reporting Standards ("FRSs") and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. 
At the beginning of the current financial year, the Group and the Company adopted new and revised 
FRSs which are mandatory for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016 as described 
more fully in Note 2.2. 

 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared on the historical cost 
basis, unless otherwise indicated in the summary of accounting policies below. 

 The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (RM) and all values are rounded to the 
nearest thousand (RM’000) except when otherwise indicated. 

2.2 Changes in accounting policies 
         
 The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except as 

follows: 

 In the current financial year, the Group and the Company have adopted a number of amendments 
to FRSs issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”) that are effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016 as follows: 

 FRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts
 Amendments to FRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
   and FRS 128  Associate or Joint Venture

Amendments to FRS 10,  Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation and 
FRS 12 and FRS 128   Exception
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NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (cont’d)

 Amendments to FRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations
Amendments to FRS 101 Disclosure Initiative
Amendments to FRS 116 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and

and FRS 138  Amortisation
Amendments to FRS 127 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements
Amendments to FRSs Annual Improvements to FRSs 2012-2014 Cycle

 The adoption of the above Standards and Amendments to FRSs did not have any effect on the 
financial performance of the Group and of the Company.

2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective

 At the date of authorisation for issue of these financial statements, the Group and the Company 
have not adopted the following new and revised FRSs and Issues Committee Interpretations (“IC 
Interpretations”) that have been issued but not yet effective: 

 FRS 9  Financial Instruments2     
Amendments to FRS 10  Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its      
   and FRS 128       Associate or Joint Venture3

 Amendments to FRS 2  Clarification and Measurement of Share-based Transactions2

 Amendments to FRS 4  Applying MFRS 9 Financial Instruments with MFRS 4 Insurance 
         Contracts2  
 Amendments to FRS 107  Disclosure Initiative1 
 Amendments to FRS 112   Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses1 
 Amendments to FRS 140   Transfer of Investment Property2 
 IC Interpretation 22   Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration2

 Amendments to FRSs  Annual Improvements to FRSs 2014-2016 Cycle1or2 

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017, with earlier application 
permitted.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with earlier application 
permitted.

3 Effective date deferred to a date to be determined and announced, with earlier application still 
permitted.

 The directors anticipate that the abovementioned Standards and IC Interpretations will be adopted in 
the financial statements of the Group and of the Company when they become effective and that the 
adoption of these Standards will have no impact on the amounts reported in the financial statements 
of the Group and of the Company in the period of initial application except as discussed below:

 FRS 9 Financial Instruments 

 FRS 9 issued in November 2009 introduced new requirements for the classification and measurement 
of financial assets. FRS 9 was subsequently amended in October 2010 to include requirements for the 
classification and measurement of financial liabilities and for derecognition, and in November 2013 
to include the new requirements for general hedge accounting. Another revised version of FRS 9 was 
issued in July 2014 mainly to include a) impairment requirements for financial assets and b) limited 
amendments to the classification and measurement requirements by introducing a ‘fair value through 
other comprehensive income’ (“FVTOCI”) measure category for certain simple debt instruments.
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NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective (cont’d)

 FRS 9 Financial Instruments (cont’d)

•	 all	 recognised	financial	 assets	 that	 are	within	 the	 scope	of	 FRS	139	Financial	 Instruments:	
Recognition and Measurement are required to be subsequently measured at amortised cost or 
fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are held within a business model whose objective 
is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding are generally measured at 
amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods. Debt investments that are held 
within a business model whose objective is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows 
and selling financial assets, and that have contractual terms of the financial assets give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding, are measured at FVTOCI. All other debt investments and equity 
investments are measured at their fair values at the end of subsequent accounting periods. In 
addition, under FRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes 
in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held for trading) in other comprehensive 
income, with only dividend income generally recognised in profit or loss.

Key requirements of FRS 9: 

•	 with	regard	to	the	measurement	of	financial	liabilities	designated	as	at	fair	value	through	profit	
or loss, FRS 9 requires that the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that 
is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is presented in other comprehensive 
income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other 
comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. 
Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk are not subsequently 
reclassified to profit or loss. Under FRS 139, the entire amount of the change in the fair value 
of the financial liability designated as at fair value through profit or loss was presented in profit 
or loss.

•	 in	relation	to	the	impairment	of	financial	assets,	FRS	9	reflects	an	expected	credit	loss	model,	
as opposed to an incurred credit loss model under FRS 139. The expected credit loss model 
requires an entity to account for expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit 
losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In other 
words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are 
recognised.

•	 the	new	general	hedge	accounting	requirements	retain	the	three	types	of	hedge	accounting	
mechanisms currently available in FRS 139. Under FRS 9, greater flexibility has been introduced 
to the types of transactions eligible for hedge accounting, specifically broadening the types of 
instruments that qualify for hedging instruments and the types of risk components of non-
financial items that are eligible for hedge accounting. In addition, the effectiveness test has 
been overhauled and replaced with the principle of an ‘economic relationship’. Retrospective 
assessment of hedge effectiveness is also no longer required. Enhanced disclosure requirements 
about an entity’s risk management activities have also been introduced. 

The directors of the Group and of the Company anticipate that the application of FRS 9 in the future 
may have a material impact on amounts reported in respect of the Group’s and of the Company’s 
financial assets and financial liabilities. However, it is not practical to provide a reasonable estimate of 
the effect of FRS 9 until the Group and the Company undertake a detailed review.
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NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective (cont’d)

Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards

On 19 November 2011, MASB has issued a new MASB approved accounting framework, the  
Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards Framework (“MFRS Framework”), a fully-IFRS compliant 
framework. Entities other than private entities shall apply the MFRS Framework for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2012, with the exception of Transitioning Entities (“TEs”).

TEs, being entities within the scope of MFRS 141 Agriculture and/or IC Interpretation 15: Agreements 
for the Construction of Real Estate, including its parents, significant investors and venturers were 
allowed to defer the adoption of MFRS Framework until such time as mandated by MASB. On 
2 September 2014, with the issuance of MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and 
Amendments to MFRS 116 and MFRS 141 Agriculture: Bearer Plants, the MASB announced that 
TEs which have chosen to continue with the FRS Framework are now required to adopt the MFRS 
Framework latest by 1 January 2017. However, following the announcement by MASB on 28 October 
2015, the effective date of MFRS 15 is now deferred to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2018.

The Group and the Company, being TEs, have availed themselves of this transitional arrangement 
and will continue to apply FRSs in the preparation of its financial statements. Accordingly, the 
Group and the Company will be required to prepare its first set of MFRS financial statements for the  
financial year ending 31 December 2018.

The directors anticipate that the adoption of the other MFRSs will have no material impact on the 
financial statements in the period of initial application except as discussed below:

MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

MFRS 15 establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue  
arising from contracts with customers. MFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition 
guidance including MFRS 118 Revenue, MFRS 111 Construction Contracts and the related 
interpretations when it becomes effective.

The core principle of MFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of 
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the 
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the Standard 
introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer. 
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract. 
Step 3: Determine the transaction price.
Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract.
Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

Under MFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. 
when ‘control’ of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred 
to the customer. Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in MFRS 15 to deal with specific 
scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by MFRS 15.



W T K HOLDINGS BERHAD (10141-M)  ANNUAL REPORT 201666

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective (cont’d)

Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (cont’d)

MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (cont’d)

The directors of the Group and of the Company anticipate that the application of MFRS 15 in the 
future may have a material impact on the amounts reported and disclosures made in the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of 
the effect of MFRS 15 until the Group and the Company perform a detailed review.

MFRS 16 Leases

MFRS 16 specifies how a MFRS reporter will recognise, measure, present and disclose leases. 
The standard provides a single lessee accounting model, requiring lessees to recognise assets and 
liabilities for all leases unless the lease term is 12 months or less or the underlying asset has a low 
value. Lessors continue to classify leases as operating or finance, with MFRS 16’s approach to lessor 
accounting substantially unchanged from its predecessor, MFRS 117.

At lease commencement, a lessee will recognise a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. The right-
of-use asset is treated similarly to other non-financial assets and depreciated accordingly and the 
liability accrues interest. The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease 
payments payable over the lease term, discounted at the rate implicit in the lease if that can be 
readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the lessees shall use their incremental 
borrowing rate.

The directors of the Group and of the Company anticipate that the application of these  
amendments will have an impact on these financial statements. However, it is not practicable to 
provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of MFRS 16 until the Group and the Company perform a 
detailed review.

2.4 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and 
its subsidiaries as at the reporting date. The financial statements of the subsidiaries used in the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements are prepared for the same reporting date as 
the Company. Consistent accounting policies are applied for like transactions and events in similar 
circumstances. 

The Company controls an investee if and only if the Company has all the following:

(i) Power over the investee (i.e existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant 
activities of the investee);

(ii) Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its investment with the investee; and

(iii) The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

2.4 Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, the Company considers 
the following in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to 
give it power over the investee:

(i) The size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings 
of the other vote holders;

(ii) Potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;

(iii) Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(iv) Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, 
the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, 
including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Subsidiaries are consolidated when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases 
when the Company loses control of the subsidiary. All intra-group balances, income and expenses 
and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full.

Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interests even if that results in a deficit 
balance.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing 
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the 
Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative 
interests in the subsidiaries. The resulting difference is recognised directly in equity and attributed to 
owners of the Company.

 Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition 
is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value 
and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. The Group elects on a transaction-by-
transaction basis whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree either at fair value 
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Transaction costs incurred are 
expensed and included in administrative expenses. 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at 
the acquisition date. Subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration which is 
deemed to be an asset or liability, will be recognised in accordance with FRS 139 either in profit or 
loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is classified as 
equity, it will not be remeasured. Subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. In instances 
where the contingent consideration does not fall within the scope of FRS 139, it is measured in 
accordance with the appropriate FRS.

NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

2.4 Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

 Business combinations (cont’d)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for 
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic 
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of 
embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s 
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date 
through profit or loss.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration 
transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling interests over the net identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed. If this consideration is lower than fair value of the net assets of the 
subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised in profit or loss. The accounting policy for goodwill 
is set out in Note 2.12(a).

2.5 Subsidiaries

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at 
cost less impairment losses. On disposal of such investments, the difference between net disposal 
proceeds and their carrying amounts is included in profit or loss.

2.6 Associates and joint ventures
 
An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the 
power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control 
or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement 
have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing 
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require 
the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

On acquisition of an investment in associate or joint venture, any excess of the cost of investment 
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is 
recognised as goodwill and included in the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the 
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of investment 
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss for the period in which the investment 
is acquired.

An associate or a joint venture is equity accounted for from the date on which the investee becomes 
an associate or a joint venture.

NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

2.6 Associates and joint ventures (cont’d)
 
Under the equity method, on initial recognition the investment in an associate or a joint venture is 
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognise the Group’s share 
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or a joint venture after the date 
of acquisition. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate or a joint venture equal or exceeds 
its interest in the associate or joint venture, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it 
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint 
venture.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the Group and 
its associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s financial statements only to the extent of 
unrelated investors’ interests in the associate or joint venture. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless 
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.

The financial statements of the associates and joint ventures are prepared as of the same reporting 
date as the Company. Where necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line 
with those of the Group.

After application of the equity method, the Group applies FRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any additional impairment loss 
with respect to its net investment in the associate or joint venture. When necessary, the entire carrying 
amount of the investment is tested for impairment in accordance with FRS 136 Impairment of Assets 
as a single asset, by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less 
cost to sell) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. Reversal 
of an impairment loss is recognised to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment 
subsequently increases.

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in associates and joint ventures are 
accounted for at cost less impairment losses. On disposal of such investments, the difference 
between net disposal proceeds and their carrying amounts is included in profit or loss.

2.7 Transactions with non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to 
owners of the Company, and is presented separately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income and within the equity in the consolidated statement of financial 
position, separately from equity attributable to owners of the Company.

Changes in the Company owner’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of 
control are accounted for as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying amounts of the 
controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interest in 
the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted 
and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed 
to owners of the Company.

NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

2.8 Foreign currency

(a) Functional and presentation currency

 The individual financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (RM), which is also the 
Company’s functional currency.

(b) Foreign currency transactions

 Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of the 
Company and its subsidiaries and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies 
at exchange rates approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the 
reporting date. Non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at 
historical cost are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. 
Non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies measured at fair value are translated 
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

 Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary 
items at the reporting date are recognised in profit or loss except for exchange differences 
arising on monetary items that form part of the Group’s net investment in foreign operations, 
which are recognised initially in other comprehensive income and accumulated under foreign 
currency translation reserve in equity. The foreign currency translation reserve is reclassified 
from equity to profit or loss of the Group on disposal of the foreign operation.

 Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items carried at fair value 
are included in profit or loss for the period except for the differences arising on the translation 
of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in equity. 
Exchange differences arising from such non-monetary items are also recognised directly in 
equity.

 The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into RM at the rate of exchange 
ruling at the reporting date and income and expenses are translated at exchange rates at the 
dates of the transactions. The exchange differences arising on the translation are taken directly 
to other comprehensive income. On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under foreign currency 
translation reserve relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the profit or loss.

 Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign operations are treated 
as assets and liabilities of the foreign operations and are recorded in the functional currency of 
the foreign operations and translated at the closing rate at the reporting date.

NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

2.9 Property, plant and equipment 

 All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. The cost of an item of property, 
plant and equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that future economic 
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. 

 Subsequent to recognition, property, plant and equipment except for freehold land are measured at 
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. When significant parts of 
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced in intervals, the Group recognises such 
parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciation, respectively. Likewise, when a 
major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment 
as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are 
recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

 Freehold land has an unlimited useful life and therefore is not depreciated. Long and short-term 
leasehold land are amortised over its remaining lease term. Construction in progress are also not 
depreciated as these assets are not available for use. 

 Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment is provided for on a straight-line basis to write off 
the cost of each asset to its residual value over the estimated useful life, at the following annual rates:

Factory buildings and improvements  2% - 20% 
Furniture, fittings, equipment, renovations and installations  3.33% - 20% 
Plant, machinery, moulds and loose tools  1.67% - 33.3% 
Motor vehicles  4% - 20% 
Road, bridges and wharf  2% - 10% 

 The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

 The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end, and 
adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on derecognition of the asset is 
included in the profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised.

2.10 Reclassification to investment property

 When the use of a property changes from owner-occupied to investment property, the property is 
remeasured to fair value and reclassified accordingly. Any gain arising on this remeasurement is 
recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it reverses a previous impairment loss on the specific 
property, with any remaining gain recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the 
revaluation reserve. Any loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

2.11 Investment properties

 Investment properties are properties which are held either to earn rental income or for capital 
appreciation of the Group. 

 Properties which are occupied by the companies in the Group are accounted for as property, plant 
and equipment under Note 2.9. 

 Investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, 
consistent with the accounting policy for property, plant and equipment as stated in Note 2.9. 

 Depreciation is charged to the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 
14 to 33 years. 

 Upon the disposal of an investment property, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and 
the carrying amount is recognised in the profit or loss. 

2.12 Intangible assets

(a) Goodwill

Goodwill is initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost 
less accumulated impairment losses. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired is allocated, from the acquisition date, 
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies 
of the combination. 

The cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment 
annually and whenever there is an indication that the cash-generating unit may be impaired, by 
comparing the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit, including the allocated goodwill, 
with the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit. Where the recoverable amount of 
the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised in 
the profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not reversed in subsequent 
periods.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that 
cash-generating unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is 
included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal 
of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative 
fair values of the operations disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign operation on or after 
1 January 2006 are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operations and are recorded 
in the functional currency of the foreign operations and translated in accordance with the 
accounting policy set out in Note 2.8. 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments which arose on acquisitions of foreign operation before 1 
January 2006 are deemed to be assets and liabilities of the Company and are recorded in RM 
at the rates prevailing at the date of acquisition.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

2.12 Intangible assets (cont’d)

(b) Other intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured initially at cost. The cost of intangible 
assets acquired in a business combination is their fair value as at the date of acquisition. 
Following initial acquisition, intangible assets are measured at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised over the estimated useful lives and 
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be 
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method are reviewed at least at each 
financial year-end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption 
of future economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortisation 
period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The 
amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in profit or loss. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives or not yet available for use are tested for impairment 
annually, or more frequently if the events and circumstances indicate that the carrying value 
may be impaired either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets 
are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is reviewed 
annually to determine whether the useful life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, 
the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis. 

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in 
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised. 

(i) Timber rights 

This represents initial cost incurred in obtaining the right to fell, extract and harvest 
merchantable timber logs from the concession area granted under forest timber licence. 

Timber rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. 

Amortisation is charged to the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the unexpired 
period of the timber licences.

2.13 Prepaid land lease payments 

Prepaid land lease payments are initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, prepaid land 
lease payments are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses. The prepaid land lease payments are amortised over their lease terms.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

2.14 Biological assets

(a) Oil palm plantation expenditure

Plantation expenditure incurred on land clearing, upkeep of immature oil palms, administrative 
expenses and interest incurred during the pre-cropping period are capitalised under biological 
assets and are not amortised. Upon maturity, all subsequent maintenance expenditure is 
charged to the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

Replanting expenditure incurred on similar crops on formerly developed areas is chargeable to 
the profit or loss in the financial year in which it is incurred. 

(b) Reforestation (tree planting) expenditure

Reforestation (tree planting) is stated at cost less impairment, if any. 

Expenditure on planted forest in the form of planting and upkeep of trees, administrative 
expenses and interest incurred up to the time of harvest is capitalised in the statements of 
financial position and will only be charged to profit or loss upon harvesting based on the areas 
harvested.

2.15 Discontinued operation

 A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business, the operations and cash flows of 
which can be clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which: 

•	 represents	a	separate	major	line	of	business	or	geographic	area	of	operations;	

•	 is	part	of	a	single	co-ordinated	plan	to	dispose	of	a	separate	major	line	of	business	or	geographic	
area of operations; or 

•	 is	a	subsidiary	acquired	exclusively	with	a	view	to	re-sale.	

 Classification as a discontinued operation occurs at the earlier of disposal or when the operation 
meets the criteria to be classified as held-for-sale.

 When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the comparative statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income is re-presented as if the operation had been discontinued from 
the start of the comparative year.

2.16 Impairment of non-financial assets

 The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any such indication exists, or when an annual impairment assessment for an asset is 
required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

2.16 Impairment of non-financial assets (cont’d)

 An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in 
use. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there 
are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units (“CGU”)).

 In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Where the carrying 
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is written down to its recoverable 
amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of a CGU or groups of CGUs are allocated first to 
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to those units or groups of units and then, to 
reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit or groups of units on a pro-rata basis. 

 Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss except for assets that are previously revalued 
where the revaluation was taken to other comprehensive income. In this case the impairment is also 
recognised in other comprehensive income up to the amount of any previous revaluation. 

 An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously 
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. A previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the 
asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase cannot exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been 
recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is measured at 
revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. Impairment loss on 
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

2.17 Financial assets

 Financial assets are recognised in the statements of financial position when, and only when, the 
Group and the Company become a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. 

 When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of 
financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. 

 The Group and the Company determine the classification of their financial assets at initial recognition, 
and the categories include financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, 
held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale financial assets.

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

 Financial assets are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss if they are 
held for trading or are designated as such upon initial recognition. Financial assets held for 
trading are derivatives (including separated embedded derivatives) or financial assets acquired 
principally for the purpose of selling in the near term. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

2.17 Financial assets (cont’d)

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (cont’d)

 Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are 
measured at fair value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in 
profit or loss. Net gains or net losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss do 
not include exchange differences, interest and dividend income. Exchange differences, interest 
and dividend income on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised 
separately in profit or loss as part of other losses or other income. 

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss could be presented as current or non-
current. Financial assets that are held primarily for trading purposes are presented as current 
whereas financial assets that are not held primarily for trading purposes are presented as 
current or non-current based on the settlement date.

(b) Loans and receivables 

 Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market 
are classified as loans and receivables. 

 
 Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using 

the effective interest method less any impairment. Interest income is recognised by applying 
the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest 
would be immaterial. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and 
receivables are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process. 

 Loans and receivables are classified as current assets, except for those having maturity dates 
later than 12 months after the reporting date which are classified as non-current.

(c) Held-to-maturity investments 

 Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified as held-
to-maturity when the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold the investment to 
maturity. 

 Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when 
the held-to-maturity investments are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation 
process. 

 Held-to-maturity investments are classified as non-current assets, except for those having 
maturity within 12 months after the reporting date which are classified as current. 

NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016



W T K HOLDINGS BERHAD (10141-M)  ANNUAL REPORT 2016 77

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

2.17 Financial assets (cont’d)

(d) Available-for-sale financial assets 

 Available-for-sale financial assets are financial assets that are designated as available for sale 
or are not classified in any of the three preceding categories. 

 After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value. Any gains 
or losses from changes in fair value of the financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive 
income, except that impairment losses, foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary 
instruments and interest calculated using the effective interest method are recognised in profit 
or loss. 

The cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified 
from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment when the financial asset is 
derecognised. Interest income calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in 
profit or loss. Dividends on an available-for-sale equity instrument are recognised in profit or 
loss when the Group’s and the Company’s right to receive payment is established. 

Investments in equity instruments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured 
at cost less impairment loss. 

Available-for-sale financial assets are classified as non-current assets unless they are expected 
to be realised within 12 months after the reporting date. 

(e) Effective interest method 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset 
and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the 
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees on points paid or 
received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other 
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset, or (where appropriate) 
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. 

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those 
financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss.

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset 
has expired. On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying 
amount and the sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been 
recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.

Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets 
within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace concerned. All 
regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised or derecognised on the trade date 
i.e., the date that the Group and the Company commit to purchase or sell the asset.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

2.18 Impairment of financial assets

 The Group and the Company assess at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence 
that a financial asset is impaired.

(a) Trade and other receivables and other financial assets carried at amortised cost

 To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets 
has been incurred, the Group and the Company consider factors such as the probability of 
insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and default or significant delay in 
payments. For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets that 
are assessed not to be impaired individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on 
a collective basis based on similar risk characteristics. Objective evidence of impairment for 
a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s and the Company’s past experience of 
collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the 
average credit period and observable changes in national or local economic conditions that 
correlate with default on receivables. 

 If any such evidence exists, the amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The impairment loss is 
recognised in profit or loss. 

 The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all 
financial assets with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced 
through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable becomes uncollectible, it is 
written off against the allowance account. 

 If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of 
the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. The amount of reversal is 
recognised in profit or loss.

(b) Unquoted equity securities carried at cost 

 If there is objective evidence (such as significant adverse changes in the business environment 
where the issuer operates, probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the 
issuer) that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at cost has been incurred, the 
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for 
a similar financial asset. Such impairment losses are not reversed in subsequent periods.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

2.18 Impairment of financial assets (cont’d)

(c) Available-for-sale financial assets 

 Significant or prolonged decline in fair value below cost, significant financial difficulties of the 
issuer or obligor, and the disappearance of an active trading market are considerations to 
determine whether there is objective evidence that investment securities classified as available-
for-sale financial assets are impaired.

 If an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between 
its cost (net of any principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any 
impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss, is transferred from equity to profit or 
loss. 

 Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments are not reversed in profit or loss in the 
subsequent periods. Increase in fair value, if any, subsequent to impairment loss is recognised 
in other comprehensive income. For available-for-sale debt investments, impairment losses are 
subsequently reversed in profit or loss if an increase in the fair value of the investment can be 
objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss in profit or 
loss. 

2.19 Fair value measurement

 The Group and the Company measure financial instruments at fair value at the end of each reporting 
period. Also, fair values of financial instruments measured at amortised cost are disclosed in Note 39. 

 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is 
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place 
either: 

- In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 

- In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability 

 The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group and the Company. 
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic 
best interest.

 A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to 
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another 
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

2.19 Fair value measurement (cont’d) 

 The Group and the Company use valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and 
for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable 
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 

 All assets and liabilities for which fair values is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that 
is significant to the fair value measurements as a whole: 

- Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

- Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is directly or indirectly observable

- Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable

 For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the 
Group and the Company determine whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy 
by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

 For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group and the Company have determined classes of 
assets and liabilities on the basis of nature, characteristics and risks of the assets or liability and the 
level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

2.20 Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and bank balances in the statements of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand 
and short-term deposits which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

 For the purpose of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and  
short-term deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts and fixed deposits 
pledged to licensed financial institutions as they are considered an integral part of the Group’s cash 
management. 

 The Group and the Company adopt the indirect method in preparation of the statements of cash 
flows. 

2.21 Inventories

 Inventories are stated at lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs incurred in bringing the 
inventories to their present location and condition are accounted for as follows: 

- Raw materials: purchase costs at cost valued at either first-in-first-out or weighted average 
cost formula. 

- Finished goods and work-in-progress: cost of raw materials, direct labour, an appropriate 
proportion of fixed and variable factory overheads. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

2.21 Inventories (cont’d)

 Inventories are stated at lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs incurred in bringing the 
inventories to their present location and condition are accounted for as follows (cont’d):

- Consumable inventories are stated at cost and are valued at either first-in-first-out or weighted 
average cost formula. 

- Properties held for resale (vacant lots) are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
Cost is determined on the specific identification basis and includes costs of land, construction 
and appropriate development overheads. 

 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less estimated 
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

2.22 Provisions

 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the 
obligation and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

 Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it 
is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, 
the provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted 
using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When 
discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a 
finance cost. 

2.23 Financial liabilities 

 Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered 
into and the definitions of a financial liability. 

 Financial liabilities, within the scope of FRS 139, are recognised in the statements of financial position 
when, and only when, the Group and the Company become a party to the contractual provisions 
of the financial instrument. Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss or other financial liabilities. 

(a) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading 
and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. 

 Financial liabilities held for trading include derivatives entered into by the Group and the 
Company that do not meet the hedge accounting criteria. Derivative liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value and subsequently stated at fair value, with any resultant gains or losses 
recognised in profit or loss. Net gains or losses on derivatives include exchange differences. 

 The Group and the Company have not designated any financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

2.23 Financial liabilities (cont’d) 

(b) Other financial liabilities 

 The Group’s and the Company’s other financial liabilities include trade payables, other payables 
and loans and borrowings. 

 Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value plus directly attributable transaction 
costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

 
 Loans and borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and 

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Borrowings are 
classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement 
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date. 

 For other financial liabilities, gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities 
are derecognised, and through the amortisation process.

 A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is extinguished. When an 
existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification 
is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the 
difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

2.24 Financial guarantee contracts 

 A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to 
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due. 

 Financial guarantee contracts are recognised initially as a liability at fair value, net of transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, financial guarantee contracts are recognised as income in 
profit or loss over the period of the guarantee. If the debtor fails to make payment relating to financial 
guarantee contract when it is due and the Group, as the issuer, is required to reimburse the holder 
for the associated loss, the liability is measured at the higher of the best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date and the amount initially recognised less 
cumulative amortisation.

2.25 Borrowing costs 

 Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly attributable 
to the acquisition, construction or production of that asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs 
commences when the activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and 
the expenditures and borrowing costs are incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised until the assets 
are substantially completed for their intended use or sale. 

 All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period they are incurred. Borrowing 
costs consist of interest and other costs that the Group and the Company incurred in connection with 
the borrowing of funds.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

2.26 Employee benefits 

(a) Short-term benefits 

 Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as an expense in 
the year in which the associated services are rendered by employees of the Group. Short-term 
accumulating compensated absences such as paid annual leave are recognised when services 
are rendered by employees that increase their entitlement to future compensated absences. 
Short-term non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave are recognised when 
the absences occur. 

(b) Defined contribution plans 

 The Group participates in the national pension schemes as defined by the laws of the countries 
in which it has operations. The Malaysian companies in the Group make contributions to the 
Employees’ Provident Fund ("EPF") in Malaysia, a defined contribution pension scheme. 
Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes are recognised as an expense in 
the period in which the related service is performed. The Group also contributes to EPF at 
3% above the statutory rate for certain eligible senior employees. A foreign subsidiary of the 
Group makes contributions to its country’s statutory pension scheme. Such contributions are 
recognised as an expense in the profit or loss as incurred. 

(c) Defined benefit plan 

 One of the subsidiaries of the Group operates an unfunded defined benefit retirement scheme 
for its eligible employees. Provision for the unfunded retirement benefit obligations is made in 
accordance with the terms stipulated in the Collective Agreement for all eligible employees. 
That benefit is discounted using the Projected Unit Credit Method in order to determine its 
present value. 

 Re-measurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses, excluding net interest, are 
recognised immediately in the statements of financial position with a corresponding debit or 
credit to retained earnings through other comprehensive income in the period in which they 
occur. 

 Re-measurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods. 

 Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss on the earlier of: 

- The date of the plan amendment or curtailment, and 

- The date the Group recognises restructuring-related costs 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

2.26 Employee benefits (cont’d) 

(c) Defined benefit plan (cont’d) 

 Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability. The 
Group recognised the following changes in the net defined benefit obligation in the statements 
of other comprehensive income:

- Net interest expense or income 

- Service costs comprising current service costs, past-service costs, gains and losses on 
curtailments and non-routine settlements 

2.27 Leases

(a) As lessee

 Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of the leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the 
leased asset or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Any initial direct 
costs are also added to the amount capitalised. Lease payments are apportioned between 
the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of 
interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged to profit or loss. 
Contingent rents, if any, are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred. 

 Leased assets are amortised over the estimated useful life of the asset. However, if there is 
no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the 
asset is amortised over the shorter of the estimated useful life and the lease term. 

 Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term. The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as 
a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

(b) As lessor 

 Leases where the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
asset are classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating 
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term 
on the same bases as rental income. The accounting policy for rental income is set out in Note 
2.28(c).

2.28 Revenue recognition 

 Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group 
and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration 
received or receivable. 

(a) Sale of goods 

 Revenue is recognised net of sales taxes and discounts upon the transfer of significant risks 
and rewards of ownership to the buyer. Revenue is not recognised to the extent where there 
are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due, associated costs or 
the possible return of goods.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

2.28 Revenue recognition (cont’d)

(b) Revenue from services 

 Revenue from services rendered is recognised net of service taxes and discounts as and when 
the services are performed. 

(c) Rental income 

 Rental income from investment properties is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of 
the leases. The aggregate cost of incentives provided to lessees are recognised as a reduction 
of rental income over the lease term on a straight-line basis. 

(d) Interest income 

 Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. 

(e) Dividend income 

 Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment is established. 

(f) Management and consulting fees 

 Management and consulting fees are recognised when services are rendered. 

(g) Carpark income 

 Revenue from carpark operation are recognised at the time of parking fees are collected. 

2.29 Income taxes 

(a) Current tax 

 Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from 
or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are 
those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 

 Current taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax relates to items 
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 

(b) Deferred tax 

 Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting 
date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial 
reporting purposes. 

 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except: 

- where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an 
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of 
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

2.29 Income taxes (cont’d)

(b) Deferred tax (cont’d)

 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except (cont’d):

- in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future. 

 Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of 
unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of 
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised except: 

- where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises 
from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 
taxable profit or loss; and 

- in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the 
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable 
future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can 
be utilised. 

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all 
or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed 
at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future 
taxable profit will allow the deferred tax assets to be utilised.  

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to 
the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

 Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit 
or loss. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity and deferred tax arising from a business 
combination is adjusted against goodwill on acquisition. 

 Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to 
set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same 
taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

2.30 Goods and Services Tax

 Goods and Services Tax (“GST”) is a consumption tax based on value-added concept. GST is imposed 
on goods and services at every production and distribution stage in the supply chain including 
importation of goods and services, at the applicable tax rate of 6%. Input GST that the Group and the 
Company paid on purchases of business inputs can be deducted from output GST. 

 Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except: 

- Where the GST incurred in a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the authority, 
in which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the assets or as part 
of the expense item as applicable; and 

- Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of GST included. 

 The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of 
receivables or payables in the statements of financial position.

2.31 Segment reporting 

 For management purposes, the Group is organised into operating segments based on their products 
and services which are independently managed by the respective segment managers responsible 
for the performance of the respective segments under their charge. The segment managers report 
directly to the Chief Operating Decision Maker, which in this case is the management of the Company 
who regularly review the segment results in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess 
the segment performance. Additional disclosures on each of these segments are shown in Note 42, 
including the factors used to identify the reportable segments and the measurement basis of segment 
information. 

2.32 Share capital and share issuance expenses 

 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group and 
the Company after deducting all of its liabilities. Ordinary shares are equity instruments. 

 Ordinary shares are recorded at the proceeds received, net of directly attributable incremental 
transaction costs. Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised 
in equity in the period in which they are declared. 

2.33 Treasury shares 

 When shares of the Company recognised as equity that have not been cancelled are reacquired, the 
amount of consideration paid is recognised directly in equity. Reacquired shares including attributable 
transaction costs on repurchased ordinary shares of the Company are classified as treasury shares 
and presented as a deduction from total equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the 
purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of treasury shares. When treasury shares are reissued by resale, 
the difference between the sales consideration and the carrying amount is recognised in equity.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

2.34 Contingencies 

 A contingent liability or asset is a possible obligation or asset that arises from past events and whose 
existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future event(s) not 
wholly within the control of the Group. 

 Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised in the statements of financial position of the 
Group. 

 
2.35 Assets classified as held for sale 

 Assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount is recovered principally through a sale 
transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale 
is highly probable and the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to 
terms that are usual and customary. 

 Immediately before classification as held for sale, the carrying amounts of the assets are measured 
in accordance with the applicable FRSs. Upon classification as held for sale, non-current assets are 
measured at lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell and it is not depreciated. Any 
differences are recognised in profit or loss. 

3. Significant accounting judgements and estimates 

 The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the 
disclosure of contingent liabilities at the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and 
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the 
asset or liability affected in the future. 

3.1 Judgements made in applying accounting policies 

 In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following 
judgement, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements: 

 Allocation of cost between land and buildings 

 The Group has established certain basis for the allocation of the costs of property, plant and equipment 
between the land and building portions. Judgement is made by reference to market indication of 
transaction prices of similar properties to determine the portion of cost relating to land.
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3. Significant accounting judgements and estimates (cont’d)

3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
reporting date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below: 

(a) Useful lives of plant, machinery and equipment 

 The cost of plant, machinery and equipment for the timber division is depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the assets’ estimated economic useful lives. Management estimates the useful 
lives of these plant, machinery and equipment to be within 3 to 60 years.

 These are common life expectancies applied in the timber industry. Changes in the expected 
level of usage and technological developments could impact the economic useful lives and 
the residual values of these assets, therefore, future depreciation charges could be revised. 
The carrying amount of the Group’s plant, machinery and equipment at the reporting date 
is disclosed in Note 14. A 5% difference in the expected useful lives of these assets from 
management’s estimates would result in approximately 12% (2015: 2%) change in the Group’s 
profit/loss for the year. 

(b) Impairment of goodwill 

 The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires 
an estimation of the value-in-use of the cash-generating units ("CGU") to which goodwill is 
allocated. Estimating a value-in-use amount requires management to make an estimate of the 
expected future cash flows from the CGU and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order 
to calculate the present value of those cash flows. A 1% increase in the discount rate from 
management’s estimates would not result in a change in the Group’s profit/loss for the year. 

(c) Impairment of loans and receivables 

 The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a 
financial asset is impaired. To determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment, the 
Group considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties 
of the debtor and default or significant delay in payments. 

 Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing of future cash flows are 
estimated based on historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. 
The carrying amount of the Group’s and of the Company’s loans and receivables at the reporting 
date is disclosed in Note 25. 
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3. Significant accounting judgements and estimates (cont’d)

3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

(d) Income taxes 

 Judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are certain 
transactions and computations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the 
ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on 
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters 
is different from the amounts that were initially recognised, such differences will impact the 
income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

(e) Deferred tax assets 

 Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses, unabsorbed capital allowances 
and other deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 
will be available against which the losses and capital allowances can be utilised. Significant 
management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be 
recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future 
tax planning strategies. Further details are disclosed in Note 23. 

 Assumptions about generation of future taxable profits depend on management’s estimates 
of future cash flows. These depend on estimates of future production and sales volume, 
operating costs, capital expenditure, dividends and other capital management transactions. 
Judgement is also required about application of income tax legislation. These judgements and 
assumptions are subject to risks and uncertainty, hence there is a possibility that changes in 
circumstances will alter expectations, which may impact the amount of deferred tax assets 
recognised in the statements of financial position and the amount of unrecognised tax losses 
and unrecognised temporary differences. 

(f) Defined benefits plan 

 The cost of retirement benefit plan ("the Plan") as well as the present value of the obligation 
under the Plan is determined using actuarial valuations. The actuarial valuation involves making 
assumptions about discount rate, future salary increase rate and mortality rate. All assumptions                     
are reviewed at each reporting date. The net employee liability of the Group as at 31 December 
2016 is RM2,391,000 (2015: RM2,605,000). Further details are given in Note 29. 

 In determining the appropriate discount rate, management has derived the applicable interest 
rates from long-term corporate bonds and government bonds in the country. The bonds have 
been selected based on the expected duration of the defined benefit obligation and taking into 
consideration the yield curve respectively. 

 Future salary increase rate is based on the recent average salary increase rate and also based 
on the agreed salary adjustments in the Collective Agreement for year 2016 to 2018 while the 
mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality tables for the country. 

 Further details about the assumptions used are given in Note 29. 

NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016



W T K HOLDINGS BERHAD (10141-M)  ANNUAL REPORT 2016 91

3. Significant accounting judgements and estimates (cont’d)

3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

(g) Maturity of plantations 

 The Group determines the oil palm plantations to be matured approximately three years upon 
completion of field planting. 

 The tree planting plantations are estimated to be ready for harvesting in fifteen years upon 
completion of tree planting.

(h) Timber rights 

 The Group has timber licenses and the rights to timber licenses. The licenses will expire in 
year 2021 and 2022. The Directors are of the view that the timber rights are renewable but 
have nonetheless amortised the timber rights in accordance within their respective legal expiry 
terms. 

4. Revenue
   
 Revenue of the Group and of the Company consists of the following: 
    

Group Company
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

Sale of timber and related products 549,395 573,671 -  - 
Sale of tapes 67,524 69,375 - -
Sale of fresh fruit bunches 24,077 11,015 - -
Rendering of services to an associate 45,664 19,450 - -
Rental income from investment properties 2 1,367 -  - 
Carpark income 989 1,591 -  - 
Consulting fee 218 - -  - 
Dividend income from investment in 

Redeemable Convertible Preference 
Shares - 5,315 - -

Dividend income from subsidiaries - - 59,485 15,046
Dividend income from investment securities 24 24 24 24
Interest income 1,296 825 1,296 825
Management fee from an associate 480 780  - -

689,669 683,413 60,805 15,895

5. Cost of sales

 Cost of sales represents cost of inventories sold and costs of services provided. 
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NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

6. Other income  
            

Group Company
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

Accretion of interest on Redeemable 
Convertible Preference Shares 1,182 1,339  -  - 

Bad debts recovered 303 10  -  - 
By product and scrap sales 1,510 1,445  -  - 

- Continuing operations 1,510 1,261  -  - 
- Discontinued operation - 184  -  - 

Contract and service fee received 1,201 1,137  -  - 
Dividend income from unquoted  

equity instruments 10 122  -  - 
Gain on foreign exchange:

- realised (trade) 203 2,309  -  - 

- Continuing operations 169 1,121  -  - 
- Discontinued operation 34 1,188  -  - 

- unrealised (trade) 635 113  -  - 

- Continuing operations 635 5  -  - 
- Discontinued operation - 108  -  - 

- unrealised (non-trade) 183 2,078  -  - 

- Continuing operations 183 1,523  -  - 
- Discontinued operation - 555  -  - 

Gain on disposal of:
- investment properties 6,550 9,902 - 594
- property, plant and equipment 172 61 - -

- Continuing operations 43 26 - -
- Discontinued operation 129 35 - -

- a subsidiary - - 362 -
- available-for-sale financial assets 1 - 1 -
Hire of machinery 542 488 - -
Interest income from loans and receivables 1,339 384 - -
Interest income from short-term deposits 7,525 4,634 - -

- Continuing operations 7,473 4,589 - -
- Discontinued operation 52 45 - -

Rental income 203 609 120 165
Reversal of allowance for impairment of:

- trade receivables (Note 25(a)) 1,014 -  - -
- other receivables (Note 25(c)) 750 264  - 172

Reversal of impairment of inventories 25 31  - -
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NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

6. Other income (cont’d) 
            

Group Company
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
Reversal of deferred contingent 

consideration (Note 31(b)) 4,590  - 4,590  - 
Road toll received 3,283 2,447 - -

Others 3,143 1,915 - -

- Continuing operations 3,023 1,915 - -
- Discontinued operation 120 - - -

Total other income 34,364 29,288 5,073 931

Attributable to:
- Continuing operations 34,029 27,173 5,073 931
- Discontinued operation 335 2,115 - -

34,364 29,288 5,073 931

7. Finance costs
         

Group Company
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

Interest expense on:
- term loans 7,690 8,259 - -
- bank overdrafts 5,661 4,815 - -

- Continuing operations 5,650 4,799 - -
- Discontinued operation 11 16 - -

- obligations under finance leases 221 316 3 8
- trade financing facilities 3,249 6,092 - -

- Continuing operations 3,217 5,976 - -
- Discontinued operation 32 116 - -

- deferred contingent consideration 214 541 214 541

17,035 20,023 217 549
Less: Interest expense capitalised in:

- Biological assets (Note 22) (5,602) (8,921)  -  - 

Total finance costs 11,433 11,102 217  549 

Attributable to:
- Continuing operations 11,390 10,970 217 549
- Discontinued operation 43 132 - -

11,433 11,102 217  549 
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NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

8. Profit before tax  

The following items have been included in arriving at profit before tax:
  

Group Company
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

Allowance for impairment of financial assets:
- trade receivables (Note 25(a))

- third parties 7 1,921  -  - 

- Continuing operations 7 1,908  -  - 
- Discontinued operation - 13  -  - 

- related parties - 2,367  -  - 
- other receivables (Note 25(c))

- third parties - 1,715  -  - 
- related parties - 3,957  -  - 

Amortisation:
- timber rights (Note 21) 6,154 6,154  -  - 
- prepaid land lease payments (Note 15) 1,000 1,000  -  - 

Auditors’ remuneration:
- current 926 949 150 150

- Continuing operations 895 893 150 150
- Discontinued operation 31 56 - -

- under provision in respect  
of previous years 7 32 20 -

Bad debts written off 2 - 2 -
Depreciation:

- property, plant and equipment (Note 14) 40,141 39,505 116 126

- Continuing operations 38,744 37,185 116 126
- Discontinued operation 1,397 2,320 - -

- investment properties (Note 16) 126 194 123 8
Employee benefits expense (Note 9) 103,226 100,046 1,297 1,581

- Continuing operations 97,904 91,621 1,297 1,581
- Discontinued operation 5,322 8,425 - -

Inventories written down to net  
realisable value 4,626 17 - -

Inventories written off 20 470 - -

- Continuing operations 20 331 - -
- Discontinued operation - 139 - -

Impairment losses on:
- investments in subsidiaries - - 8,832 4,100
- intangible asset (Note 21) 1,725 2,308 - -

Loss on disposal of property,  
plant and equipment 689 238 - -
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NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

8. Profit before tax (cont’d) 

The following items have been included in arriving at profit before tax (cont’d):
  

Group Company
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
Loss on foreign exchange:
- realised (trade) 665 - - -

- Continuing operations 665 - - -
- Discontinued operation - - - -

- realised (non-trade) 29 - - -

- Continuing operations 29 - - -
- Discontinued operation - - - -

- unrealised (non-trade) 411 - - -

- Continuing operations - - - -
- Discontinued operation 411 - - -

Non-executive directors’  
remuneration (Note 10) 1,424 1,540  635 707

Property, plant and equipment  
written off 144 212 12 -

Rental of equipment 126 23 - -
Rental of premises 1,195 1,254 185 181

- Continuing operations 1,158 1,198 185 181
- Discontinued operation 37 56 - -

9. Employee benefits expense  
            

Group Company
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

Salaries, wages and bonus 97,427 95,395 1,154 1,409
Social security costs 665 652 6 7
Contributions to defined contribution plan 6,600 6,814 137 165
Retirement benefit obligations  (Note 29) 175 213  -  - 
Other benefits 1,666 1,090  -  - 

106,533 104,164 1,297 1,581
Less: Amount capitalised in 
             - Biological assets (Note 22) (3,307) (4,118)  -  - 

103,226 100,046 1,297 1,581
 
 Included in employee benefits expense of the Group and of the Company are executive directors’ remuneration 

amounting to RM2,392,000 (2015: RM2,089,000) and RM656,000 (2015: RM653,000) respectively as 
disclosed in Note 10.
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NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

10. Directors’ remuneration    

 The details of remuneration receivable by directors of the Company during the year are as follows:   
   

Group Company
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

Directors of the Company
Executive:
- salaries and other emoluments 1,542 1,413 467 440
- bonus 523 385 120 144
- fee 76 72 - -
- defined contribution plan 251 219  69  69 

Total executive directors’ remuneration 2,392 2,089  656  653 

Non-executive:
- salaries and other emoluments 215 235 95 111
- bonus 120 120 - -
- fees 1,075 1,171 540 596
- defined contribution plan 14 14  -  - 

1,424 1,540 635 707
- estimated monetary value of  
      benefits-in-kind 22 22  -  - 

Total non-executive directors’ 
    remuneration (including benefits-in-kind) 1,446 1,562 635 707

Total directors’ remuneration (Note 35(iv)) 3,838 3,651 1,291 1,360

 The number of directors of the Company whose total remuneration during the year fell within the following 
bands is analysed below:      

Number of directors
2016 2015

 Executive 
 directors  

 Non-executive 
 directors 

 Executive 
 directors 

 Non-executive 
 directors 

Below RM50,000 - -  - 1
RM50,001 - RM100,000 - 4  - 5
RM150,001 - RM200,000 - 1  - 1
RM400,001 - RM450,000 - 1  - 1
RM450,001 - RM500,000 - 1  - -
RM500,001 - RM550,000 - -  - 1
RM2,000,001 - RM2,500,000 1 -  1 -
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11. Income tax expense

 The major components of income tax expense for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 31 December 
2015 are: 

Group Company
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

Statements of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income

Current income tax
- Malaysian income tax 8,149 13,240 816 187

- Continuing operations 7,836 12,126 816 187
- Discontinued operation 313 1,114 - -

- Foreign tax 412 152 - -

8,561 13,392 816  187 

Under/(Over) provision in respect
     of previous years
- Malaysian income tax 1,070 754 (1) 113

- Continuing operations 1,070 900 (1) 113
- Discontinued operation - (146) - -

- Foreign tax - (122) - -

1,070 632 (1) 113

Real property gains tax
- Current 1,247 900 (20) 104

- Continuing operations 646 900 (20) 104
- Discontinued operation 601 - - -

- Over provision in respect of previous year (17) -  -  - 

1,230 900 (20) 104

10,861 14,924 795 404

Deferred income tax (Note 23)
- Origination and reversal of
     temporary differences (1,109) 1,520 543 -

- Continuing operations (974) 2,012 543 -
- Discontinued operation (135) (492) - -

- (Over)/Under provision in respect   
     of previous years (3,636) 878 (2) (21)

- Continuing operations (3,636) 836 (2) (21)
- Discontinued operation - 42 - -

(4,745) 2,398 541 (21)

Income tax expense recognised  
in profit or loss 6,116 17,322 1,336 383

Income tax attributable to:
- Continuing operations 5,337 16,804 1,336 383
- Discontinued operation 779 518 - -

6,116 17,322 1,336 383

NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016
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NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

11. Income tax expense (cont’d)

 Domestic income tax is calculated at the Malaysian statutory tax rate of 24% (2015: 25%) of the estimated 
assessable profit for the year. Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevaling in the 
respective jurisdictions. 

 The Finance (No. 2) Act 2014 which was gazetted on 30 December 2014 reduced the corporate income tax 
rate from 25% to 24% with effect from year of assessment 2016. Following this, the applicable tax rate to 
be used for the measurement of any applicable deferred tax will be the abovementioned expected rate. 

 The Budget 2017 announced on 21 October 2016 proposed that the incremental portion of chargeable 
income compared to the immediate preceding year of assessment enjoys reduced income tax rate as follows 
with effect for years of assessment 2017 and 2018. Following these, the applicable tax rate to be used for 
the measurement of any applicable deferred tax will be the following expected rate: 

% of increase in chargeable income as compared to the 
immediate preceding year of assessment

Percentage point 
reduction
in tax rate

Tax rate after
reduction (%)

Less than 5% Nil 24
5% to 9% 1 23
10% to 14.99% 2 22
15% to 19.99% 3 21
20% and above 4 20

 The reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the applicable 
corporate tax rate is as follows:

Group
2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000 

Accounting profit/(loss) before tax:
- Continuing operations 14,390 72,881
- Discontinued operation (9,836) 2,991

4,554 75,872

Tax at Malaysian statutory tax rate of 24% (2015: 25%) 1,093 18,968
Effect of different tax rates in other country (191) (202)

Adjustments:
Income not subject to tax (7,410) (5,857)
Non-deductible expenses 8,932 8,335
Withholding tax 1 -
Deferred tax assets not recognised 796 1,425
Double deduction of expenses (8) (7,482)
(Over)/Under provision of deferred tax in respect of previous years (3,636) 878
Under provision of income tax in respect of previous years 1,070 632

Share of results of associates 4,239 (275)
Real property gains tax 1,230 900

Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss 6,116 17,322
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NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

11. Income tax expense (cont’d)
  
 The reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the applicable 

corporate tax rate is as follows (cont’d): 

Company
2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000 

Accounting profit before tax 50,374 7,585

Tax at Malaysian statutory rate of 24% (2015: 25%) 12,090 1,896
Adjustments:

Income not subject to tax (14,378) (3,959)
Non-deductible expenses 3,647 2,250
Over provision of deferred tax in respect of previous years (2) (21)
(Over)/Under provision of income tax in respect of previous years (1) 113

Real property gains tax (20) 104

Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss 1,336 383

12. Discontinued operation 

 On 24 August 2016, the Company, together with its direct wholly-owned subsidiary, Samanda Equities  
Sdn. Bhd. ("SESB") and the remaining vendor, Sulamariah & Associates Sdn. Bhd. (“SASB”) (collectively 
referred as “Vendors”), had entered into a Share Sale Agreement with General Aluminium Holding Ltd.
(referred as “Purchaser”), for inter alia, the sale of the Company and SESB’s shareholding of 9,170,000  
and 200,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each respectively in General Aluminium Works (M) Sdn. Bhd. 
("GAW"), representing 91.7% and 2.0% equity interest in GAW respectively, for a cash consideration 
of RM15,589,000 and RM340,000 respectively, subject to the terms and conditions as stipulated in the  
said Share Sale Agreement. 

 Upon completion of the disposal on 5 September 2016, GAW ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group. 
The assets and liabilities of GAW were no longer included in the consolidated statements of financial 
position of the Group as at 31 December 2016. As at 31 December 2016, the results of GAW has been 
presented separately in the statements profit or loss and other comprehensive income as "loss/profit from  
discontinued operation, net of tax" and the comparative statements of profit or loss and other  
comprehensive income has been restated to show the discontinued operation separately from continuing 
operations. The subsidiary was principally involved in the conversion of aluminium foils into various foil 
products for sale and reported as part of the manufacturing segment. 
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12. Discontinued operation (cont’d)

 The disposal had the following effects to the financial statements of the Group: 

 Statements of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

 The results of GAW for the period ended 5 September 2016/year ended 31 December 2015 are as follows:

Group
05.09.2016 31.12.2015

RM’000 RM’000
Revenue 25,523 41,296
Cost of sales (22,697) (36,305)
Gross profit 2,826 4,991
Other income 335 2,115
Selling and distribution expenses (852) (1,648)
Administrative and other expenses (2,629) (2,335)
Finance costs (43) (132)
(Loss)/Profit before tax (363) 2,991
Tax expense (779) (518)
(Loss)/Profit for the period ended 5 September 2016/ 

year ended 31 December 2015 (1,142) 2,473
Loss on disposal of GAW (9,473) -
(Loss)/Profit from discontinued operation, net of tax (10,615) 2,473

Statements of Cash Flows

The cash flows of discontinued operation are as follows:

Group
05.09.2016 31.12.2015

RM’000 RM’000
Net cash flow (used in)/from operating activities (2,062) 13,328
Net cash flow from/(used in) investing activities 19,880 (1,965)
Net cash flow used in financing activities (34,086) (5,228)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from discontinued operation (16,268) 6,135

 Statements of Financial Position

 The details of net assets and net cash inflow arising from the disposal of GAW at the effective date are as 
follows:

Group
RM’000

Investment in a joint venture 1,582
Property, plant and equipment 7,231
Inventories 15,504
Receivables 6,949
Tax recoverable 1,464
Cash and bank balances 3,622
Payables (7,748)
Deferred tax liabilities (1,555)
Non-controlling interest (1,647)
Net assets disposed 25,402
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary (9,473)
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary 15,929
Less: Cash and cash equivalent in subsidiary disposed (3,622)
Net cash inflow from disposal of a subsidiary 12,307

NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016
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NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

13. Earnings per share   

 Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing profit for the year net of tax, attributable to 
owners of the Company by weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial 
year, excluding treasury shares held by the Company. 

 The following table reflects the profit and share data used in the computation of basic earnings per share for 
the years ended 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015:

Group
2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000 
Profit net of tax attributable to owners of the Company 21 59,562
Add/(Less): Loss/(Profit) from discontinued operation  

attributable to owners of the Company 10,615 (2,473)
Profit from continuing operations attributable to the  

owners of the Company 10,636 57,089

Number of shares
2016
’000 

2015
’000 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 477,482 477,502

2016
sen 

2015
sen 

Basic earnings per share - 12.47

(a) Continuing operations 

 Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing profit for the year from continuing 
operations, net of tax, attributable to owners of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding during the financial year.

2016
sen 

2015
sen 

Basic earnings per share 2.22 11.95

(b) Discontinued operation 

 Basic loss or earnings per share from discontinued operation are calculated by dividing loss/profit 
from discontinued operation, net of tax, attributable to owners of the parent by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year. 

2016
sen 

2015
sen 

Basic (loss)/earnings per share (2.22) 0.52

 There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares between 
the reporting date and the date of completion of these financial statements.

 There are no shares in issuance which have a dilutive effect to the earnings per share of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

14.  Property, plant and equipment  

Group

Land and 
buildings 
 RM’000 

 Furniture, 
  fittings, 

 equipment, 
 renovations 

 and 
 installations 

 RM’000 

 Plant, 
 machinery, 
 moulds and  
 loose tools 

 RM’000 

 Motor 
 vehicles 
 RM’000 

 Road, 
  bridges 

 and 
 wharf 

 RM’000 

 
Construction 
 in progress 

 RM’000 
 Total 

 RM’000 
Cost
At 1 January 2016 450,211 25,872 602,060 21,557 270,688 4,604 1,374,992

Additions 58 743 3,947 698 2,125 20,436 28,007
Disposals (2,126) (2,015) (2,508) (526) - - (7,175)
Written off (638) (297) (83) (81) (25) - (1,124)
Reclassifications 2,649 25 2,167 - 1,576 (6,417) -
Transfer to investment 

properties (Note 16) (23,008) - - - - - (23,008)
Transfer to biological 

assets (Note 22) - - - - - (8) (8)
Attributable to 

discontinued 
operation (Note 12) - (4,857) (64,309) (1,408) - - (70,574)

Exchange differences 286 39 16 36 - - 377

At 31 December 2016 427,432 19,510 541,290 20,276 274,364 18,615 1,301,487

At 1 January 2015 446,643 25,615 596,536 21,272 269,520 2,314 1,361,900
Additions 1,620 818 2,877 842 907 7,645 14,709
Disposals (48) (22) (1,281) (513) - - (1,864)
Written off (21) (860) (553) (250) - (194) (1,878)
Reclassifications 379 87 4,395 31 261 (5,153) -
Transfer to biological 

assets (Note 22) - - - - - (8) (8)
Exchange differences 1,638 234 86 175 - - 2,133

At 31 December 2015 450,211 25,872 602,060 21,557 270,688 4,604 1,374,992

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2016 140,477 20,928 361,726 12,687 181,722 - 717,540
Depreciation charge  

for the year: 11,227 1,196 17,024 1,097 12,191 - 42,735
Recognised in profit or 

loss (Note 8) 9,927 1,008 16,697 1,015 11,494 - 40,141
Capitalised in  

biological assets 
(Note 22) 1,300 188 327 82 697 - 2,594

Disposals (939) (2,022) (1,328) (481) - - (4,770)
Written off (637) (238) (15) (79) (11) - (980)
Transfer to investment 

properties (Note 16) (6,148) - - - - - (6,148)
Attributable to 

discontinued 
operation (Note 12) - (4,503) (57,479) (1,361) - - (63,343)

Exchange differences 57 29 8 23 - - 117

At 31 December 2016 144,037 15,390 319,936 11,886 193,902 - 685,151
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14. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)  

Group (cont’d)

Land and 
  buildings 
 RM’000 

 Furniture, 
  fittings, 

 equipment, 
 renovations 

 and 
 installations 

 RM’000 

 Plant, 
 machinery, 
 moulds and  
 loose tools 

 RM’000 

 Motor 
 vehicles 
 RM’000 

 Road, 
  bridges 

 and 
 wharf 

 RM’000 

 
Construction 
 in progress 

 RM’000 
 Total 

 RM’000 

Accumulated depreciation  
(cont’d)

At 1 January 2015 128,615 20,269 344,484 12,202 170,971 - 676,541
Depreciation charge  

for the year: 11,598 1,359 18,340 1,031 10,751 - 43,079
Recognised in profit  

or loss (Note 8) 9,703 1,022 17,948 930 9,902 - 39,505
Capitalised in  

biological assets 
(Note 22) 1,895 337 392 101 849 - 3,574

Disposals (10) (11) (629) (414) - - (1,064)
Written off (17) (846) (553) (250) - - (1,666)
Exchange differences 291 157 84 118 - - 650

At 31 December 2015 140,477 20,928 361,726 12,687 181,722 - 717,540

Net carrying amount

At 31 December 2016 283,395 4,120 221,354 8,390 80,462 18,615 616,336

At 31 December 2015 309,734 4,944 240,334 8,870 88,966 4,604 657,452

Details of land and buildings are as follows:

Group

 Freehold
land

 RM’000 
Buildings 
RM’000 

Long term
leasehold

land
 RM’000 

Short term
leasehold

land
 RM’000 

 Factory
buildings and
improvements

 RM’000 

 Total 
Land and
buildings
 RM’000 

Cost
At 1 January 2016 26,586 30,935 94,328 18,157 280,205 450,211

Additions - 58 - - - 58
Disposals (630) (501) - - (995) (2,126)
Written off - (620) - (15) (3) (638)
Reclassifications - 453 759 (759) 2,196 2,649
Transfer to investment properties 

(Note 16) (9,370) - - - (13,638) (23,008)
Exchange differences 205 - - - 81 286

At 31 December 2016 16,791 30,325 95,087 17,383 267,846 427,432

NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016
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14. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)  

Details of land and buildings are as follows (cont’d):

Group (cont’d)

 Freehold
land

 RM’000 
Buildings 
RM’000 

Long term
leasehold

land
 RM’000 

Short term
leasehold

land
 RM’000 

 Factory
buildings and
improvements

 RM’000 

 Total 
Land and
buildings
 RM’000 

Cost (cont’d)
At 1 January 2015 25,411 30,222 90,618 21,108 279,284 446,643

Additions - 360 - 759 501 1,620
Disposals - - - - (48) (48)
Written off - - - - (21) (21)
Reclassifications - 353 3,710 (3,710) 26 379
Exchange differences 1,175 - - - 463 1,638

At 31 December 2015 26,586 30,935 94,328 18,157 280,205 450,211

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2016 - 15,049 9,672 8,871 106,885 140,477
Depreciation charge  

for the year: - 1,705 1,696 268 7,558 11,227
Recognised in profit  

or loss - 918 1,183 268 7,558 9,927

Capitalised in  
biological assets - 787 513 - - 1,300

Disposals - (479) - - (460) (939)
Written off - (620) - (15) (2) (637)
Transfer to investment 

properties (Note 16) - - - - (6,148) (6,148)
Exchange differences - - - - 57 57

At 31 December 2016 - 15,655 11,368 9,124 107,890 144,037

At 1 January 2015 - 13,333 5,704 10,846 98,732 128,615
Depreciation charge  

for the year: - 1,716 1,706 287 7,889 11,598
Recognised in profit  

or loss - 695 832 287 7,889 9,703
Capitalised in  

biological assets - 1,021 874 - - 1,895

Disposals - - - - (10) (10)
Written off - - 2,262 (2,262) (17) (17)
Exchange differences - - - - 291 291

At 31 December 2015 - 15,049 9,672 8,871 106,885 140,477

Net carrying amount

At 31 December 2016 16,791 14,670 83,719 8,259 159,956 283,395

At 31 December 2015 26,586 15,886 84,656 9,286 173,320 309,734

NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016
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14. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)  

Company

 Furniture, 
  fittings, 

 equipment 
and 

 installations 
 RM’000 

Renovations 
RM’000 

Motor 
vehicles
 RM’000 

 Total
 RM’000 

Cost
At 1 January 2016 239 78 1,170 1,487
Additions 11 - - 11
Disposals (203) (78) - (281)
Written off (47) - - (47)

At 31 December 2016 - - 1,170 1,170

At 1 January 2015 521 93 1,170 1,784
Additions 8 - - 8
Written off (290) (15) - (305)

At 31 December 2015 239 78 1,170 1,487

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2016 150 41 974 1,165
Depreciation charge for the year (Note 8) 19 6 91 116
Disposals (134) (47) - (181)
Written off (35) - - (35)

At 31 December 2016 - - 1,065 1,065

At 1 January 2015 412 48 884 1,344
Depreciation charge for the year (Note 8) 28 8 90 126
Written off (290) (15) - (305)

At 31 December 2015 150 41 974 1,165

Net carrying amount

At 31 December 2016 - - 105 105

At 31 December 2015 89 37 196 322

(a) Assets pledged as security

 Property, plant and equipment with carrying amount of RM162,530,000 (2015: RM173,380,000) have 
been pledged to licensed banks for credit facilities as stated in Note 30. 

(b) Acquisition of property, plant and equipment

 Acquisition of property, plant and equipment during the financial year were by the following means: 

Group Company
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
Cash 27,672 12,433 11 8
Finance leases 335 2,276  - -

28,007 14,709 11 8

NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016
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14. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)  

(b) Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

Net carrying amount of property, plant and equipment held under finance lease arrangements are as 
follows:

   
Group Company

 2016
RM’000 

2015
RM’000

 2016
RM’000 

2015
RM’000

Property, plant and equipment 9,579 8,825 105 196

 Leased assets are pledged as security for the related finance lease liabilities (Note 37(a)).

15. Prepaid land lease payments  

Group
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

Cost
At 1 January and 31 December  45,000 45,000

Accumulated amortisation:
At 1 January 10,000 9,000
Amortisation for the year (Note 8) 1,000 1,000

At 31 December 11,000 10,000

Net carrying amount 34,000 35,000

 The leasehold land has been duly discharged as security in February 2016 for bank loan fully repaid in 2014.

Group
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
Amount to be amortised:
Current   
- Not later than 1 year  1,000  1,000 

Non-current
- Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 5,000  5,000 
- Later than 5 years 28,000 29,000

33,000 34,000

34,000 35,000

NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016
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16. Investment properties           
 

Group  
RM’000 

 Company 
 RM’000 

Cost
At 1 January 2015 42,067 3,691
Disposals (27,549) (3,691)
Transfer to assets classified as held for sale (Note 28) (14,518)  - 

At 31 December 2015 and 1 January 2016 - -
Transfer from property, plant and equipment (Note 14) 23,008 -
Addition 25  18,385 

At 31 December 2016 23,033 18,385

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2015 7,325 823
Depreciation charge for the year (Note 8) 194 8
Disposals (7,484) (831)
Transfer to assets classified as held for sale (Note 28) (35) -

At 31 December 2015 and 1 January 2016 - -
Transfer from property, plant and equipment (Note 14) 6,148 -
Depreciation charge for the year (Note 8) 126 123

At 31 December 2016 6,274 123

Net carrying amount

At 31 December 2016 16,759 18,262

At 31 December 2015 - -

Fair value

At 31 December 2016 18,785 18,385

At 31 December 2015 - -

(a) The Group and the Company had on 9 October 2015 entered into Sale and Purchase Agreements 
(“SPAs”) with the respective Purchasers to dispose the Group’s and the Company’s entire 
investment properties located at Wisma Central for a total cash consideration of RM51,000,000 and  
RM3,454,000 respectively. 

 Further to the SPAs that were signed, a subsidiary, Dusun Nyiur Sdn. Bhd. has on 28 December 2015 
entered into a Supplemental Agreement with the Purchaser to amend the terms of the SPA pertaining 
to one parcel of property. This was due to that parcel’s original strata title deed has been damaged 
at the Land Office and the replacement strata title deed is still pending from the Land Office. Under 
the circumstances, until the disposal of this parcel is completed, the carrying amount of its value is 
presented in the Statements of Financial Position as “Assets classified as held for sale”. 

 The disposal transactions of the Group and of the Company were successfully completed and 
disposal gain of RM9,902,000 and RM594,000 respectively were recognised in the previous  
financial year. 

NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016
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16. Investment properties (cont’d) 

(b) On 22 August 2016, a 93.7% subsidiary of the Group, namely General Aluminium Works (M) Sdn. 
Bhd. (“GAW”), had entered into a Sale and Purchase Agreement (“SPA”) with its shareholders,  
namely the Company, Samanda Equities Sdn. Bhd. (“SESB”) and Sulamariah & Associates Sdn. 
Bhd. (“SASB”) (collectively referred as “Purchasers”) to dispose a parcel of freehold land measuring 
approximately 63,636.72 square metres or 684,980 square feet and held under individual title  
Pajakan Negeri 150041, Lot No. 3318, Mukim Asam Kumbang, Tempat Asam Kumbang, Daerah  
Larut & Matang, Negeri Perak, bearing postal address at Lot 3318, 76 km, Ipoh/Penang Main Trunk 
Road, 34008 Taiping, Perak together with a factory erected thereon and all other appurtenances  
and fixtures therein for a total purchase consideration of approximately RM20,048,000 to be  
satisfied entirely in cash (“Proposed Disposal of Land by GAW”). 

 The purchase price of the land and building is held by the Purchasers in the following proportions: 

Ownership of
land and
building

%

Purchase
consideration

RM

The Company 91.7 18,385,000
SESB 2.0 400,000
SASB 6.3 1,263,000

 Further to the SPA that was signed, the Purchasers and GAW had on 1 September 2016 agreed to 
immediately off-set the Purchaser’s respective purchase consideration against the dividend payable 
by GAW. The Proposed Disposal of Land by GAW was completed on 1 September 2016.

 Subsequent to the completion of sales of GAW on 5 September 2016 as disclosed in Note 12, the 
land and building is presented in the Statements of Financial Position as “Investment Properties”.

17. Investments in subsidiaries

Company
2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000 

Unquoted shares, at cost 523,426 538,509
Less: Accumulated impairment losses (14,029) (5,197)

509,397 533,312

NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016
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NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

17. Investments in subsidiaries (cont’d) 

 Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Proportion of
ownership interest (%)

Name of subsidiaries 2016 2015 Principal activities

Incorporated in Malaysia  
   (except as identified):

Held by the Company:
Alanya Marine Ventures Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Investment holding and provision of 

oil and gas related services
Biofresh Produce Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Investment holding
Biogrow City Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Investment holding
Borneo Agro-Industries Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Cultivation of oil palms
Cairnfield Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Manufacturing and sale of veneer, 

plywood and sawn timber 
Central Mercantile Corporation (S) Ltd. * 

(Incorporated in Singapore) 
100 100 Trading in tapes, foil and papers

Dusun Nyiur Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Property investment and car park 
operation 

First Count Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Extraction and sale of logs
Gopoint Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Ceased operations
Immense Fleet Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Timber trading, reforestation, 

planting and management of oil 
palm plantation

Kuching Plywood Berhad 100 100 Manufacturing and selling of 
plywood

Limpah Mewah Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Extraction and sale of timber
Linshanhao Plywood (Sarawak) Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Manufacture and sale of plywood
Loytape Industries Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Manufacture and trading of 

adhesive tapes, gummed tapes 
and investment holding

Ninjas Development Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Extraction and sale of logs
Piramid Intan Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Extraction and sale of logs
Sanitama Sendirian Berhad 100 100 Extraction and sale of logs
Sarawak Moulding Industries Berhad 100 100 Manufacture, purchase and sale of 

sawn timber and logs
Song Logging Company Sendirian Berhad 100 100 Sawmilling, extraction and sale of 

timber
Sut Sawmill (3064) Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Extraction and sale of logs
Towering Yield Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Investment holding
Winning Plantation Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Investment holding
Woodbanks Industries (M) Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Processing and sale of sawn timber
WTK Heli-Logging Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Logging contractor and operation 

of barge
General Aluminium Works (M) Sdn. Bhd. - 93.40 Conversion of aluminium foils into 

various foil products for sale
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17. Investments in subsidiaries (cont’d)
 
 Details of the subsidiaries are as follows (cont’d):

Proportion of
ownership interest (%)

Name of subsidiaries 2016 2015 Principal activities

Incorporated in Malaysia  
   (except as identified) (cont’d):

Held by the Company (cont’d):
WTK Corporate Management Sdn. Bhd. 

(formerly known as Biofield Plantations 
Sdn. Bhd.)

100 100 Provision of management services 
and investment holding

Biogreen Success Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Dormant
Bioworld Synergies Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Dormant
Samanda Equities Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Investment holding and property 

rental
WTK-Yink Heli Harvesting Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Dormant
Zapstat Sdn. Bhd. 100 - General and commission agent
QPA Sdn. Bhd. 63.75 - Ceased operations

Held through subsidiaries:
Subsidiary of Biofresh Produce  

Sdn. Bhd. 
Biofresh Produce Plantations Sdn. Bhd.  80 80 Planting and management of oil 

palm plantation 
Subsidiary of Biogrow City Sdn. Bhd. 

Biogrow City Plantations Sdn. Bhd. 85 85 Planting and management of oil 
palm plantation

Subsidiaries of Loytape Industries  
Sdn. Bhd. 
Samanda Trading Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Ceased operations
Central Mercantile Corporation  

(M) Sdn. Bhd.
100 100 Investment holding

Subsidiaries of Central Mercantile  
Corporation (M) Sdn. Bhd. 
Samanda Marketing Corporation  

Sdn. Bhd.  
100 100 Dormant 

Samanda Marketing & Sales Sdn. Bhd. 99.60 99.60 Ceased operations
Subsidiary of Piramid Intan Sdn. Bhd. 

Interglobal Empire Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Extraction and sale of logs
Subsidiary of Towering Yield Sdn. Bhd. 

Positive Deal Sdn. Bhd. 65 65 Planting and management of oil 
palm plantation

Subsidiaries of General Aluminium  
Works (M) Sdn. Bhd. 
Zapstat Sdn. Bhd. - 93.40 General and commission agent
QPA Sdn. Bhd. - 59.54 Ceased operations

* The financial statements of the subsidiary company was not audited by the auditors of the Company.
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17. Investments in subsidiaries (cont’d)

(a) Acquisition of non-controlling interests during the financial year

(i) On 4 July 2016, the Company acquired an additional 0.3% equity interest in General  
Aluminium Works (M) Sdn. Bhd. (“GAW”) for a cash consideration of RM144,000, increasing  
its ownership from 91.4% to 91.7%. Consequently, the Company and its wholly owned 
subsidiary, Samanda Equities Sdn. Bhd. (“SESB”) hold an aggregate equity interest of 93.7% 
in GAW. The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling interests of RM175,000 and  
an increase in retained earnings of RM31,000.

(b) Transfer up of indirect subsidiaries during the financial year 

(i) On 1 September 2016, GAW had transferred its entire shareholdings of 765,000 ordinary 
shares of RM1.00 each in QPA Sdn. Bhd. (“QPA”) and 100,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00 
each in Zapstat Sdn. Bhd. (“Zapstat”) for a nominal cash consideration of RM1.00 each in  
QPA and Zapstat to the Company. Arising therefrom, QPA and Zapstat, both of which are 
dormant companies became direct subsidiaries of the Company.

(c) Disposal of a subsidiary during the financial year 

(i) On 24 August 2016, the Company, together with its direct wholly-owned subsidiary, Samanda 
Equities Sdn. Bhd. (“SESB”) and the remaining vendor, Sulamariah & Associates Sdn. Bhd. 
(“SASB”) (collectively referred as “Vendors”), had entered into a Share Sale Agreement 
with General Aluminium Holding Ltd. (referred as “Purchaser”), for inter alia, the sale of the 
Company and SESB’s shareholding of 9,170,000 and 200,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00  
each respectively in General Aluminium Works (M) Sdn. Bhd. (“GAW”), representing 91.7% 
and 2.0% equity interest in GAW respectively, for a cash consideration of RM15,589,000  
and RM340,000 respectively, subject to the terms and conditions as stipulated in the said 
Share Sale Agreement. 

 Pursuant to the disposal, GAW ceased to be a subsidiary of the Company on 5 September 
2016. The effect of the disposal is disclosed in Note 12. 

(d) Additional investment in the subsidiaries in previous financial year 

(i) On 9 January 2015, the Company subscribed additional 4,996,778 new ordinary shares of 
RM1.00 each issued by its wholly-owned subsidiary, Alanya Marine Ventures Sdn. Bhd. (“AMV”) 
for a total cash consideration of RM4,996,778. 

(ii) On 29 October 2015, the Company subscribed additional 2,490,000 new ordinary shares of 
RM1.00 each issued by its wholly-owned subsidiary, Borneo Agro-Industries Sdn. Bhd. for a 
total cash consideration of RM2,490,000. 
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17. Investments in subsidiaries (cont’d)

(e) Summarised financial information of Biofresh Produce Plantations Sdn. Bhd. and Biogrow City 
Plantations Sdn. Bhd. which have non-controlling interests that are material to the Group are 
set out below. The summarised financial information presented below is the amount before 
inter-company elimination. The non-controlling interests in respect of other subsidiaries are 
not material to the Group. 

Biofresh Produce 
Plantations Sdn. Bhd. 

Biogrow City  
Plantations Sdn. Bhd. Total

2016
RM’000 

2015
RM’000 

2016
RM’000 

2015
RM’000 

2016
RM’000 

2015
RM’000 

(i) Summarised Statements of Financial Position

Non-current assets 107,434 106,561 106,851 88,628 214,285 195,189
Current assets 2,998 3,419 5,535 3,243 8,533 6,662

Total assets 110,432 109,980 112,386 91,871 222,818 201,851

Current liabilities 49,340 36,689 59,807 35,924 109,147 72,613
Non-current liabilities 32,800 40,702 33,579 32,778 66,379 73,480

Total liabilities 82,140 77,391 93,386 68,702 175,526 146,093

Net assets 28,292 32,589 19,000 23,169 47,292 55,758

Equity attributable 
to owners of the 
Company 22,633 26,071 16,150 19,694 38,783 45,765

Non-controlling 
interests 5,659 6,518 2,850 3,475 8,509 9,993

(ii) Summarised Statements of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Revenue 3,646 1,569 5,746 2,307 9,392 3,876
Loss for the year (4,297) (2,561) (4,170) (3,966) (8,467) (6,527)

Loss attributable 
to owners of the 
Company (3,438) (2,049) (3,545) (3,371) (6,983) (5,420)

Loss attributable to  
non-controlling 
interests (859) (512) (625) (595) (1,484) (1,107)
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17. Investments in subsidiaries (cont’d)

(e) Summarised financial information of Biofresh Produce Plantations Sdn. Bhd. and Biogrow City 
Plantations Sdn. Bhd. which have non-controlling interests that are material to the Group are 
set out below. The summarised financial information presented below is the amount before 
inter-company elimination. The non-controlling interests in respect of other subsidiaries are 
not material to the Group. (cont’d)

Biofresh Produce 
Plantations Sdn. Bhd. 

Biogrow City  
Plantations Sdn. Bhd. Total

2016
RM’000 

2015
RM’000 

2016
RM’000 

2015
RM’000 

2016
RM’000 

2015
RM’000 

(iii) Summarised Statements of Cash Flows

Net cash flows from/
(used in) operating 
activities 7,480 (3,446) 18,308 (3,435) 25,788 (6,881)

Net cash flows 
used in investing 
activities (394) (2,153) (18,728) (1,986) (19,122) (4,139)

Net cash flows (used 
in)/from financing 
activities (4,822) 3,671 1,229 2,860 (3,593) 6,531

Net increase/
(decrease) in 
cash and cash 
equivalents 2,264 (1,928) 809 (2,561) 3,073 (4,489)

Cash and cash 
equivalents at 
beginning of the 
year (10,640) (8,712) (11,295) (8,734) (21,935) (17,446)

Cash and cash 
equivalents  
at end of the year (8,376) (10,640) (10,486) (11,295) (18,862) (21,935)

18. Investment in associates   

Group
2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000 

Unquoted shares, at cost 70,745 70,377

Share of post-acquisition reserves, net of dividends received (20,228) 837

50,517 71,214

Represented by:
Share of net identifiable assets (2,948) 17,749
Goodwill on acquisition 53,465 53,465

50,517 71,214
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18. Investment in associates (cont’d)

(a) Investment in an associate through a wholly-owned subsidiary during the financial year 

 On 15 April 2016, Alanya Marine Ventures Sdn. Bhd. (“AMV”), a wholly-owned subsidiary, subscribed 
for 367,499 new ordinary shares of RM1.00 each in Ketara Resource Sdn. Bhd. (“KRSB”) for a total 
cash subscription price of RM367,499. Upon the subscription, AMV holds 49% equity interest in 
KRSB and henceforth, KRSB became an associated company of AMV. 

 Details of the associates, which are incorporated in Malaysia, are as follows: 
           

Proportion of
ownership interest (%)

Name of the associates 2016 2015 Principal activities

Held through subsidiary:

Alanya Marine Ventures Sdn. Bhd.
Nautical Returns Sdn. Bhd. 49 49 Provision of offshore support 

vessels,  equipment and  
engineering  consultation for  
oil and gas activities

Ketara Resource Sdn. Bhd.
(formerly known as Permai Biotek
Sdn. Bhd.)

49 - Providing  offshore oil and gas   
activities relating to offshore  
engineering works and provision  
of offshore marine spread

(b) Summarised financial information of Nautical Returns Sdn. Bhd. and Ketara Resource Sdn. Bhd. 
(formerly known as Permai Biotek Sdn. Bhd.) are set out below.

Nautical Returns
Sdn. Bhd.

Ketara Resource  
Sdn. Bhd.  

(formerly known as 
Permai Biotek Sdn. 

Bhd.) Total
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

(i) Summarised Statements of Financial Position

Non-current assets 7,924 8,868 - - 7,924 8,868
Current assets 151,995 109,711 750 - 152,745 109,711

Total assets 159,919 118,579 750 - 160,669 118,579

Current liabilities 172,030 93,764 84 - 172,114 93,764
Non-current 

liabilities 14,593 14,564 - - 14,593 14,564

Total liabilities 186,623 108,328 84 - 186,707 108,328

Net (liabilities)/
assets (26,704) 10,251 666 - (26,038) 10,251

Carrying amount 
of the proportion 
of the Group’s 
ownership (13,085) 5,023 326 - (12,759) 5,023
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18. Investment in associates (cont’d)

(b) Summarised financial information of Nautical Returns Sdn. Bhd. and Ketara Resource Sdn. Bhd. 
(formerly known as Permai Biotek Sdn. Bhd.) are set out below. (cont’d)

Nautical Returns
Sdn. Bhd.

Ketara Resource  
Sdn. Bhd.  

(formerly known as 
Permai Biotek Sdn. 

Bhd.) Total
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

(ii) Summarised Statements of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 

Revenue 91,762 142,597 - - 91,762 142,597
(Loss)/Profit for  

the year 
representing total 
comprehensive 
income (35,965) 12,977 (84) - (36,049) 12,977

Group’s share of:

(Loss)/Profit for  
the year (17,623) 6,358 (41) - (17,664) 6,358

Other 
comprehensive 
income - - - - - -

Total 
comprehensive 
(loss)/income (17,623) 6,358 (41) - (17,664) 6,358

Dividends received - (2,864) - - - (2,864)

(c) Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented above to the carrying value of the 
Group’s interest in associate companies.

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Share of net identifiable assets
At 1 January 17,749 16,912
Subscription of shares in an associate 368 -
Share of post acquisition (loss)/profit during the financial year (17,664)  6,358 
At 31 December 453 23,270
Less:  Dividends received on ordinary shares - (260)

Dividends received on investment in Redeemable Convertible 
Preference Shares - (2,604)

Adjustments on amortisation of intangible asset embedded in 
cost of investment (3,401) (2,657)

Carrying value of Group’s interest in the associates (2,948) 17,749

(d) There is no share of commitments and contingent liabilities from the associate companies to the 
Group.
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NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

19. Investment in a joint venture

Group
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

Unquoted shares, at cost -  2,226 
Share of post acquisition reserves -  (244)

-  1,982 
Less: Accumulated impairment losses -  (400)

-  1,582 

Represented by:
Share of net tangible assets -  1,496 
Goodwill on acquisition -  86 

-  1,582 

The Group’s interest in the joint venture is accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial 
statements.

(a)  Details of the joint venture, which is incorporated in Malaysia, are as follows:

Proportion of
ownership interest (%)

Name of the joint venture 2016 2015 Principal activities

Held through a subsidiary

General Aluminium Works 
   (M) Sdn. Bhd.

TANN-GAW (M) Sdn. Bhd. - 50 Members’ voluntary liquidation

 The joint venture was not audited by the auditors of the Company.

 On 8 September 2014, the joint venture was placed under Members’ Voluntary Liquidation pursuant 
to a members’ resolution passed at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on that date. A liquidator 
for the joint venture has been appointed.

 As the joint venture was placed under Members’ Voluntary Liquidation, the last financial statements 
were made up for the period from 1 January 2014 to 7 September 2014.

 As disclosed in Note 12, TANN-GAW (M) Sdn. Bhd. ceased to be a joint venture of the Group upon 
the completion of the disposal of GAW on 5 September 2016. There is no gain or loss on disposal of 
joint venture as its carrying amount formed part and parcel of the net assets of GAW.
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19. Investment in a joint venture (cont’d)

(b) The summarised information represents the amounts in the financial statements of the joint venture 
and not the Group’s share of those amounts. 

(i) Summarised Statement of Financial Position 

 As of
07.09.2014

RM’000 
Cash and cash equivalents  3,797 
Other receivables  45 

Total assets  3,842 

Other payables  40 
Income tax payable  10 

Total liabilities  50 

Net assets  3,792 

(ii) Summarised Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

01.01.2014
to

07.09.2014
RM’000

Profit before tax  48 
Profit after tax  31 
Total profit or loss and other comprehensive income  31 

(c) Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented above to the carrying amount of the 
Group’s interest in joint venture.

Group
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

Net assets at 31 December -  3,792 

Share of net assets -  1,896 
Add: Goodwill on acquisition -  86 
Less: Accumulated impairment losses -  (400)

Carrying value of Group’s interest in joint venture -  1,582 

(d) The joint venture has no capital commitments or contingent liabilities as at the reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

20. Other investments
  

Group Company
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

Available-for-sale financial assets
Equity instruments (quoted in Malaysia) 1,161 1,104 1,161 1,102
Equity instruments (quoted outside Malaysia) 65 37 -  -   

1,226 1,141 1,161 1,102

Equity instruments (unquoted), at cost 100 14,537 -  -   
Less : Accumulated impairment losses - (14,437) -  -   

100 100 -  -   

Loans and receivables
Investment in redeemable convertible    

preference shares (Note 38) 14,043 12,861 - -
Total other investments 15,369 14,102 1,161 1,102

Market value of quoted shares
- in Malaysia 1,161 1,104 1,161 1,102
- outside Malaysia 65 37  -    -   

Impairment on available-for-sale financial assets

The movement of the impairment account used to record impairment is as follows:

Group Company
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
At 1 January 14,437 14,437 - -

Written off (9,435) - - -
Attributable to discontinued operation (5,002) - - -

At 31 December - 14,437 - -

21.  Intangible assets
 

Group
 Goodwill 
 RM’000 

 Timber 
 rights 

 RM’000 
Total

RM’000

Cost
At 1 January 2015/ 31 December 2015  

and 1 January 2016 33,728 111,584 145,312
Attributable to discontinued operation (135) - (135)

At 31 December 2016 33,593 111,584 145,177

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2015 5,506 67,251 72,757
Amortisation (Note 8) - 6,154 6,154
Impairment loss (Note 8) 2,308 - 2,308
At 31 December 2015 and 1 January 2016 7,814 73,405 81,219
Amortisation (Note 8) - 6,154 6,154
Attributable to discontinued operation (135) - (135)
Impairment loss (Note 8) 1,725 - 1,725
At 31 December 2016 9,404 79,559 88,963
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NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

21.  Intangible assets (cont’d)
 

Group (cont’d)
 Goodwill 
 RM’000 

 Timber 
 rights 

 RM’000 
Total

RM’000

Net carrying amount

At 31 December 2016 24,189 32,025 56,214

At 31 December 2015 25,914 38,179 64,093

(a) Impairment testing of goodwill          
  

 Allocation of goodwill 
      
 Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units 

("CGU") as follows: 

Goodwill
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

At 31 December
Timber division 22,873 24,598
Trading division 1,308 1,308
Manufacturing division 8 8

24,189 25,914

 The recoverable amount of goodwill is determined based on value-in-use calculations using cash  
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period 
and/or over the period of the rights granted and expected to be granted. The assumptions used for 
value-in-use calculations are:

Terminal Growth Rates Discount Rates
2016 2015 2016 2015

Timber segment 1% 1% 13% 12%
Trading division 1% 1% 10% 11%

 The following are the key assumptions on which management has based its cash flow projections to 
undertake the impairment testing of goodwill: 

(i) Budgeted gross margin 

 The basis used to determine the values assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average 
gross margins achieved in the year immediately before the budgeted year increased for 
expected efficiency improvements. 
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NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

21.  Intangible assets (cont’d)

(a) Impairment testing of goodwill (cont’d)        
  

 Allocation of goodwill (cont’d)
      
 The following are the key assumptions on which management has based its cash flow projections to 

undertake the impairment testing of goodwill (cont’d):

(ii) Discount rates 

 The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant cash 
generating units. 

(iii) Terminal growth rates 

 The forecasted growth are based on industry research and past historical trend. 

 The Group believes that there are no reasonable possible change in the above key assumptions 
applied that is likely to materially cause the recoverable amount to be lower than its carrying amount.

22. Biological assets 
 

Group

 Oil palm
plantation

development
expenditure

 RM’000 

Reforestation
(Tree planting)
expenditure

RM’000 
Total

RM’000

Cost
At 1 January 2015 264,397 74,668 339,065
Additions 25,101 7,803 32,904
Transfer from property, plant and equipment (Note 14) 8  - 8

At 31 December 2015/ 1 January 2016 289,506 82,471 371,977
Additions 12,246 6,677 18,923
Transfer from property, plant and equipment (Note 14) 8  - 8

At 31 December 2016 301,760 89,148 390,908

 Included in biological assets are the following costs incurred during the financial year:

Group
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 14) 2,594 3,574
Employee benefits expense (Note 9) 3,307 4,118
Finance costs (Note 7) 5,602 8,921

 The biological assets with carrying amount of RM354,390,000 (2015: RM339,843,000) have been pledged 
for certain term loans as disclosed in Note 30.
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23. Deferred tax   

Group

 As at 1
January

2015
 RM’000 

Recognised 
 in profit  
or loss

(Note 11)
 RM’000 

Exchange
Difference
 RM’000

 
As at 31 

 December 
 2015

RM’000 

Recognised 
 in profit  
or loss

(Note 11)
 RM’000 

Exchange
Difference
 RM’000

Attributable
to 

discontinued
operation
(Note 12)
RM’000

 
As at 31 

 December 
 2016

 RM’000 

Deferred tax liabilities:
Property, 

plant and 
equipment (109,271) (644) (9) (109,924) 7,001 (4) 1,593 (101,334)

Timber rights (5,341) 722 - (4,619) 4,619 - - -
Biological assets (82,011) (2,118) - (84,129) 2,717 - - (81,412)
Others -  (149)  -    (149)  (184)  -    -    (333)

(196,623) (2,189) (9) (198,821) 14,153 (4) 1,593 (183,079)

Deferred tax assets:
Retirement 

benefit 
obligations 634 17 - 651 (77) - - 574

Unabsorbed 
capital 
allowance and 
tax losses 120,666 (1,319) - 119,347 (12,014) - - 107,333

Unutilised 
reinvestment 
allowance 1,186 1,052 - 2,238 - - - 2,238

Allowance for  
impairment 
losses 63 (25) - 38 - - (38) -

Others 273 66  -   339 2,683  -   - 3,022

122,822 (209)  -   122,613 (9,408)  -   (38) 113,167

Company

 
 As at 1 
 January 

 2015
 RM’000 

 Recognised 
 in profit 
 or loss 

(Note 11)
 RM’000 

 
As at 31 

 December 
 2015

 RM’000 

Recognised 
 in profit 
 or loss

(Note 11) 
 RM’000 

 
As at 31 

 December 
 2016

 RM’000 

Deferred tax liabilities:
Property, plant and equipment  (53) 36  (17) (541) (558)

Deferred tax assets:
Unabsorbed capital allowance  

and tax losses  12 (12) - - -
Allowance for doubtful debts  3 (3) - - -

 15 (15) - - -

 (38) 21  (17) (541) (558)
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NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

23. Deferred tax (cont’d)  
 

Group Company
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

Presented after appropriate  
offsetting as follows:

Deferred tax assets - 43 - -
Deferred tax liabilities (69,912) (76,251) (558) (17)

(69,912) (76,208) (558) (17)

Certain deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items: 

Group
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

Unutilised tax losses 32,681 16,465
Unabsorbed capital allowances 37,264 11,444
Oil palm plantation development expenditure (30,362) -
Property, plant and equipment (25,181) (17,638)
Unabsorbed reinvestment allowances - 814

14,402 11,085

These deferred tax assets are not recognised as it is not probable that future taxable profit will be available 
against which the unutilised tax losses, unabsorbed capital allowances and unabsorbed reinvestment 
allowances can be utilised. The availability of the unutilised tax losses, unabsorbed capital allowances  
and unabsorbed reinvestment allowances for offsetting against future taxable profits of the Group is subject 
to agreement by the tax authorities.

24. Inventories

Group
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

At cost
Finished goods 75,834 110,777
Work-in-progress 9,460 8,920
Raw materials 20,547 14,432
Consumable inventories 16,359 17,976
Finished goods in transit 4,270 -
Materials in transit - 272
Vacant lots 1,251 1,251

At net realisable value
Work-in-progress 709 3,008
Finished goods 19,564 33

147,994 156,669

 The Group’s inventories of RM1,251,000 (2015: RM1,251,000) are expected to be recovered after more than 
twelve months.
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25. Trade and other receivables

Group Company
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

Trade receivables
Third parties 45,343 40,060 -  - 
Amount due from an associate 48,889 11,102 -  - 
Amount due from subsidiaries - - - 2,114

94,232 51,162 - 2,114

Less: Allowance for impairment (1,660) (4,678) -  - 

Trade receivables, net 92,572 46,484 - 2,114

Other receivables:
Amount due from associates 26,745 25,669 - -
Amount due from subsidiaries - - 40,092 42,828
Refundable deposits 6,297 4,517 77 144
Sundry receivables 18,625 47,242 2,930 3,332

51,667 77,428 43,099 46,304
Less: Allowance for impairment 

         Third parties (2,178) (4,687) - -
         Amount due from subsidiaries - - (6,539) (6,539)

(2,178) (4,687) (6,539) (6,539)

Other receivables, net 49,489 72,741 36,560 39,765

Total trade and other  
receivables (Note 38) 142,061 119,225 36,560 41,879

(a) Trade receivables

 Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and generally on 7 to 120 days (2015: 7 to 120 days) terms. 
Other credit terms are assessed and approved on a case-by-case basis. They are recognised at 
their original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition. Included in third 
parties trade receivables of the Group is RM3,045,000 (2015: RM5,755,000) due from related parties. 
The amounts are unsecured, interest free and are repayable on demand. 

NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016
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NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

25. Trade and other receivables (cont’d)

(a) Trade receivables (cont’d)

 Ageing analysis of trade receivables 

 The ageing analysis of the Group and of the Company’s trade receivables are as follows: 

Group Company
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

Neither past due nor impaired 39,234 29,495  -   -

1 to 30 days past due but  
not impaired 6,684 7,431  -   -

31 to 60 days past due but 
not impaired 4,852 4,430  -   -

61 to 90 days past due but  
not impaired 2,368 1,290  -   -

91 to 120 days past due but 
not impaired 4,883 900  -   -

More than 121 days past due but  
 not impaired 34,551 2,938  -   2,114

53,338 16,989  -   2,114
Impaired 1,660 4,678  -    -   

94,232 51,162  -   2,114
 
 Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired 

 Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with good payment 
records with the Group and the Company. Most of the Group’s and the Company’s trade receivables 
arise from customers with more than 5 years of experience with the Group and the Company and 
losses have occurred infrequently. 

 None of the Group’s and the Company’s trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired have 
been renegotiated during the financial year. 

 Receivables that are past due but not impaired

 The Group and the Company have trade receivables amounting to RM53,338,000 (2015: 
RM16,989,000) and Nil (2015: RM2,114,000) respectively that are past due at the reporting date but 
not impaired. These receivables are unsecured. None of the past due account holders have history of 
default records. The management is confident in making collection from these receivables in the near 
future. 
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25. Trade and other receivables (cont’d)

(a) Trade receivables (cont’d)

 Receivables that are impaired 
 
 The Group’s trade receivables that are impaired at the reporting date and the movement of the 

allowance accounts used to record the impairment are as follows: 
  

Group
Collectively

impaired
Individually
 impaired Total

2016
RM’000 

2015
RM’000 

2016
RM’000 

2015
RM’000 

2016
RM’000 

2015
RM’000 

Trade receivables  
   - nominal amounts - 23 1,660 4,655 1,660 4,678
Less:  
Allowance for 
   impairment -  (23) (1,660) (4,655) (1,660) (4,678)

- - - - - -

 Movements in allowance accounts:

Group
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

At 1 January 4,678 2,417
Charge for the year (Note 8) 7 4,288
Written off (1,948) (2,036)
Attributable to discontinued operation (65) -
Reversal of impairment losses (Note 6) (1,014) -
Exchange difference 2 9

At 31 December 1,660 4,678

 Trade receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the reporting date relate to 
debtors that have defaulted on payments. These receivables are not secured by any collateral or 
credit enhancements. Included in trade receivables of the Group that are impaired is an amount of Nil 
(2015: RM2,367,000) pertaining to related parties.

(b) Other receivables - amount due from associates

 Amount due from associates arose mainly from advances and payments made on behalf. The amount 
due from associates is unsecured, interest free and is repayable on demand, except for an unsecured 
short term advance of RM30,200,000 (2015: RM20,200,000), which bears interest at rates ranging 
from 4.61% to 5.30% (2015: 4.97% to 5.30%) and is repayable within the credit period of 12 months. 

NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016
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NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

25. Trade and other receivables (cont’d)

(c) Other receivables - amount due from subsidiaries and sundry receivables 

(i) Amount due from subsidiaries 

Amount due from subsidiaries of the Company are unsecured, interest free and repayable on 
demand. 

(ii) Sundry receivables 

(a) Included in sundry receivables of the Group is RM5,133,000 (2015: RM6,006,000) due 
from related parties. The amounts are unsecured, interest free and are repayable on 
demand. 

(b) Included in 2015 sundry receivables of the Group and of the Company is an amount of 
RM26,970,300 and RM3,108,600 respectively representing balance purchase price for 
disposal of investment properties in the previous year as disclosed in Note 16(a). 

(c) As disclosed in Note 12, the sale of GAW was completed upon fulfilment of the 
conditions precedent as stipulated in the Share Sale Agreement (“SSA”), of which one of 
the conditions is that a Corporate Guarantee of RM3,000,000 be given by the Company 
to General Aluminium Holding Ltd for a period of 5 years in the event the amount in the 
Escrow Account has been fully utilised or is insufficient to pay any future tax, penalties or 
fines imposed by the Inland Revenue Board ("IRB") in regards to the former subsidiary’s 
tax returns for the years of assessment 2007 to 2014 or that the Escrow Account has 
been closed upon completion of the Escrow period. The contingent liability is disclosed 
in Note 40(a). 

 Included in sundry receivables of the Group and of the Company is an amount of 
RM1,874,000 and RM1,834,000 respectively representing Escrow Account establised 
for a period of 3 years (“Escrow period”) from 1 September 2016 for the settlement of 
any future tax, penalties or fines imposed by the IRB in regards to the former subsidiary’s 
tax returns for the years of assessment 2007 to 2014.

Other receivables that are impaired

The Group’s and the Company’s other receivables that are impaired at the reporting date and the 
movement of the allowance accounts used to record the impairment are as follows:

Individually impaired
Group Company

 2016
RM’000 

2015
RM’000

 2016
RM’000 

2015
RM’000

Other receivables - nominal amounts 2,227 6,024  6,539 6,539
Less: Allowance for impairment (2,178) (4,687) (6,539) (6,539)

49 1,337 - -
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NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

25. Trade and other receivables (cont’d)

(c) Other receivables - amount due from subsidiaries and sundry receivables (cont’d)

Other receivables that are impaired (cont’d)

Movements in allowance accounts:

Group Company
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

At 1 January 4,687 3,872 6,539 6,711
Charge for the year (Note 8) - 5,672 - -
Reversal of impairment losses  

(Note 6) (750) (264) - (172)
Written off (1,759) (4,593) - -

At 31 December 2,178 4,687 6,539 6,539

Included in other receivables of the Group that are impaired is an amount of RM1,256,000 (2015: 
RM2,006,000) pertaining to related parties.

26. Other current assets 

Group Company
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

Tax recoverable 6,674 9,603 55  142 
Prepayments 4,469 4,559 17 20

11,143 14,162 72 162

27. Cash and bank balances

Group Company
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

Cash on hand and at banks 118,535 195,797 2,994 3,591
Short-term deposits with  

licensed financial institutions 249,512 156,829 51,941 20,747

Cash and bank balances (Note 38) 368,047 352,626 54,935 24,338

Certain amounts of cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposits rates. Short-
term deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and twelve months (2015: one day and 
twelve months) depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group and the Company and earn 
interest at the respective short-term deposits rates. The weighted average effective interest rates per annum 
for deposits at the end of the financial year are as follows:

Group Company
2016

% 
2015

% 
2016

% 
2015

% 

Licensed financial institutions 3.10 2.74 3.59 4.09
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NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

27. Cash and bank balances (cont’d) 

 Included in deposits of the Group were fixed deposits of RM64,000 (2015: RM62,000) pledged to licensed 
financial institutions for bank guarantee facilities granted to the Group.

 For the purpose of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise of the following at  
the reporting date:

Group Company
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

Cash and bank balances 368,047 352,626 54,935 24,338
Less: Bank overdrafts (Note 30) (23,413) (29,112) -  - 
Less:  Fixed deposits pledged to licensed 

   financial institutions (64) (62)  -  - 

Cash and cash equivalents 344,570 323,452 54,935 24,338

28. Assets classified as held for sale
 

Group
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

At 1 January 14,483 -
Transfer from investment properties (Note 16) - 14,483
Disposal (14,483) -

At 31 December - 14,483

 7% of the total cash consideration of RM21,033,000 has been received as deposit in the previous financial 
year as disclosed in Note 31(b).

 The disposal transaction of the Group was successfully completed during the financial year and disposal 
gain of RM6,550,000 was recognised during the financial year.

29. Retirement benefit obligations

 One of the subsidiaries of the Group operates an unfunded defined benefit plan for its eligible employees in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of employment between the subsidiary and its employees. 

 The amounts recognised in the statements of financial position are determined as follows: 

Group
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

Present value of unfunded defined benefit obligations 2,391 2,605
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NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

29. Retirement benefit obligations (cont’d)

Group
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

Analysed as:
Current
Not later than 1 year 181 257

Non-current:
Later than 1 year but not later than 2 years 318 167
Later than 2 years but not later than 5 years 879 752
Later than 5 years 1,013 1,429

2,210 2,348

2,391 2,605

 The amounts recognised in the profit or loss are as follows:

Group
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

Current service cost 56 102
Interest cost 119 111

Total, included in employee benefits expense (Note 9) 175 213

 Movements in the net liability in the current year were as follows:

Group
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

At 1 January 2,605 2,539

Add:  Included in profit or loss
Current year provision (Note 9) 175 213

Add:  Included in other comprehensive income
Remeasurement gain on retirement benefit obligations (27) -

2,753 2,752
Less: Paid during the year (362) (147)

At 31 December 2,391 2,605
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
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29. Retirement benefit obligations (cont’d)

 The principal assumptions used in determining the defined benefit plan are shown below: 

Group
2016

% 
2015

% 

Discount rate 4.9 4.5
Expected rate of salary increases:
- below age 25 - 5.0
- ages 25 - 29 - 5.0
- ages 30 - 34 - 5.0
- ages 35 - 39 6.5 4.5
- ages 40 - 44 5.5 4.0
- ages 45 - 49 5.5 4.0
- from age > 49 5.0 4.0

 A quantitative sensitivity analysis of the change in the discount rate as at 31 December is shown below:  
           

Impact on defined  
benefit obligations
(decrease)/increase
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

1% increase in discount rate (128) (145)
1% decrease in discount rate 140 -
1% increase in salary 169 -
1% decrease in salary (156) 209
100% increase in the base withdrawal rate (21) -
50% decrease in the base withdrawal rate 12 -

30. Loans and borrowings

Group Group
 2016

Maturity
2015

Maturity
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

Current
Secured:
Bank overdrafts On demand On demand 23,413 29,112
Term loans:

- RM loan at lender’s cost  
of fund + 1.25% p.a. 2017  2016 13,250 17,250

- RM loan at lender’s cost  
of fund + 1.00% p.a. 2017  2016 11,530 8,780

- RM loan at lender’s cost  
of fund + 1.50% p.a. 2017  2016 3,800 1,500

- SGD loan at lender’s cost  
of fund - 3.22% (2015: - 1.82%) p.a. 2017  2016 278 263

Trade financing facilities 2017  2016 52,882 71,555
Obligations under finance lease (Note 37(a)) 2017  2016 1,799 2,847

  106,952 131,307
Unsecured:
Trade financing facilities 2017  2016 40,000 36,544

146,952 167,851
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30. Loans and borrowings (cont’d)

Group Group
 2016

Maturity
2015

Maturity
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

Non-current
Secured:
Term loans

- RM loan at lender’s cost  
of fund + 1.25% p.a. - 2017 - 5,400

- RM loan at lender’s cost  
of fund + 1.25% p.a. 2018 - 2019 2017 - 2019 17,600 25,450

- RM loan at lender’s cost  
of fund + 1.50% p.a. 2018 - 2020 2017 - 2020 24,950 24,800

- RM loan at lender’s cost  
of fund + 1.00% p.a. 2018 - 2019 2017 - 2019 21,000 29,530

- RM loan at lender’s cost  
of fund + 1.375% p.a. 2020 - 2023 2020 - 2023  6,000  6,000 

- RM loan at lender’s cost  
of fund + 1.00% p.a. 2019 - 2022 2019 - 2022 33,500 30,750

- SGD loan at lender’s cost  
of fund - 3.22% (2015: - 1.82%) p.a. 2018 - 2022 2017 - 2022 1,376 1,615

- 3.00% p.a. fixed rate RM loan 2022 - 2027 2024 - 2029 17,619 17,174
Obligations under finance lease (Note 37(a)) 2018 2017 - 2018 578 2,112

  122,623 142,831

Total loans and borrowings (Note 38)   269,575 310,682

Company Company
 2016

Maturity
2015

Maturity
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

Current
Secured:
Obligations under finance lease (Note 37(a)) 2017 2016 32 66

Non-current
Secured:
Obligations under finance lease (Note 37(a)) - 2017 - 32

Total loans and borrowings (Note 38) 32 98
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30. Loans and borrowings (cont’d)

Group Company
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

Total loans and borrowings
Bank overdrafts (Note 27) 23,413 29,112  -    -   
Term loans 150,903 168,512  -    -   
Trade financing facilities 92,882 108,099  -    -   
Obligations under finance lease (Note 37(a)) 2,377 4,959  32 98

269,575 310,682 32 98

 The remaining maturities of the loans and borrowings as at 31 December are as follows: 

Group Company
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

Not later than 1 year 146,952 167,851  32  66 
Later than 1 year but not later than 2 years 34,548 31,531  -  32 
Later than 2 years but not later than 5 years 57,761 70,515  -    -   
Later than 5 years 30,314 40,785  -    -   

269,575 310,682  32  98 

 The weighted average of interest rates per annum for borrowings at the end of the financial year were as 
follows: 

Group Company
 2016

 % 
2015

%
 2016

 % 
2015

%

Bank overdrafts 7.36 7.48 -  -   
Term loans 4.09 4.09 -  -   
Trade financing facilities 4.12 4.39 -  -   
Obligations under finance lease 4.02 4.02 2.68 2.68 

 The bank overdrafts, term loans and trade financing facilities of the Group are secured by certain assets of 
the Group as disclosed in Note 14.

 RM loan at lender’s cost of fund + 1.25% p.a. & RM loan at lender’s cost of fund + 1.375% p.a.

 The term loans are secured by a fixed and floating charge over all the assets as disclosed in Notes 14, 15 
and 22 of one of the subsidiaries, excluding the License for Planted Forest No. LPF/0032 and is secured by 
corporate guarantee issued by the Company.

 3.00% p.a. fixed rate RM loan (Forest Plantation Development Sdn. Bhd.)

 The term loan is secured by an unconditional and irrevocable corporate guarantee and indemnity by the 
Company and a first party deed of assignment over the project area within License No. LPF/0032. In addition, 
it is also secured by a Power of Attorney in favour of Forest Plantation Development Sdn. Bhd. in the form 
approved by Forest Plantation Development Sdn. Bhd..
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for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

30. Loans and borrowings (cont’d)

 RM loan at lender’s cost of fund + 1.00% p.a.

 The term loans are secured by a fixed and floating charge over all the assets as disclosed in Notes 14, 15 
and 22 of certain subsidiaries of the Group, both present and future and is secured by corporate guarantee 
issued by the Company.

 RM loan at lender’s cost of fund + 1.50% p.a

 The term loans are secured by a fixed and floating charge over all the assets as disclosed in Notes 14, 15 
and 22 of one of the subsidiaries, both present and future and is secured by corporate guarantee issued  
by the Company.

 SGD loan at lender’s cost of fund - 3.22% p.a. (2015: lender’s cost of fund - 1.82% p.a.)

 The term loan is secured over one of the subsidiaries of the Group’s building and freehold land as disclosed 
in Notes 14 and 15 and is secured by corporate guarantee issued by the Company.

31. Trade and other payables

Group Company
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000
 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000

Trade payables 106,233 50,108 - -

Other payables:
Accruals 12,035 14,363 690 737
Sundry payables 11,227 23,197 734 11,979
Amount due to subsidiaries - - 3,897 10,888

23,262 37,560 5,321 23,604

Total trade and other  
payables (Note 38) 129,495 87,668 5,321 23,604

Less: Amount due within 12 months (129,495) (87,668) (5,321) (23,604)

Amount due after 12 months  - -  - -

(a) Trade payables 

 Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 to 90 days (2015: 30 to 120 
days) terms. Included in trade payables of the Group is RM23,622,000 (2015: RM5,302,000) due to 
related parties. The amounts are unsecured, interest free and are repayable on demand. 

(b) Sundry payables 

 Sundry payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on an average of 2 to 6 months 
(2015: 2 to 6 months). 
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31. Trade and other payables (cont’d)

(b) Sundry payables (cont’d)

 Included in sundry payables of the Group and of the Company is an amount of Nil (2015: RM11,261,633) 
relating to the deferred contingent consideration for the acquisition of Alanya Marine Ventures Sdn. 
Bhd. ("AMV") during the financial year ended 31 December 2014. As stipulated in the conditional 
share sale agreement, the total cash amount of deferred contingent consideration of RM11,475,000 
will be payable to the vendors upon achievement of the following: 

(i) RM6,885,000 in the event Nautical Returns Sdn. Bhd. ("NRSB") achieves a minimum profit 
after tax of RM10,945,268 for the financial year ended 31 December 2015; and 

(ii) RM4,590,000 in the event NRSB achieves a minimum profit after tax of RM17,189,198 for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2016. 

 NRSB has achieved the minimum profit after tax of RM10,945,268 for the financial year ended 31 
December 2015. Deferred contingent consideration relating to the acquisition of AMV of RM6,885,000 
had been paid during the financial year.

 NRSB has not achieved the minimum profit after tax of RM17,189,198 for the year ended  
31 December 2016. The deferred contingent consideration of RM4,590,000 was reversed during  
the financial year and recognised as other income.

 
 Included in sundry payables of the Group is also deposit received for assets classified as held for sale 

of RM1,472,310 in the previous financial year as disclosed in Note 28.

 Included in sundry payables of the Group is RM3,403,000 (2015: RM363,000) due to related parties. 
The amounts are unsecured, interest free and are repayable on demand.

(c) Amount due to subsidiaries 

 Amount due to subsidiaries of the Company is unsecured, interest-free and is repayable on demand.

32. Share capital, share premium and treasury shares

Number of ordinary 
shares of RM0.50 each Amount

  2016
 ’000  

  2015
 ’000 

 2016
 RM’000 

 2015
 RM’000 

Authorised share capital
At 1 January / 31 December  2,000,000  2,000,000  1,000,000  1,000,000 
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32. Share capital, share premium and treasury shares (cont’d)

Group and Company
Number of ordinary 

shares of RM0.50 each  Amount 

Share
Capital

(issued and
fully paid)

’000

Treasury
shares

’000

Share
Capital

(issued and
fully paid)
RM’000

Share
premium
RM’000

Total
share
capital

and share
premium
RM’000

Treasury
shares
RM’000

At 1 January 2015 481,345 (3,831) 240,672 68,674 309,346 (8,111)
Purchase of treasury shares  -  (20)  -  -  -  (21)

At 31 December 2015/ 
   1 January 2016 481,345 (3,851) 240,672  68,674  309,346  (8,132)
Purchase of treasury shares - (20) - - - (24)

At 31 December 2016  481,345  (3,871)  240,672  68,674  309,346  (8,156)

(a) Share capital

 The holders of ordinary shares (except treasury shares) are entitled to receive dividends as and when 
declared by the Company. All ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restrictions and rank 
equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets. 

(b) Share premium

 Share premium account can be utilised for distribution to the members of the Company by way of 
bonus share issue. 

(c) Treasury shares

 Treasury shares relate to ordinary shares of the Company that are held by the Company. The amount 
consists of the acquisition costs of treasury shares net of the proceeds received on their subsequent 
sale or issuance. 

 The Company acquired 20,000 shares (2015: 20,000 shares) in the Company through purchases 
on the Bursa Malaysia during the financial year. The total amount paid to acquire the shares was 
RM24,000 (2015: RM21,000) and this was presented as a component within shareholders’ equity. 
The repurchase transactions were financed by internally generated funds. The share repurchased are 
being held as treasury shares. 

 Of the total 481,344,552 issued and fully paid ordinary shares as at 31 December 2016, 3,871,000 
shares are held as treasury shares by the Company. As at 31 December 2016, the number of 
outstanding ordinary shares in issued after set-off is therefore 477,473,552. 

 There has been no resale of treasury shares or cancellation of shares bought back during the financial 
year.
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32. Share capital, share premium and treasury shares (cont’d)

(c) Treasury shares (cont’d)

 The monthly breakdown of shares repurchased for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 and 
31 December 2015 were as follows: 

Treasury shares

 Number of 
 ordinary 
 shares 

Purchase price
per share

Average 
price 

per share
RM

 Total 
 cost 
 RM 

 Lowest 
 RM 

 Highest 
 RM 

Balance as at 1 January 2016 
(Net of shares re-sold at 
RM0.50 each)  3,851,000 8,131,701

Shares bought back during the year: 
Months
March 10,000 1.40 1.40 1.40 14,000
August 10,000 1.02 1.02 1.02 10,200
Balance as at 31 December 2016

(Net of shares re-sold 
at RM0.50 each)  3,871,000 8,155,901

Transaction costs: 294

8,156,195

Balance as at 1 January 2015 
(Net of shares re-sold at 
RM0.50 each)  3,831,000 8,110,801

Shares bought back during the year: 
Months
March 10,000 1.17 1.17 1.17 11,700
August 10,000 0.92 0.92 0.92 9,200
Balance as at 31 December 2015

(Net of shares re-sold 
at RM0.50 each)  3,851,000  8,131,701 

Transaction costs: 107

8,131,808 

33. Other reserves   

Group

 Foreign 
 currency 

 translation 
 reserve 
 RM’000 

 Fair value 
 adjustment 

 reserve 
 RM’000 

 Total 
 RM’000 

At 1 January 2016 6,038 (196) 5,842

Other comprehensive income:
Available-for-sale financial assets:

- Gain on fair value changes - 88 88
- Transfer to profit or loss upon disposal - (2) (2)

Foreign currency translation 538  - 538

At 31 December 2016 6,576 (110) 6,466



W T K HOLDINGS BERHAD (10141-M)  ANNUAL REPORT 2016 137

NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

33. Other reserves (cont’d)  

Group (cont’d)

 Foreign 
 currency 

 translation 
 reserve 
 RM’000 

 Fair value 
 adjustment 

 reserve 
 RM’000 

 Total 
 RM’000 

At 1 January 2015 2,587 (200) 2,387

Other comprehensive income:
Available-for-sale financial assets:

- Gain on fair value changes - 4 4
Foreign currency translation 3,451  - 3,451

At 31 December 2015 6,038  (196) 5,842

Company

 Capital 
 reserve 
 RM’000 

 Fair value 
 adjustment 

 reserve 
 RM’000 

 Total 
 RM’000 

At 1 January 2016 400 (144) 256

Other comprehensive income:
Available-for-sale financial assets:

- Gain on fair value changes - 61 61
- Transfer to profit or loss upon disposal  - (1) (1)

At 31 December 2016 400 (84) 316

At 1 January 2015 400 (188) 212

Other comprehensive income:
Available-for-sale financial assets:

- Gain on fair value changes  - 44 44

At 31 December 2015  400 (144) 256

(a) Foreign currency translation reserve 

 The foreign currency translation reserve represents exchange differences arising from the translation 
of the financial statements of foreign operations whose functional currency is different from that of the 
Group’s presentation currency. 

(b) Fair value adjustment reserve

 Fair value adjustment reserve represents the cumulative fair value changes, net of tax, of available-
for-sale financial assets until they are disposed of or impaired.
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for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

34. Retained earnings

 The Company is under the single-tier income tax system and accordingly, the entire retained earnings of  
the Company are available for distribution as single-tier dividends to the shareholders of the Company. 

35. Related party transactions

 In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group and the  
Company had the following transactions with subsidiaries, an associate and other related parties during  
the financial year:

(i) Transactions with subsidiaries

Company
2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000 

Gross dividends received from subsidiaries:
Loytape Industries Sdn. Bhd. 870 740
Central Mercantile Corporation (S) Ltd. 2,347 -
Cairnfield Sdn. Bhd. 3,950 2,400
Dusun Nyiur Sdn. Bhd. 8,200 360
General Aluminium Works (M) Sdn. Bhd. 30,988 786
Gopoint Sdn. Bhd. - 2,500
Linshanhao Plywood (Sarawak) Sdn. Bhd. 3,850 1,200
Kuching Plywood Berhad 2,870 740
Piramid Intan Sdn. Bhd. 2,200 2,400
Sut Sawmill (3064) Sdn. Bhd. 1,160 1,320
Song Logging Company Sendirian Berhad 3,050 2,600

59,485 15,046

Management fee charged by a subsidiary: 
WTK Corporate Management Sdn. Bhd.  
(formerly known as Biofield Plantations Sdn. Bhd.) 333 -

Sale of property, plant and equipment to a subsidiary:  
WTK Corporate Management Sdn. Bhd.  
(formerly known as Biofield Plantations Sdn. Bhd.) 100 -

Purchase of investment properties from a subsidiary:  
General Aluminium Works (M) Sdn. Bhd. 18,385 -

(ii) Transactions with an associate - Nautical Returns Sdn. Bhd.

Group
2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000 

Management fee received from an associate 480 780
Interest income from an associate 1,337 384
Rendering of services to an associate 45,664 19,450
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

35. Related party transactions (cont’d)
 
 In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group and the  

Company had the following transactions with subsidiaries, an associate and other related parties during  
the financial year (cont’d):

(iii) Transactions with other related parties

Group
Note 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000 

Contract fees paid in relation to logging operations:
Ann Yun Logistics Sdn. Bhd. a 3,240 3,240
United Agencies Sdn. Bhd. b 9,609 8,002
W T K Realty Builder Sdn. Bhd. c - 70
W T K Realty Sdn. Bhd. d 88 317

12,937 11,629

Lighterage and freight:
Master Ace Territory Sdn. Bhd. e 1,114 1,218
Ocarina Development Sdn. Bhd. f 2,785 2,052
W T K Realty Sdn. Bhd. d 7,408 7,164
Harbour-View Realty Sdn. Bhd. g 124 -

11,431 10,434

Purchase of logs:
Faedah Mulia Sdn. Bhd. h - 3,443
Harbour-View Realty Sdn. Bhd. g 9,533 4,201
Ocarina Development Sdn. Bhd. f 29,886 41,754
Protection Gloves Sdn. Bhd. i - 3,378

39,419 52,776

Purchase of fertilizer:
WTK Service & Warehousing Sdn. Bhd. j 9,211 9,595

Purchase of frozen food:
Sing Chew Coldstorage Sdn. Bhd. k 2,987 1,717

Purchase of hardware and lubricants:
WTK Service & Warehousing Sdn. Bhd. j 17,954 13,498
W.T.K. Trading Sdn. Bhd. l - 27

17,954 13,525

Purchase of spare parts:
WTK Service & Warehousing Sdn. Bhd. j 26,706 6,891
W.T.K. Enterprises Sdn. Bhd. m - 32

26,706 6,923

Sales of sawn timber:
W T K Realty Builder Sdn. Bhd. c 5 131
W T K Realty Sdn. Bhd. d 566 72

571 203
 



W T K HOLDINGS BERHAD (10141-M)  ANNUAL REPORT 2016140

NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

35. Related party transactions (cont’d)

 In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group and the  
Company had the following transactions with subsidiaries, an associate and other related parties during  
the financial year (cont’d):

(iii) Transactions with other related parties (cont’d)

Group
Note 2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000 

Sales of fresh fruit bunches:
Delta-Pelita Sebakong Sdn. Bhd. n 11,829 -
Harvard Master Sdn. Bhd. o 7,554 -
Southwind Plantation Sdn. Bhd. p 929 -

20,312 -

Purchase of fresh fruit bunches:
W T K Realty Sdn. Bhd. d  110 -

 
(a) Ann Yun Logistics Sdn. Bhd. 

 The family members of the late Datuk Wong Kie Nai are directors and major shareholders of 
Ann Yun Logistics Sdn. Bhd.. 

(b) United Agencies Sdn. Bhd. 

 The directors and/or major shareholders of the Company, namely Datuk Wong Kie Yik, the 
late Datuk Wong Kie Nai (estate), Wong Kie Chie and Dato’ Sri Patrick Wong Haw Yeong are 
directors and/or major shareholders of United Agencies Sdn. Bhd.. 

(c) W T K Realty Builder Sdn. Bhd. 

 The directors and/or major shareholders of the Company, namely Datuk Wong Kie Yik, the late 
Datuk Wong Kie Nai (estate) and Wong Kie Chie are directors and/or major shareholders of  
W T K Realty Builder Sdn. Bhd., whilst family members of the late Datuk Wong Kie Nai are  
also directors and/or major shareholders of W T K Realty Builder Sdn. Bhd.. 

(d) W T K Realty Sdn. Bhd. 

 The directors and/or major shareholders of the Company, namely Datuk Wong Kie Yik, the 
late Datuk Wong Kie Nai (estate), Wong Kie Chie and Dato’ Sri Patrick Wong Haw Yeong are 
directors and/or major shareholders of W T K Realty Sdn. Bhd., whilst family members of  
Wong Kie Chie and the late Datuk Wong Kie Nai are also directors and/or a major shareholder  
of W T K Realty Sdn. Bhd.. 

(e) Master Ace Territory Sdn. Bhd. 

 The directors and/or major shareholders of the Company, namely Datuk Wong Kie Yik, the 
late Datuk Wong Kie Nai (estate) and Dato’ Sri Patrick Wong Haw Yeong are directors and/or  
major shareholders of Master Ace Territory Sdn. Bhd., whilst a family member of the late  
Datuk Wong Kie Nai is also a director of Master Ace Territory Sdn. Bhd.. 
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35. Related party transactions (cont’d)

 In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group and the  
Company had the following transactions with subsidiaries, an associate and other related parties during  
the financial year (cont’d):

(iii) Transactions with other related parties (cont’d)

(f) Ocarina Development Sdn. Bhd. 

 The directors and/or major shareholders of the Company, namely Datuk Wong Kie Yik, the late 
Datuk Wong Kie Nai (estate), Wong Kie Chie, Dato’ Sri Patrick Wong Haw Yeong and W T K 
Realty Sdn. Bhd. are directors and/or major shareholders of Ocarina Development Sdn. Bhd., 
whilst family members of Wong Kie Chie and the late Datuk Wong Kie Nai are also directors 
and/or a major shareholder of Ocarina Development Sdn. Bhd.. 

(g) Harbour-View Realty Sdn. Bhd. 

 The directors and/or major shareholders of the Company, namely Datuk Wong Kie Yik, Wong 
Kie Chie and Dato’ Sri Patrick Wong Haw Yeong are directors and/or major shareholders 
of Harbour-View Realty Sdn. Bhd., whilst family members of late Datuk Wong Kie Nai and  
Wong Kie Chie are also directors and major shareholders of Harbour-View Realty Sdn. Bhd.. 

(h) Faedah Mulia Sdn. Bhd. 

 The directors and/or major shareholders of the Company, namely Datuk Wong Kie Yik, Wong 
Kie Chie and Dato’ Sri Patrick Wong Haw Yeong are directors and/or major shareholders of 
Faedah Mulia Sdn. Bhd., whilst a family member of the late Datuk Wong Kie Nai is also a 
director of Faedah Mulia Sdn. Bhd.. 

(i) Protection Gloves Sdn. Bhd. 

 The directors and/or major shareholders of the Company, namely Datuk Wong Kie Yik, the 
late Datuk Wong Kie Nai (estate), Wong Kie Chie and Dato’ Sri Patrick Wong Haw Yeong  
are directors and/or major shareholders of Protection Gloves Sdn. Bhd.. 

(j) WTK Service & Warehousing Sdn. Bhd. 

 The directors and/or major shareholders of the Company, namely Datuk Wong Kie Yik,  
Wong Kie Chie and Dato’ Sri Patrick Wong Haw Yeong are directors of WTK Service & 
Warehousing Sdn. Bhd. ("WTK Service & Warehousing"), whilst WTK Service & Warehousing  
is wholly-owned by W T K Realty Sdn. Bhd., a major shareholder of the Company. W T K  
Realty Sdn. Bhd. is also a company deemed connected to Datuk Wong Kie Yik, the late  
Datuk Wong Kie Nai (estate) and Wong Kie Chie by virtue of their substantial shareholdings in 
W T K Realty Sdn. Bhd.. 

(k) Sing Chew Coldstorage Sdn. Bhd. 

 The directors and/or major shareholders of the Company, namely Datuk Wong Kie Yik 
and Dato’ Sri Patrick Wong Haw Yeong are directors of Sing Chew Coldstorage Sdn. Bhd. 
("Sing Chew"), whilst Sing Chew is wholly-owned by TMC Importer & Exporter Sdn. Bhd., a  
company deemed connected to Datuk Wong Kie Yik, the late Datuk Wong Kie Nai (estate) and 
Wong Kie Chie and W T K Realty Sdn. Bhd.. 
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for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

35. Related party transactions (cont’d)
 
 In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group and the  

Company had the following transactions with subsidiaries, an associate and other related parties during  
the financial year (cont’d):

(iii) Transactions with other related parties (cont’d)

(l) W.T.K. Trading Sdn. Bhd. 

 The directors and/or major shareholders of the Company, namely Datuk Wong Kie Yik, the late 
Datuk Wong Kie Nai (estate), Wong Kie Chie, Dato’ Sri Patrick Wong Haw Yeong are directors 
and/or major shareholders of W.T.K. Trading Sdn. Bhd. and the family members of late  
Datuk Wong Kie Nai are directors and/or major shareholders of W.T.K. Trading Sdn. Bhd.. 

(m) W.T.K. Enterprises Sdn. Bhd. 

 The directors and/or major shareholders of the Company, namely Datuk Wong Kie Yik, the 
late Datuk Wong Kie Nai (estate), Wong Kie Chie and W T K Realty Sdn. Bhd. are directors  
and/or major shareholders of W.T.K. Enterprises Sdn. Bhd., whilst family members of the 
late Datuk Wong Kie Nai are also directors and/or major shareholders of W.T.K. Enterprises  
Sdn. Bhd.. 

(n) Delta-Pelita Sebakong Sdn. Bhd. 

 The directors and/or major shareholders of the Company, namely Datuk Wong Kie Yik,  
Wong Kie Chie and Dato’ Sri Patrick Wong Haw Yeong are directors of Delta-Pelita Sebakong 
Sdn. Bhd. ("Delta-Pelita"), whilst a family member of Datuk Wong Kie Yik is also director  
of Delta-Pelita. Southwind Plantation Sdn. Bhd. is a major shareholder of Delta-Pelita. 
Southwind Plantation Sdn. Bhd. is deemed to connected to W T K Realty Sdn. Bhd.. 

(o) Harvard Master Sdn. Bhd. 

 The directors and/or major shareholders of the Company, namely Datuk Wong Kie Yik, the  
late Datuk Wong Kie Nai (estate), Wong Kie Chie, Dato’ Sri Patrick Wong Haw Yeong are 
directors and/or major shareholders of Harvard Master Sdn. Bhd., whilst the family members 
of the late Datuk Wong Kie Nai are also directors and/or a major shareholder of Harvard  
Master Sdn. Bhd.. 

(p) Southwind Plantation Sdn. Bhd. 

 The directors and/or major shareholders of the Company, namely Datuk Wong Kie Yik, the  
late Datuk Wong Kie Nai (estate), Wong Kie Chie, Dato’ Sri Patrick Wong Haw Yeong and  
W T K Realty Sdn. Bhd. are directors and/or major shareholders of Southwind Plantation Sdn. 
Bhd., whilst the family members of the late Datuk Wong Kie Nai and Wong Kie Chie are also 
directors of Southwind Plantation Sdn. Bhd.. 

Related parties are entities with common direct or indirect shareholders and/or directors. Related 
parties also include entities in which certain directors and/or substantial shareholders of the  
Company or persons connected to such directors and/or substantial shareholders have interest. 
Parties are considered to be related if the party has the ability to control the other party or exercise 
significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.

Information regarding outstanding balances arising from related party transactions as at  
31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 are disclosed in Notes 25 and 31 respectively.
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35. Related party transactions (cont’d)

(iv) Compensation of key management personnel 

 The remuneration of key management personnel during the year were as follows: 
   

Group Company
2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000 
2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000 

Short-term employee benefits 
(including benefits-in-kind) 6,594 6,698 1,358 1,407

Post-employment benefits:
- Defined contribution plan 513 548 90 113

7,107 7,246 1,448 1,520

 Included in the remuneration of key management personnel are:

Group Company
2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000 
2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000 

Total directors’ remuneration  
(including benefits-in-kind)  
(Note 10) 3,838 3,651 1,291 1,360

36. Capital Commitments 

 Capital expenditures as at the reporting date are as follows: 
 

Group Company
2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000 
2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000 

Capital expenditure
Approved and contracted for:
   Property, plant and equipment 21,236 - - -
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37. Other commitments

(a) Finance lease commitments 

 The Group has finance leases for certain items of plant and equipment and furniture and fixtures (Note 
14). These finance leases do not have terms of renewal, but have purchase options at nominal values 
at the end of the lease term. 

 Future minimum lease payments under finance leases together with the present value of the net 
minimum lease payments are as follows: 

Group Company
2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000 
2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000 

Minimum lease payments:
Not later than 1 year 1,874 3,032 33 69
Later than 1 year but not  

later than 2 years 484 1,913 - 33
Later than 2 years but not  

later than 5 years 118 279  -    -   

Total minimum lease payments 2,476 5,224 33 102
Less: Amount representing finance 

charges (99) (265) (1) (4)

Present value of minimum  
lease payments 2,377 4,959 32 98

Group Company
2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000 
2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000 

Present value of  
minimum lease payments:

Not later than 1 year 1,799 2,847 32 66
Later than 1 year but not  

later than 2 years 464 1,786 - 32
Later than 2 years but not  

later than 5 years 114 326 - -

Present value of minimum  
lease payments (Note 30) 2,377 4,959 32 98

Less: Amount due within  
12 months (Note 30) (1,799) (2,847) (32) (66)

Amount due after 12 months (Note 30) 578 2,112 - 32
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37. Other commitments (cont’d)

(b) Operating lease commitments 

 Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases of the Group and of the Company in 
respect of rental of premises and vessels are payable as follows: 

Group Company
2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000 
2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000 

Minimum lease payments:
Not later than 1 year 48,139 45,999 - -
Later than 1 year but not later  

than 5 years 118,358 159,094 - -

166,497 205,093 - -

38. Analysis of financial assets and liabilities by measurement basis

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured on an ongoing basis either at fair value or at amortised 
cost. The summary of significant policies in Note 2 describes how the classes of financial instruments 
are measured, and how income and expenses, including fair value gains and losses, are recognised. The 
following table analyses the carrying amounts of the financial assets and financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost by category as defined in FRS 139 and by statements of financial position heading.

Financial assets and 
financial liabilities at 

amortised cost

Note
Group

RM’000 
Company
RM’000 

At 31 December 2016

Financial assets    
Investment in redeemable convertible preference shares 20 14,043 -
Trade and other receivables 25 142,061 36,560
Cash and bank balances 27 368,047 54,935

524,151 91,495

Financial liabilities
Loans and borrowings 30 269,575 32
Trade and other payables 31 129,495 5,321

399,070 5,353

At 31 December 2015
Financial assets
Investment in redeemable convertible preference shares 20 12,861 -
Trade and other receivables 25 119,225 41,879
Cash and bank balances 27 352,626 24,338

484,712 66,217

Financial liabilities
Loans and borrowings 30 310,682 98
Trade and other payables 31 87,668 23,604

398,350 23,702
 
 Financial assets measured at fair value are disclosed in Note 39(c).
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39. Fair value of financial instruments 

(a) Set out below is a comparison of the carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial 
instruments, by class, other than those with carrying amounts which are reasonable approximations 
of fair values: 

Carrying amount Fair value

Note
2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000 
2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000 
Financial assets
Group
Available-for-sale financial assets

Unquoted investments 20 100 100 * *

*  Fair value information has not been disclosed for the Group’s investment in equity instruments that 
is carried at cost because fair value cannot be measured reliably. 

Financial liabilities
Group
Loans and borrowings (non-current)

3.00% p.a. fixed rate RM loan 30 17,619 17,174 14,562 12,837

(b) Determination of fair value

 The following are classes of financial instruments that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying 
amounts are approximation of fair value: 

 
Note

Investment in redeemable convertible preference shares 20
Trade and other receivables 25
Loans and borrowings (current and non-current except  

for obligation under finance lease and 3.00% p.a. fixed rate RM loan) 30
Trade and other payables 31

(i) Investment in redeemable convertible preference shares 

 Fair value is estimated by using a discounted cash flow model based on various assumptions, 
including current and expected future credit losses, market rates of interest and assumptions 
regarding market liquidity. 

(ii) Trade receivables and trade payables

 The carrying amounts of trade receivables and trade payables approximate their fair values 
because they are subject to normal trade credit terms. 

(iii) Other receivables and other payables

 The carrying amounts of these balances approximate their fair values due to their short-term 
nature.
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39. Fair value of financial instruments (cont’d)

(b) Determination of fair value (cont’d)
 
 The following are classes of financial instruments that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying 

amounts are approximation of fair value (cont’d): 

(iv) Loans and borrowings 

 The carrying values of bank borrowings and term loans approximate their fair values as they 
bear interest rates which approximate the current incremental borrowing rates for similar types 
of lending and borrowing arrangements.

(c) Fair value hierarchy

 The Group and the Company classify fair value measurement using a fair value hierarchy that reflects 
the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the 
following levels: 

 Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

 Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or  
  liability, either directly or indirectly; and 

 Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable  
  inputs) 

 The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s and the Company’s 
assets and liabilities. 

 Quantitative disclosures of the fair value measurement hierarchy as at 31 December 2016 and 31 
December 2015 were as follows:

Date of
valuation

Level 1
RM’000 

Level 2
RM’000 

Level 3
RM’000 

Total
RM’000 

Assets measured at fair value:

Group
Available-for-sale  
   financial assets
- Quoted investments 31 December

2016 1,226 - - 1,226
31 December

2015 1,141 - - 1,141
Company
Available-for-sale  
   financial assets
- Quoted investments 31 December

2016 1,161 - - 1,161
31 December

2015 1,102 - - 1,102
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39. Fair value of financial instruments (cont’d)

(c) Fair value hierarchy (cont’d)

 Quantitative disclosures of the fair value measurement hierarchy as at 31 December 2016 and  
31 December 2015 were as follows (cont’d):

Date of
valuation

Level 1
RM’000 

Level 2
RM’000 

Level 3
RM’000 

Total
RM’000 

Assets for which fair  
   values are disclosed:

Group
Investment properties 31 December

2016 - - 18,785 18,785
31 December

2015 - - - -

Company
Investment properties 31 December

2016 - - 18,385 18,385
31 December

2015 - - - -
Liabilities for which  
   fair values are 
   disclosed:

Group
Interest-bearing loans  
   and borrowings
  - 3.00% p.a. fixed 
    rate RM loan 

31 December
2016 - 14,562 - 14,562

31 December
2015 - 12,837 - 12,837

 There have been no transfers between Level 1 to Level 3 during the financial year.

40. Financial risk management objectives and policies 

The Group and the Company are exposed to financial risks arising from their operations and the use of 
financial instruments. The key financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, foreign 
currency risk and market price risk. 

The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies and procedures for the management of these risks, 
which are executed by the Chief Financial Officer, Group Finance Manager and Finance Managers of each 
subsidiary. The audit committee provides independent oversight to the effectiveness of the risk management 
process. 

It is, and has been throughout the current and previous financial year, the Group’s policy that no derivatives 
shall be undertaken. The Group and the Company do not apply hedge accounting. 

The following sections provide details regarding the Group’s and Company’s exposure to the above-
mentioned financial risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks. 
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40. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(a) Credit risk

 Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty 
default on its obligations. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from 
trade and other receivables. For other financial assets (including investment securities and cash and 
bank balances), the Group and the Company minimise credit risk by dealing mainly with high credit 
rating counterparties. 

 The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred due to 
increased credit risk exposure. The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. 
It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit 
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the 
result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. Since the Group trades only with 
recognised and creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for collateral. 

 Exposure to credit risk 

 At the reporting date, the Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented 
by: 

 
- The carrying amount of each class of financial assets recognised in the statements of financial 

position,

- A nominal amount of RM227,198,000 (2015: RM269,179,000) relating to corporate guarantees 
to banks and financial institutions on behalf of subsidiaries, and

 As at the reporting date, no values are placed on the unsecured corporate guarantees provided 
by the Company as the directors regard the value of the credit enhancement provided by the 
corporate guarantees to be minimal and the likelihood of default to be low. 

- A nominal amount of RM3,000,000 (2015: Nil) relating to corporate guarantee to third party as 
disclosed in Note 25(c)(ii)(c).  

 Credit risk concentration profile

 Trade receivables    
 
 The Group determines concentrations of credit risk by monitoring the country and industry sector 

profile of its trade receivables on an ongoing basis. The credit risk concentration profile of the Group’s 
trade receivables at the reporting date are as follows: 

Group
2016 2015

RM’000 % of total RM’000 % of total

By country:
Malaysia 68,057 74% 25,427 55%
India 151 - 261 1%
Japan 15,695 17% 8,690 19%
Australia 683 - 1,042 2%
Philippines - - 528 1%
Indonesia 50 - 174 -
Singapore 5,504 6% 6,683 14%
Other countries 2,432 3% 3,679 8%

92,572 100% 46,484 100%
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40. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(a) Credit risk (cont’d)

 Other receivables

 Included in other receivables of the Group and of the Company are amounts due from associates, 
subsidiaries and related parties. The Group provided unsecured advances to an associate and 
undertook certain transactions with related parties. The Company also provided unsecured advances 
to subsidiaries. There are no fixed repayment terms imposed on amounts due from associates, 
subsidiaries and related parties as the credit risk is managed on a Group basis by the management of 
the Group to ensure that risk of losses incurred by the Group and the Company due to non-repayment 
by these companies is minimised.

 At the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by their carrying 
amounts in the statements of financial position.

 Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

 Information regarding trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired is disclosed 
in Note 25. Deposits with banks and other financial institutions and investment securities that are 
neither past due nor impaired are placed with or entered into with reputable financial institutions or 
companies with high credit ratings and no history of default.

 Financial assets that are either past due or impaired

 Information regarding financial assets that are either past due or impaired is disclosed in Note 25. 
           

(b) Liquidity risk

 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting financial 
obligations due to shortage of funds. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises 
primarily from mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities. The Group’s and the 
Company’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the 
use of stand-by credit facilities. 

 The Group’s and the Company’s liquidity risk management policy is that not more than 80% (2015: 
80%) of loans and borrowings should mature in the next one year period, and to maintain sufficient 
liquid financial assets. At the reporting date, approximately 55% (2015: 54%) of the Group’s loans and 
borrowings will mature in less than one year based on the carrying amount reflected in the financial 
statements (Note 30). 
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NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

40. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(b) Liquidity risk (cont’d)

 Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities 

 The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s liabilities at the 
reporting date based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.

  

Financial liabilities:

On demand 
or within one 

year 
RM’000

 One to 
 five years 

RM’000

 Over five 
 years 

RM’000
 Total 

RM’000

2016

Group
Trade and other payables 129,495  -  - 129,495
Loans and borrowings 139,361 102,257 36,870 278,488
Total undiscounted 

financial liabilities 268,856 102,257 36,870 407,983

Company
Trade and other payables, 

excluding financial guarantees* 5,321 - - 5,321
Loans and borrowings 33 - - 33
Total undiscounted  

financial liabilities 5,354 - - 5,354

2015

Group
Trade and other payables 87,881 - - 87,881
Loans and borrowings 160,591 111,000 45,161 316,752

Total undiscounted  
financial liabilities 248,472 111,000 45,161 404,633

Company
Trade and other payables, 

excluding financial guarantees* 23,604 - - 23,604
Loans and borrowings 69 33 - 102

Total undiscounted  
financial liabilities 23,673 33 - 23,706

* At the reporting date, the counterparties to the financial guarantees do not have a right to 
demand cash as the defaults have not occurred. Accordingly, financial guarantees under the 
scope of FRS 139 are not included in the above maturity profile analysis. 

(c) Interest rate risk 

 Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and the Company’s 
financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. 
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NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

40. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(c) Interest rate risk (cont’d)

 The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily from their loans and 
borrowings at floating rates. The Group manages its interest rate exposure by maintaining a mix of 
fixed and floating rate borrowings. The Group actively reviews its debt portfolio, taking into account 
the investment holding period and nature of its assets. As the Group has no significant interest-
bearing financial assets, the Group’s income and operating cash flow are substantially independent of 
changes in market interest rates. The Group’s interest-bearing financial assets are mainly short-term 
in nature and have been mostly placed in fixed deposits. 

 Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk

 At the reporting date, if interest rates had been 50 basis points lower/higher, with all other variables 
held constant, the Group’s profit net of tax would have been RM948,000 (2015: RM1,082,000) higher/
lower, arising mainly as a result of lower/higher interest expense on floating rate loans and borrowings. 
The assumed movement in basis points for interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on the currently 
observable market environment. 

(d) Foreign currency risk

 Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. 

 The Group has transactional currency exposures arising from sales or purchases that are denominated 
in a currency other than the respective functional currencies of Group entities, primarily United States 
Dollar (USD), Singapore Dollar (SGD), Euro Dollar (EUR) and Hong Kong Dollar (HKD). 

 The Group is also exposed to currency translation risk arising from its net investments in foreign 
operations in Singapore. The Group’s net investments in Singapore are not hedged as currency 
positions in SGD is considered to be long-term in nature. 

 Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk

 The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s profit net of tax to a reasonably 
possible change in the USD, SGD, EUR and HKD exchange rates against the respective functional 
currencies of the Group entities, with all other variables held constant: 

 
Group

Profit net of tax
2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000 

USD/RM - strengthened  5% (507) 610
- weakened 5% 507 (610)

SGD/RM - strengthened  5% 1 1
- weakened 5% (1) (1)

EUR/RM - strengthened  5% 23 -
- weakened 5% (23) -

HKD/RM - strengthened  5% 5 39
- weakened 5% (5) (39)
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40. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(e) Market price risk

 Market price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s financial instruments 
will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than interest or exchange rates). 

 The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from its investment in quoted equity instruments. 
The quoted equity instruments in Malaysia are listed on the Bursa Malaysia, whereas the quoted 
equity instruments outside Malaysia are substantially listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange in Japan. 
The Group does not have exposure to commodity price risk. 

 The Group’s objective is to manage investment returns and equity price risk using a mix of investment 
grade shares with steady dividend yield and non-investment grade shares with higher volatility. 

 At the reporting date, 8% (2015: 8%) of the Group’s equity portfolio consists of non-investment 
grade shares of companies operating in Malaysia, while the remaining portion of the equity portfolio 
comprises investment grade shares included in the Bursa Malaysia and Tokyo Stock Exchange in 
Japan. 

 Sensitivity analysis for equity price risk

 At the reporting date, if the Bursa Malaysia had been 5% (2015: 5%) higher/lower, with all other 
variables held constant, the Group’s other reserve in equity would have been RM57,000 (2015: 
RM55,000) higher/lower, arising as a result of an increase/decrease in the fair value of equity 
instruments classified as available-for-sale. 

 At the reporting date, if the Tokyo Stock Exchange in Japan had been 5% (2015: 5%) higher/lower, 
with all other variables held constant, the Group’s other reserve in equity would have been RM3,100 
(2015: RM1,800) higher/lower, arising as a result of an increase/decrease in the fair value of equity 
instruments classified as available-for sale. 

41. Capital management

 The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating 
and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value. 

 The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic 
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, 
policies or processes during the years ended 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015. 

 The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. 
The Group includes within net debt, loans and borrowings, trade and other payables, less cash and bank 
balances. Capital includes equity attributable to owners of the Company less the fair value adjustment 
reserve. 

NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016
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NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

41. Capital management (cont’d)
 

Group Company

Note
2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000 
2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000 

Loans and borrowings 30 269,575 310,682 32 98
Trade and other payables 31 129,495 87,668 5,321 23,604

Less: Cash and bank balances 27 (368,047) (352,626) (54,935) (24,338)

Net debt/(cash) 31,023 45,724 (49,582) (636)

Equity attributable to the  
owners of the Company 1,367,212 1,378,422 614,581 577,396

Less: Fair value adjustment reserve 33 (110) (196) (84) (144)

Total capital 1,367,322 1,378,618 614,665 577,540

Capital and debt 1,398,345 1,424,342 565,083 576,904

Gearing ratio 2% 3% N/A* N/A*

*  Not applicable as the Company was in a net cash position.

42. Segment information

 For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their products and services, 
and has six reportable operating segments as follows: 

 
(i) Timber - the extraction and sale of timber, manufacture and sale of plywood, veneer and sawn timber. 
           
(ii) Plantation - cultivation of oil palm and tree planting.

(iii) Trading - the trading of tapes, foil, papers and electrostatic discharge products. Trading of foil, papers 
and electrostatic discharge products has been classified as discontinued operation as at 31 December 
2016.

(iv) Manufacturing - conversion of aluminium foils, flexible packaging, metallized and electrostatic 
discharge products, manufacture and sale of adhesive and gummed tapes. Conversion of aluminium 
foils, flexible packaging, metallized and electrostatic discharge products has been classified as 
discontinued operation as at 31 December 2016.       
    

(v) Investment holding and others - investment holding, property investment, property rental and car park 
operation, none of which are of a sufficient size to be reported separately. 

   
(vi) Oil and gas - provision of Offshore Service Vessels (OSV) to the oil majors in Malaysia and the regions, 

specifically Accommodation Work Boats (AWB), a segment within the OSV sector.    
        

 Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making 
decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated 
based on operating profit or loss which, in certain respects as explained in the table below, is measured 
differently from operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements. Group income taxes are 
managed on a group basis and are not allocated to operating segments.     
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42. Segment information (cont’d) 
       

Notes Nature of adjustments and eliminations to arrive at amounts reported in the consolidated financial 
statements         

        
A Inter-segment revenues are eliminated on consolidation.       

     
B Other material non-cash (gain)/expenses consist of the following items as presented in the respective 

notes to the financial statements:          
  

2016
RM’000 

2015
RM’000 

Accretion of interest on Redeemable Convertible Preference Shares (1,182) (1,339)
Allowance for impairment of financial assets 7 9,947
Bad debts recovered (303) (10)
Bad debts written off 2 -
Gain on disposal of investment properties (6,550) (9,902)
Inventories written down 4,626 17
Inventories written off 20 331
Impairment loss on goodwill 1,725 2,308
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 646 212
Property, plant and equipment written off 144 212

(865) 1,776
          

C The following items are added to/(deducted from) segment profit to arrive at "Profit before tax 
from continuing operations" presented in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income:  

   
2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000 

Finance costs 43 -
Profit from inter-segment dividend received (43,310) (18,883)
Share of results of associates (21,065) 1,097

(64,332) (17,786)

D Additions to non-current assets consist of: 

2016
RM’000 

2015
RM’000 

Biological assets 18,931 32,912
Investment in an associate 368 -
Property, plant and equipment 28,007 14,709

47,306 47,621

NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016
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42. Segment information (cont’d) 

Notes Nature of adjustments and eliminations to arrive at amounts reported in the consolidated financial 
statements (cont’d)

E The following items are added to segment assets to arrive at total assets reported in the consolidated 
statements of financial position:          
    

2016
RM’000 

2015
RM’000 

Deferred tax assets - 43
Investment in a joint venture - 1,582
Tax recoverable 6,674 9,603

6,674 11,228
    

F The following items are added to segment liabilities to arrive at total liabilities reported in the 
consolidated statements of financial position: 

    
2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000 

Deferred tax liabilities 69,912 76,251
Income tax payable 1,658 2,360

71,570 78,611
    

 Geographical information         
 

 Revenue and non-current assets information based on the geographical location of customers and 
assets respectively are as follows:

Revenue Non-current assets
2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000 
2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000 

Malaysia 182,955 89,072 1,165,589 1,201,174
Japan 334,771 341,062 - -
India 64,999 94,191 - -
Taiwan 45,897 64,539 - -
Singapore 30,503 33,567 13,514 13,246
Philippines 7,032 16,534 - -
People’s Republic of China 3,175 18,638 - -
Indonesia 1,377 1,023 - -
Australia 7,374 9,753 - -
Thailand 4,010 4,302 - -
Vietnam 3,139 7,443 - -
Korea 748 - - -
Other countries 3,689 3,289 - -

689,669 683,413 1,179,103 1,214,420

Non-current assets exclude deferred tax assets and financial instruments in the above analysis.

NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016
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43. Dividends 

Group and Company
2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000 

Recognised during the financial year:
Dividends on ordinary shares:

- Final single-tier dividend of 3.66% (1.83 sen net per share) 
in respect of year ended 31 December 2014 - 8,738

- Final single-tier dividend of 4.98% (2.49 sen net per share) 
in respect of year ended 31 December 2015 11,889 -

Proposed but not recognised as a liability as at 31 December:
Dividends on ordinary shares, subject to shareholders’ approval  

at the AGM: 
- Final single-tier dividend of 4.98% (2.49 sen net per share) 

in respect of year ended 31 December 2015   - 11,889

- Final single-tier dividend of 2.00 sen net per share 
in respect of year ended 31 December 2016  9,549  - 

 At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, a final single-tier dividend in respect of the financial year ended 
31 December 2016, of 2.00 sen net per share on 481,344,552 ordinary shares, less shares bought back and 
held as treasury shares amounting to a dividend payable of approximately RM9,549,000 will be proposed for 
shareholders’ approval. The financial statements for the current financial year do not reflect this proposed 
dividend. Such dividend, if approved by the shareholders, will be accounted for in shareholders’ equity as an 
appropriation of retained earnings in the financial year ending 31 December 2017.

44. Comparative figures 

 The comparative figures in prior year have been restated due to the discontinued operation of a subsidiary 
as disclosed in Note 12, as follows:

Statements of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income

Previously
stated

RM’000 
Reclassified

RM’000 
Restated
RM’000

Group

For the financial year ended 31 December 2015
Revenue 724,709 (41,296) 683,413
Cost of sales (567,223) 36,305 (530,918)
Gross profit 157,486 (4,991) 152,495
Other income 29,288 (2,115) 27,173
Selling and distribution expenses (55,320) 1,648 (53,672)
Administrative and other expenses (45,577) 2,335 (43,242)
Finance costs (11,102) 132 (10,970)
Profit before tax 75,872 (2,991) 72,881
Income tax expense (17,322) 518 (16,804)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 58,550 (2,473) 56,077
Profit for the year from discontinued operation - 2,473 2,473

NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016
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NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

45. Companies Act, 2016 

 The Companies Act, 2016 (“CA2016”) was passed on 4 April 2016 by the Dewan Rakyat (House of 
Representative) and gazetted on 15 September 2016. On 26 January 2017, the Minister of Domestic Trade, 
Co-operatives and Consumerism has appointed 31 January 2017 as the date on which CA2016 comes 
into operation except Section 241 and Division 8 of Part III of CA2016. CA2016 was enacted to replace the 
Companies Act, 1965. 

 The Companies Commission of Malaysia has clarified that CA2016 should be complied with for the 
preparation of financial statements, directors’ report and auditors’ report thereon commencing from the 
financial year/period ended 31 January 2017. The main changes in CA2016 that will affect the financial 
statements of the Group and of the Company upon the commencement of CA2016 on 31 January 2017 are: 

(i) removal of the authorised share capital; 

(ii) shares of the Company will cease to have par or nominal value; and 

(iii) the Company’s share premium account will become part of the Company’s share capital. 

 The adoption of CA2016 is not expected to have any financial impact on the Group and the Company for  
the year ending 31 December 2017 as any accounting implications will only be applied prospectively. The 
effect of adoption mainly will be on disclosures to the annual report and financial statements for the year 
ending 31 December 2017.
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NOTES TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2016

46. Supplementary information - breakdown of retained profits into realised and unrealised 

 The breakdown of the retained earnings of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2016 into 
realised and unrealised profits is presented in accordance with the directive issued by Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad dated 25 March 2010 and prepared in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No.1, 
Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profit or Losses in the Context of Disclosure pursuant to Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants. 

 The breakdown of the retained earnings of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2016, into 
realised and unrealised profits, pursuant to the directive, is as follows: 

Group Company
2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000 
2016

RM’000 
2015

RM’000 

Total retained profits of the Company  
and its subsidiaries: 
- Realised 1,364,631 1,355,851 313,633 275,943
- Unrealised (66,575) (71,456) (558) (17)

1,298,056 1,284,395 313,075 275,926

Total share of (losses)/profits  
from associates:
- Realised (10,979) 1,219 - -
- Unrealised (3,191) (382) - -

(14,170) 837 - -

Total share of losses from a joint venture:
- Realised (244) (244)  -  - 

Less: Consolidation adjustments (224,086) (213,622)  -  - 

Total retained earnings as per  
financial statements 1,059,556 1,071,366 313,075 275,926

 The determination of realised and unrealised profits above is solely for complying with the disclosure 
requirements as stipulated in the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and should not be applied 
for any other purpose.
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Address/Location Area Tenure Description

Date of last 
valuation/
acquisition

Age of 
Building

Net book 
value 

at cost 
(RM’000)

Lot 692 
Mukim 1
Prai Industrial Estate 
Province Wellesley

3.14  
acres

Leasehold  
(Expires in 2045)

Land with
Factory

1 January
2011

32 years  3,426 

Lot 682
Mukim 1
Prai Industrial Estate
Province Wellesley

2 acres Leasehold  
(Expires in 2069)

Land with
Factory

1 January
2011

45 years

 3,647
Lot 2806
Mukim 1
Prai Industrial Estate

1 acre Leasehold  
(Expires in 2072)

Land with
Factory

1 January
2011

45 years

Lot 3318
76 km milestone
Ipoh/Penang
Main Trunk Road
34008 Taiping 
Perak Darul Ridzuan

15.72  
acres

Freehold Land with
Factory

1 January
2011

44 years  16,759

38 plots of land 
in town of Lumut
District of Manjung 
Perak Darul Ridzuan

98,049  
sq.ft.

Freehold Vacant Land 24 June 1994 - 860

41 parcels of land of 
Taman Kuningsari *
District of Larut & 
Matang
Perak Darul Ridzuan

108,652  
sq.ft.

Leasehold  
(Expires in 2083)

Vacant Land 22 August
1991

- 391

No. 86 *
Tagore Lane
Industrial Estate

11,354  
sq.ft.

Freehold Land with 
office & 
warehouse

30 September
1983

33 years 4,166

No. 88 *
Tagore Lane
Industrial Estate

7,685  
sq.ft.

Freehold Land with
Warehouse

21 July  
2007

33 years 6,475

Lot 5415 & Lot 5428
KTLD
Kuching 

2.4361 
hectares

Leasehold  
(Expires in 2040)

Plywood 
factory, 
office, labour 
quarters and 
warehouse

31 December 
1995

30 years 9,314

}
}
}
}
}
}
}

LIST OF  

PROPERTIES
as at 31 December 2016



W T K HOLDINGS BERHAD (10141-M)  ANNUAL REPORT 2016162

Address/Location Area Tenure Description

Date of last 
valuation/
acquisition

Age of 
Building

Net book 
value 

at cost 
(RM’000)

Engkilo Land District Sibu
Lot 1900
Lot 1939 

6.2068
hectares

Leasehold
(Expires in 2075)
(Expires in 2114)

Sawmill factory,
office, labour
quarters and 
warehouse

2 September
1996

26 years 15,863

Telok Engkalat Sibu 
Lot 4905
Lots 25846 & 25847
Lot 31771
Lot 30974
Lot 30428
Lot 31754
Lot 370

10.7965 
hectares

Leasehold 
(Expires in 2024)
(Expires in 2034)
(Expires in 2024)
(Expires in 2039)
(Expires in 2038)
(Expires in 2039)
Freehold

Sawmill factory,
office, labour
quarters and
warehouse

2 September
1996

23 years  11,695

Ensurai & Empawah Sibu
Lot 895, Block 8

8.698 
hectares

Leasehold 
(Expires in 2113)

Sawmill factory
Warehouse
Labour quarter 
Office

2 September
1996

26 years
26 years
21 years

21½ years

14,409

Kemena Land district 
Bintulu
Lots 664, 31 & 145

7.9906 
hectares

Freehold Plywood factory
Warehouse and 
Labour quarters 
Office

1 January
1996

26 years
22 years

22 years

43,425

Lot 818 0.5285
hectares

Leasehold 
(Expires in 2065)

Log pond 30 August
2005

11 years  177

Lot 3 **
Suad Land District Kapit

8.0087 
hectares

Leasehold 
(Expired in 2008)

Sawmill & log 
pond
New factory 
extensions
New factory 

2 September
1996

43 years

15 years

10 years

 -   

 394 

 616 

Lots 127 & 128
Katibas Land District Kapit

7.3935
hectares

Leasehold 
(Expires in 2021)

Log pond 2 September
1996

- 85

Lot 1328, Block 48
Sarikei Land District 
Bintulu

4,610  
sq.ft.

Leasehold 
(Expires in 2019)

2-storey 
semi-detached 
industrial 
shophouse

2 September
1996

36 years  21

Lot 837 *
Kemena Land District 
Bintulu

3,400  
sq.ft.

Leasehold 
(Expires in 2044)

2-storey corner
terrace house

2 September
1996

31 years  81

Lot 1079 No. 9 *
11-E, Jalan Jerrwit Barat, 
Sibu

1,461  
sq.ft.

Leasehold 
(Expires in 2063)

3-storey 
intermediate
shophouse

31 March 2004 12 years 293

LIST OF  

PROPERTIES (cont’d)  
as at 31 December 2016
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Address/Location Area Tenure Description

Date of last 
valuation/
acquisition

Age of 
Building

Net book 
value 

at cost 
(RM’000)

Lot 1102, Block 9, 
Sibu

122  
sq. meter

Leasehold 
(Expires in 2065)

3-storey 
intermediate
shophouse

31 October 
2011

5 years  446

Menuan Land District 
Kapit
Lot 44 *
Lot 145 *
Lot 146 *

16.617 
hectares

Leasehold 

(Expires in 2019)
(Expires in 2020)
(Expires in 2022)

Log pond and 
labour quarters 

8 August 2000

- 4

Lot 699, Block 7 *
Demak Laut Industrial 
Park
Jalan Bako, Kuching

29.04 
hectares

Leasehold 
(Expires in 2051)

Plywood factory,
office, labour quarter 
and warehouse

31 July 2006 34 years 108,360

Lot 2577 *  
Danau Land 
District, Limbang 

1,687
hectares

Leasehold 
(Expires in 2059)

Oil palm plantations,
office, staff quarter, 
labour quarter and 
store

18 March 2008 7 years 14,816

Lot 2578 *  
Danau Land 
District, Limbang 

192
hectares

Leasehold 
(Expires in 2059)

Oil palm plantations 1 January 2008 -  1,330

Lot 3686 * Pandaruan
Land District, 
Limbang

85
hectares

Leasehold 
(Expires in 2059)

Oil palm plantations 1 January 2008 - 590

Lot 3691 * Pandaruan 
Land District, 
Limbang

480
hectares

Leasehold 
(Expires in 2059)

Oil palm plantations 1 January 2008 - 3,372

Lot 3693 * Pandaruan 
Land District, 
Limbang 

1,037
hectares

Leasehold 
(Expires in 2059)

Oil palm plantations 1 January 2008 - 7,229

Lot 11 *,  
Dulit Land District,  
Sungai Lamah, 
Baram, Miri

6,071
hectares

Leasehold 
(Expires in 2068)

Oil palm plantations,
labour quarter, 
office, staff quarter, 
store, canteen and 
workshop

5 May 2008 7 years 35,845

Lot 203 *, Teraja Land
District, Along Batang 
Baram, Miri

2,148
hectares

Leasehold 
(Expires in 2071)

Oil palm plantations 
and labour quarters

31 December
2010

3 years 2,432

Lot 2077 *,  
Kuala Baram
Land District, Miri

849
hectares

Leasehold 
(Expires in 2065)

Oil palm plantations,
labour quarter, office, 
store, workshop and 
staff quarter

24 January
2011

6 years 2,731

* The date stated refers to the date of acquisition 
** Application for extension of the lease is pending approval by the relevant authority

8 September 2000

8 September 2000

LIST OF  

PROPERTIES (cont’d)  
as at 31 December 2016
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Issued Share Capital : RM240,672,276
Number of Shares Issued : 481,344,552
Number of Shares Retained in Treasury : 3,871,000
Number of Shareholders : 7,075
Class of Shares : Ordinary shares
Voting Rights : One vote per ordinary share

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

RANGE OF HOLDINGS
NO. OF  

HOLDERS
% OF  

HOLDERS
NO. OF  

SHARES
% OF 

SHARES 

Less than 100 101 1.43 3,502 0.00
100 to 1,000 520 7.35 414,587 0.09
1,001 to 10,000 3,967 56.07 22,147,226 4.64
10,001 to 100,000 2,153 30.43 71,280,935 14.93
100,001 to less than 5% of issued shares 330 4.66 249,921,893 52.34
5% and above of issued shares 4 0.06 133,705,409 28.00

Total 7,075 100.00 477,473,552 100.00

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AS PER REGISTER OF DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS

DIRECT INDIRECT

NAME NO. OF 
SHARES % NO. OF 

SHARES %

Pemanca Datuk Wong Kie Yik 11,025,160 2.31 146,860,406* 30.76
Wong Kie Chie 13,117,524 2.75 146,860,406* 30.76
Dato’ Sri Patrick Wong Haw Yeong 1,000,000 0.21 - -
Lt. General Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul 

Manap Ibrahim (rtd) - - - -
Tham Sau Kien - - - -
Ting Soon Eng - - - -
Dr. Loh Leong Hua - - - -
Alfian Bin Mohamed Basir 6,235,313 1.31 - -

Note: 
* Deemed interested through W T K Realty Sdn Bhd, Harbour-View Realty Sdn Bhd and Ocarina Development 

Sdn Bhd by virtue of Section 8(4)(c) of the Companies Act, 2016 (“the Act”).

STATISTIC OF

SHAREHOLDINGS
as at 22 March 2017
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS PER REGISTER OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

DIRECT INDIRECT

NAME NO. OF 
SHARES % NO. OF 

SHARES %

W T K Realty Sdn Bhd 64,949,844 13.60 65,909,8181 13.80
Ocarina Development Sdn Bhd 40,972,318 8.58 - -
Kosa Bahagia Sdn Bhd 24,937,500 5.22 - -
Pemanca Datuk Wong Kie Yik 11,025,160 2.31 146,860,4062 30.76
The late Datuk Wong Kie Nai (estate) 5,836,414 1.22 146,860,4062 30.76
Wong Kie Chie 13,117,524 2.75 146,860,4062 30.76

Notes: 
1. Deemed interested through Kosa Bahagia Sdn Bhd and Ocarina Development Sdn Bhd by virtue of Section  

8(4)(c) of the Act.
2. Deemed interested through W T K Realty Sdn Bhd, Harbour-View Realty Sdn Bhd and Ocarina Development 

Sdn Bhd by virtue of Section 8(4)(c) of the Act.

THIRTY LARGEST REGISTERED HOLDERS

NAME OF HOLDERS SHAREHOLDINGS %

1. W T K Realty Sdn Bhd 40,134,229 8.41

2. AMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
   AmBank (M) Berhad for W T K Realty Sdn Bhd

35,029,166 7.34

3. AMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 
   AmBank (M) Berhad for Ocarina Development Sdn Bhd

33,604,514 7.04

4. AMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
   AmBank (M) Berhad for Kosa Bahagia Sdn Bhd

24,937,500 5.22

5. Wong Kie Chie 13,117,524 2.75

6. Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
   Employees Provident Fund Board

12,052,900 2.52

7. Lembaga Tabung Haji 8,949,700 1.87

8. W T K Realty Sdn Bhd 7,813,224 1.64

9. AMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
   AmBank (M) Berhad for Harbour-View Realty Sdn Bhd

6,151,926 1.29

10. CIMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
   CIMB for Wong Hou Lianq (PB)

6,100,000 1.28

11. RHB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
   Pledged Securities Account for Wong Kie Yik

5,881,000 1.23

12. CIMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
   CIMB for Kathryn Ma Wai Fong (PB)

5,836,414 1.22

STATISTIC OF

SHAREHOLDINGS (cont’d)
as at 22 March 2017
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THIRTY LARGEST REGISTERED HOLDERS (CONT’D)

NAME OF HOLDERS SHAREHOLDINGS %

13. Amanahraya Trustees Berhad 
Public Islamic Select Treasures Fund

5,705,800 1.19

14. Citigroup Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
   CBNY for Dimensional Emerging Markets Value Fund

5,533,650 1.16

15. Goh Chung Sen 5,444,401 1.14

16. Alfian Bin Mohamed Basir 5,235,313 1.10

17. Amanahraya Trustees Berhad
   Public Strategic Smallcap Fund

5,116,400 1.07

18. RHB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
   Pledged Securities Account for Ng Ghim Ann 

4,657,000 0.98

19. CIMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
   CIMB for Mimi Wong Hou Wai (PB)

4,221,700 0.88

20. Beh Huck Lee 4,115,385 0.86

21. RHB Capital Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
   Pledged Securities Account for W T K Realty Sdn Bhd 

4,000,000 0.84

22. DB (Malaysia) Nominee (Asing) Sdn Bhd
   SSBT Fund SD4N for Government of the Province of Alberta

3,713,600 0.78

23. Neoh Choo Ee & Company, Sdn Berhad 3,670,000 0.77

24. CIMB Group Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 
Exempt AN for DBS Bank Ltd (SFS)

3,526,400 0.74

25. HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 
TNTC for LSV Emerging Markets Small Cap Equity Fund, LP

3,416,300 0.71

26. CIMB Islamic Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd  
CIMB Islamic Trustee Bhd for BIMB I Dividend Fund

3,064,000 0.64

27. Citigroup Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
   CBNY for Emerging Market Core Equity Portfolio DFA 
   Investment Dimensions Group Inc

2,834,550 0.59

28. CIMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
   CIMB for Kathryn Ma Wai Fong (PB)

2,797,382 0.59

29. Citigroup Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
   CBNY for DFA Emerging Markets Small Cap Series

2,580,300 0.54

30. Goh Chung Sen 2,500,000 0.52

Total 271,740,278 56.91

Note:
The statistic of shareholdings is computed based on the total number of issued shares of the Company after  
deducting of 3,871,000 Treasury Shares held as at 22 March 2017.

STATISTIC OF

SHAREHOLDINGS (cont’d)
as at 22 March 2017
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Forty-Fifth Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at Igan 
Room, Level 1, Tanahmas Hotel, Lot 277, Block 5, Jalan Kampong Nyabor, 96000 Sibu, Sarawak, Malaysia on 
Friday, 26 May 2017 at 10.00 a.m. for the following business:-

AGENDA
As Ordinary Business

1. To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December  
2016 together with the Reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon.

Please see 
Note 7

2. To approve the declaration of a final single-tier dividend of 2.00 sen net per share in  
respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2016.

Resolution 1

3. To approve payment of Directors’ fees amounting to RM540,000 for the financial year  
ended 31 December 2016.

Resolution 2

4. To approve payment of Directors’ benefits up to RM150,000 for the financial period from  
1 January 2017 to 30 June 2018.

Resolution 3

5. To re-elect the following Directors who retire by rotation in accordance with Article 96 of  
the Company’s Articles of Association :-

    

(a) Dato’ Sri Patrick Wong Haw Yeong Resolution 4

(b) Dr Loh Leong Hua Resolution 5

6. To re-appoint the following Directors who retire in accordance with Article 95(f) of the 
Company’s Articles of Association :-

    

(a) Lt. General Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul Manap Ibrahim (rtd) Resolution 6

(b) Pemanca Datuk Wong Kie Yik Resolution 7

7. To re-appoint Deloitte PLT as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors to  
fix their remuneration.

Resolution 8

As Special Business

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions:

8. Ordinary Resolution

Retention of Lt. General Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul Manap Ibrahim (rtd) as Independent 
Non-Executive Director in accordance with Recommendation 3.3 of the Malaysian 
Code on Corporate Governance 2012

Resolution 9

“THAT Lt. General Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul Manap Ibrahim (rtd) who has served the  
Board as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company for a term of more than  
nine years be and is hereby retained as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the 
Company.”

9. Ordinary Resolution

Retention of Ms Tham Sau Kien as Independent Non-Executive Director in accordance 
with Recommendation 3.3 of the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 2012

Resolution 10

“THAT Ms Tham Sau Kien who has served the Board as an Independent Non-Executive 
Director of the Company for a term of more than nine years be and is hereby retained as  
an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company.”

NOTICE OF  

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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10. Ordinary Resolution
Authority to issue shares pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies Act, 2016 Resolution 11

“THAT pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies Act, 2016, authority be and is 
hereby given to the Directors to issue shares in the capital of the Company from time to 
time at such price upon such terms and conditions for such purposes and to such person or 
persons whomsoever as the Directors may in their absolute discretion deem fit provided that 
the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution does not exceed ten 
per centum (10%) of the total number of issued shares of the Company for the time being, 
subject to the Companies Act, 2016, the Articles of Association of the Company and the 
approval from Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and other relevant authorities where such 
approval is necessary AND THAT such authority shall continue to be in force until :-

(i) the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company; or

(ii) at the expiry of the period within which the next Annual General Meeting is required to 
be held,

whichever is the earlier.”

11. Ordinary Resolution
Proposed Renewal of Share Buy-Back Mandate Resolution 12

“THAT subject to the Companies Act, 2016, the Company’s Memorandum and Articles  
of Association and all applicable laws, regulations and guidelines, and the approval of  
the relevant authorities, a renewal of mandate be and is hereby granted to the Company 
to purchase and hold such amount of ordinary shares (“Shares”) in the Company as  
may be determined by the Directors of the Company from time to time through Bursa  
Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) upon such terms and conditions as the 
Directors may deem fit in the interest of the Company provided that the aggregate number  
of Shares purchased and held as treasury shares does not exceed ten per centum (10%) 
of the total number of issued shares of the Company at any given point in time and  
that the amount to be utilised for the Proposed Purchases, which will be financed 
via internally-generated funds of the Group will not exceed the retained profits of the  
Company. The audited retained profits of the Company as at 31 December 2016 was 
RM313,075,000 and stood at RM312,715,000 based on the Management Accounts as at  
31 March 2017; 

AND THAT the Shares of the Company to be purchased will not be cancelled and are 
proposed to be retained as treasury shares or distributed as dividends or re-sold on the  
Bursa Securities AND THAT the Directors of the Company be and are hereby empowered 
generally to do all acts and things to give effect to the Proposed Purchases AND  
FURTHER THAT such authority shall commence immediately upon the passing of this 
ordinary resolution until:

(i) the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company at which time 
the authority shall lapse unless by resolution passed at the meeting, the authority is  
renewed, either unconditionally or subject to conditions; or

(ii) the expiration of the period within which the next Annual General Meeting of the  
Company is required by law to be held; or

(iii) revoked or varied by resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company at a  
general meeting,

whichever is the earlier and, in any event, in accordance with the provisions of the Main 
Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities or any other relevant authorities.” 

NOTICE OF  
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12. Ordinary Resolution 
Proposed Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent Related Party  
Transactions of a Revenue or Trading Nature

Resolution 13

“THAT subject to the provisions of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa  
Malaysia Securities Berhad, approval be and is hereby given for the Company and its 
subsidiary companies, to enter into recurrent related party transactions of a revenue or 
trading nature with the related parties as specified in Section 2.4 of Part B of the Circular  
to Shareholders dated 27 April 2017 (“Proposed Mandate”) which are necessary for the  
day-to-day operations and/or in the ordinary course of business of the Company and 
its subsidiary companies on terms not more favourable to the related parties than those 
generally available to the public and are not detrimental to the minority shareholders of  
the Company AND THAT such approval shall continue to be in force until:

(i) the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, at which time it  
will lapse, unless by a resolution passed at the meeting, the authority is renewed; or

(ii) the expiration of the period within which the next Annual General Meeting of the  
Company after that date is required to be held pursuant to Section 340(2) of the 
Companies Act, 2016 (“CA”) (but shall not extend to such extension as may be  
allowed pursuant to Section 340(4) of CA); or

(iii) revoked or varied by a resolution passed by the shareholders in general meeting,

whichever is the earlier;

AND FURTHER THAT authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company  
to complete and do all such acts and things (including executing such documents as may 
be required) to give effect to such transactions as authorised by this Ordinary Resolution.”

13. Special Resolution
Proposed Amendment to the Articles of Association of the Company Resolution 14

“THAT paragraph (f) of Article 95 of the Company’s Articles of Association which reads  
as follows be deleted in its entirety:-

    

“At the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting commencing next after he attains the  
age of seventy years unless re-appointed as a director to hold office until the next Annual 
General Meeting of the Company.”;

AND THAT consequent upon the above deletion, Article 95 of the Company’s Articles of 
Association shall read as follows:-

“Subject as herein otherwise provided or to the terms of any subsisting agreement, the  
office of a Director shall be vacated:-

(a) If he becomes bankrupt or a receiving order is made against him or he makes any 
arrangement or composition with his creditors during his term of office; 

(b) If he becomes of unsound mind during his term of office; 

(c) If he is removed by a resolution of the Company in General Meeting of which special 
notice has been given;

(d) If he is prohibited from being a Director by any order made under any provision of  
the Act;

NOTICE OF  
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(e) If by notice in writing given to the Company he resigns his office.”;

AND FURTHER THAT the Directors and Secretary of the Company be and are hereby 
authorised to carry out all necessary steps to give effect to the above amendment to the 
Articles of Association of the Company.”

14. To transact any other business of which due notice shall have been given.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Tan Mee Lian
Company Secretary
(MAICSA 0869665)

Kuala Lumpur
27 April 2017

Notes:

1. Only depositors whose names appear in the Record of Depositors as at 19 May 2017 shall be regarded as members and 
entitled to attend, speak and vote at the Meeting.

2. A member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint not more than one proxy to attend and vote in his 
stead. A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company. A proxy appointed to attend and vote at the Meeting shall 
have the same right as the member to speak at the Meeting.

3. Where a member of the Company is an authorised nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) 
Act, 1991, it may appoint not more than one proxy in respect of each securities account it holds with ordinary shares of the 
Company standing to the credit of the said securities account.

4. Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple 
beneficial owners in one securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt 
authorised nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds. An exempt authorised nominee refers to an 
authorised nominee defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act, 1991 (“SICDA”) which is exempted from 
compliance with the provisions of subsection 25A(1) of the SICDA.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer or of his attorney duly authorised in 
writing or if such appointer is a corporation under its common seal or the hand of its attorney.

6. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Company’s Registered Office at Lot No. 25(AB), 25th Floor, UBN 
Tower, No. 10, Jalan P. Ramlee, 50250 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding 
the Meeting or at any adjournment thereat.

7. The Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 together with the Reports of the Directors 
and Auditors thereon, are laid in accordance with Section 340(1)(a) of the Companies Act, 2016 for discussion only and do 
not required shareholders’ approval.  Hence, this item will not be put forward to the shareholders for voting.
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Explanatory Notes on Special Business

(a) In respect of the proposed Ordinary Resolution No. 9, the Board proposed to retain the status of Lt. General Datuk Seri 
Panglima Abdul Manap Ibrahim (rtd) as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company. The Board has assessed 
and determined that Lt. General Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul Manap Ibrahim (rtd) who has served on the Board for 21 years, 
remain independent and objective in deliberations and decision making of the Board and Board Committees. Further, his 
position on the Board has not been compromised by his familiarity and long relationships with other Board members.

(b) In respect of the proposed Ordinary Resolution No. 10, the Board proposed to retain the status of Ms Tham Sau Kien as 
an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company. The Board has assessed and determined that Ms Tham Sau Kien  
who has served on the Board for 9 years, remain independent and objective in deliberations and decision making of the 
Board and Board Committees. Further, her position on the Board has not been compromised by her familiarity and long 
relationships with other Board members.

(c) The proposed Ordinary Resolution No. 11, if passed, will give authority to the Directors of the Company to issue shares in  
the Company up to an amount not exceeding 10% of the total number of issued shares of the Company for such purposes  
as the Directors consider would be in the interest of the Company. This authority, unless revoked or varied at a general 
meeting, will expire at the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

 As at the date of this Notice, no new shares in the Company were issued pursuant to the mandate granted to the  
Directors at the last Annual General Meeting.

 The renewal of mandate pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies Act, 2016 will provide flexibility to the  
Company for any possible fund raising activities, including but not limited to further placing of shares, for purpose of  
funding future investment project(s), working capital and/or acquisitions, which the Directors deem necessary and feasible.

(d) The proposed Ordinary Resolution No. 12, if passed, will give the Directors of the Company the continuing authority to 
purchase the Company’s own shares up to an amount not exceeding 10% of the total number of issued shares of the 
Company at any point in time upon such terms and conditions as the Directors may deem fit in the interest of the Company. 
This authority, unless revoked or varied by the Company at a general meeting, will expire at the next Annual General Meeting 
of the Company.

(e) The proposed Ordinary Resolution No. 13, if passed, will allow the Company and its subsidiaries to enter into recurrent 
related party transactions of a revenue or trading nature in compliance with Paragraph 10.09, Part E of the Main Market 
Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The mandate, unless revoked or varied by the Company at a 
general meeting, will expire at the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

 The details of the proposed Ordinary Resolutions No. 12 and 13 are contained in the Statement/Circular to Shareholders 
dated 27 April 2017 accompanying the Company’s Annual Report 2016.

(f) The proposed Special Resolution No. 14, if passed, will align the Company’s Articles of Association with  the Companies Act, 
2016 which does not have provision on the maximum age limit of 70 years for a director.

NOTICE OF  

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (cont’d)
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I/We
(Full Name in Capital Letters)

NRIC / Company No.       of

(Full Address)

being a member(s) of W T K HOLDINGS BERHAD hereby appoint
        (Full Name in Capital Letters) 

     NRIC No. 
             

of
(Full Address)

or failing *him/her, the Chairman of the Meeting as *my/our proxy, to vote for *me/us and on *my/our behalf at the Forty-Fifth  
Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at Igan Room, Level 1, Tanahmas Hotel, Lot 277, Block 5, Jalan Kampong 
Nyabor, 96000 Sibu, Sarawak, Malaysia on Friday, 26 May 2017 at 10.00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereat.
*My/Our proxy is to vote as indicated below:

RESOLUTION 
NO.

ORDINARY BUSINESS FOR AGAINST

1 Approval of final single-tier dividend
2 Approval of Directors’ Fees
3 Approval of Directors’ Benefits
4 Re-election of Dato’ Sri Patrick Wong Haw Yeong as Director
5 Re-election of Dr Loh Leong Hua as Director
6 Re-appointment of Lt. General Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul Manap Ibrahim (rtd) as Director 
7 Re-appointment of Pemanca Datuk Wong Kie Yik as Director 
8 Re-appointment of Deloitte PLT as Auditors and authorising the Directors to fix their 

remuneration
SPECIAL BUSINESS

9 Retention of Lt. General Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul Manap Ibrahim (rtd) as Independent 
Non-Executive Director 

10 Retention of Ms Tham Sau Kien as Independent Non-Executive Director 
11 Authority to issue shares pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies Act, 2016
12 Proposed Renewal of Share Buy-Back Mandate
13 Proposed Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent Related Party Transactions 

of a Revenue or Trading Nature
14

(Special  
Resolution)

Proposed Amendment to the Articles of Association of the Company

Please indicate with “X” how you wish your vote to be casted.  If no specific direction as to voting is given, the proxy will vote or 
abstain from voting at his/her discretion.

Number of Shares Held CDS Account No.

Dated this  day of            2017 
     (* Please delete if not applicable)                                    Signature/Common Seal of Shareholder(s)
Notes :-

1. Only depositors whose names appear in the Record of Depositors as at 19 May 2017 shall be regarded as members and entitled to attend, speak  
and vote at the Meeting.

2. A member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint not more than one proxy to attend and vote in his stead. A proxy may  
but need not be a member of the Company.  A proxy appointed to attend and vote at the Meeting shall have the same right as the member to  
speak at the Meeting.

3. Where a member of the Company is an authorised nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act, 1991, it may  
appoint not more than one proxy in respect of each securities account it holds with ordinary shares of the Company standing to the credit of the  
said securities account.

4. Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial owners in  
one securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in  
respect of each omnibus account it holds. An exempt authorised nominee refers to an authorised nominee defined under the Securities Industry (Central 
Depositories) Act, 1991 (“SICDA”) which is exempted from compliance with the provisions of subsection 25A(1) of the SICDA.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer or of his attorney duly authorised in writing or if such appointer  
is a corporation under its common seal or the hand of its attorney.

6. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Company’s Registered Office at Lot No. 25(AB), 25th Floor, UBN Tower, No. 10, Jalan  
P. Ramlee, 50250 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting or at any adjournment thereat.

W T K HOLDINGS BERHAD 
(10141-M)

Incorporated in Malaysia

FORM OF PROXY



The Company Secretary
W T K HOLDINGS BERHAD (10141-M)

Lot No. 25(AB), 25th Floor,
UBN Tower, No. 10, Jalan P. Ramlee,

50250 Kuala Lumpur,
Malaysia

Stamp/Setem

Please fold here

Please fold here






